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FILED
02/24/2015

VERDICA HAKDY, LSOURE
CLERX OF THE QOURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

UNITED CORPORATION, S. CT. CIV. NO. 2015-
Appellant, Re: Super. Ct. Civ. ST-2013-CV-101
v.
ACTION FOR DAMAGES

WAHEED HAMED,

(a/k/a Willy or Willie Hamed),

NOTICE OF APPEAL
Appellee.
NOTICE OF APPEAL

Notice is hereby given that United Corporation (“United”), plaintiffin the above-referenced
Superior Court action, pursuant to V.. Code Ann. Tit. 4, §33(a), appeals the Superior Court’s
September 2, 2014 Order’ (the “Order”) granting defendant Waheed Hamed's Motion for Summary
Judgment on all remaining claims in this case. On September 29, 2014, United filed a timely Rule
59(e) Motion for Reconsideration and to Alter or Amend Judgment of the Order (the “Motion™).
The Superior Court did not rule on the Motion within 120 days of the September 29, 2014 motion
—i.e., by January 27, 2015. Under Supreme Court Rule 5(a)(4), the 30-day time for appealing the
order began running on January 27, 2015, which means that this is a timely appeal of the September
2, 2014 Order and all interlocutory orders of this Court, including a June 24, 2013 Order granting
in part Defendant Hamed's Motion to Dismiss.

The issues to be presented on appeal include 1) whether the Superior Court erred in applying
the law and/or evaluating the evidence when it granted summary judgment on statute of limitations

grounds on the basis of statements in FBI affidavits regarding “unfettered access” to documents

'The September 2, 2014 Order was entered on September 4, 2014.
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that were filed in a criminal proceeding involving these same parties, but which were cliallencgu:c‘lu
by Defendant Waheed Hamed as false in that proceeding, and which were necessarily treated as
false by a ruling of a federal judge in that proceeding; 2) whether the Superior Court erred in its
September 2 Order by ruling as a matter of law that a party who has access to hundreds of thousands
of documents is presumed for statute of limitations discovery rule purposes to have knowledge of
any document in that group of documents that provides notice of a claim; and 3) whether the
Superior Court erred in its June 24, 2013 Order granting in part Defendant Waheed Hamed’s
Motion to Dismiss on statute of limitations grounds by mling because a criminal indictment accused
both United and Waheed Hamed of collectively engaging in a conspiracy to underpay United’s
gross receipts taxes, that indictment necessarily put United on notice that Waheed Hamed might be
misappropriating money from United; and 4) whether the Superior Court erred in its June 24, 2013
Order granting in part Defendant Waheed Hamed’s Motion to Dismiss on statute of limitations
grounds by ruling that United should in the exercise of reasonable care have “retained copies” of
documents that were seized by the FBI, and that may have given it notice of claims it had against
Waheed Hamed, even though the seizure of documents was pursuant to ex parte search warrants
and United had no opportunity during the execution of those search warrants to retain copies of any
documents being seized.

Respectfully submitted,

DeWood Law Firm

By:  /s/Nizar A. DeWood
Nizar A. DeWood, Esq. (1177)
2006 Eastern Suburb, Suite
Christiansted, St. Croix 00820
T. (340) 773-3444; F. (888) 398-8428
Co-Counsel for Appeliant UNITED CORP.
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VERONCAHSDY, ESOURE
CLERK OF THE COURT
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on February 24th, 2015, I caused the foregoing Notice of Appeal to be
electronically filed with the Clerk of the Court using the V.1. Supreme Court efiling system, and 1
caused a copy of same to be mailed to the following attorney for the Appellee via first class mail

and email at the physical and email addresses below.

Carl Hartmann

5000 Estate Coakley Bay, L-6
Christiansted VI 00820

(340) 719-8941

carl@carlhartmann.com

/s/ Nizar DeWood
Nizar A. DeWood
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SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION, )
)
Plaintiff, )
)
Vs, )
) CASE NO. ST-13-CV-101
WAHEED HAMED, a/k/a WILLY OR WILLIE )
HAMED )
)
Defendant. )
)
ORDER

The Court having issued a Memorandum Opinion on this date, it is

ORDERED that Defendant’s February 5, 2014, Motion for Summary Judgment is
GRANTED,; and it is

ORDERED that Plaintiff’'s Amended Complaint is DISMISSED with prejudice in
its entirety; and it is

ORDERED that Defendant’s April 28, 2014, Motion to Dismiss for Lack of
Standing is DENIED as moot; and it is

ORDERED that copies of this Order shall be directed to counsel of record.

Dated: September _, 2014 @

HON. MICHAEL C. DUNSTON
ATTEST: Estrella H. George JUDGE OF THE SUPERIOR COURT
Acting Clerk of Court / / OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

GERTIFIED A TRUE GOPY
/

by:

Lori Boynes-Tyson
gﬁ( Court Clerk Supervisor E] / g / _Q___Q/L[
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SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION, )
)
Plaintiff, )
)
Vs, )
) CASE NO. ST-13-CV-101
WAHEED HAMED, a/k/a WILLY OR WILLIE )
HAMED )
)
Defendant. )
)
MEMORANDUM OPINION

Pending before the Court is Defendant’s February 5, 2014, Motion for Summary
Judgment' and Defendant’s April 28, 2014, Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Standing.2 For
the following reasons, Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment will be granted and
Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Standing will be denied as moot.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Plaintiff United Corporation filed a Complaint on March 5, 2013, amended on July
14, 2013, alleging that during Defendant Waheed Hamed's employment with Plaintiff as a
manager at Plaza Extra located in Tutu Park, St Thomas, Defendant secretly converted and
misappropriated substantial assets by secretly operating a separate wholesale grocery

business called “S Comner’s Mini Mart” from at least some time in 1992,

! Plaintiff responded on April 7, 2014. Defendant replied on April 23, 2014,
2 Despite an Order directing Plaintiff to respond by May 23, 2014, Plaintiff has failed to respond to date.
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United Corp. v. Hamed

Case No. ST-13-CV-101

Memorandum Opinion, September 2, 2014
Page 2 of 9

STANDARD
Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, made applicable to the Virgin
Islands Superior Court through Superior Court Rule 7, provides that summary judgment is
appropriate only

if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions
on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine
issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a
judgment as a matter of law.’

In considering a motion for summary judgment, a court must “draw ... all reasonable
inferences from the underlying facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.™
Once the movant demonstrates that no genuine issue of material fact exists, the burden
shifts to the non-moving party to demonstrate that a genuine issue of material fact exists.’
Nevertheless, in some instances where a nonmoving party has not had adequate time for
discovery, a Court may find the motion premature and defer ruling on the motion until
further discovery may be conducted.®
ANALYSIS

Defendant submits that Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint should be dismissed in its

entirety because the statutory periods for Plaintiff’s claims have expired. Specifically,

Defendant argues that Plaintiff had notice of Defendant’s alleged conduct by at least 2003

3 FED. R. CIV. P. 56. See V.I. Housing Auth. v. Santiago, 57 V1. 256, 264 (V 1. 2012).

4 Battaglia v. McKendry, 233 F.3d 720, 722 (3d Cir. 2000); see Arlington Funding Services, Inc. v. Geigel,

51 V.1 118, 127 (V.I. 2009).

$ See, e.g., Galloway v. Islands Mechanical Contractor, Inc., 2012 WL 3984891 (D.V.L Sept. 11,2012);
Andersen.v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.,477 U.S, 242, 247-48 (1986) (noting en-issue is “genuine™ if a reasonable—-
jury could possibly hold in the nonmovant's favor with regard to that issue).

6 See FED. R. CIV. P, 56(c)(d); Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986) (“In our view, the plain
language of Rule 56(c) mandates the entry of summary judgment, after adequate time for discovery and

upon motion, against a party who fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element
essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial.”).
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Memorandum Opinion, September 2, 2014
Page 3 of 9

when Defendant had access to discoverable documents - including Defendant’s 1992 tax
returns - in a federal criminal investigation in U.S. v. United Corporation, et al., Crim. No.
2003-147.7 Plaintiff claims that the statute of limitations was tolled until October 2011
when some of the documents seized by the Federal Bureau of Investigation related to U.S.
v. United Corporation, et al. - including Defendant’s 1992 tax returns - were turned over
to Plaintiff. While Plaintiff does not dispute that it had access to documents related to its
prosecution in U.S. v. United Corporation, et al. in 2003, Plaintiff argues that at this stage
of litigation Plaintiff does not have sufficient information to demonstrate whether
Defendant’s 1992 tax returns were included in those discoverable documents. As a result,
Plaintiff requests the Court to either deny Defendant’s Motion or defer judgment on the

Motion pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(d).

L Plaintiff fails to satisfy its burden to demonstrate the Court should defer
judgment on Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment.

The Court finds that Plaintiff has failed to show that the Court should further delay
its decision in this matter pending additional discovery. Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(d),
the Court may “defer considering the motion or deny” the motion if the “nonmovant shows

by affidavit or declaration that, for specified reasons, it cannot present facts essential to

? Defendant failed to provide this Court with a separate statement of undisputed materiat factsin -~
accordance with Loc. R. Civ. P, 56.1(a)(1), which is sanctionable conduct pursuant to Loc. R. Civ. P. 11.2.
The Court strongly cautions counsel in this regard. Despite the parties’ failure to abide by the rules of
procedure that govern practice before this Court, the Court finds the briefs sufficiently clear ~ particulariy
regarding which facts are in dispute - in order to make a determination on the merits of the summary

judgment motion. See FED. R, CIv. P. 56(f)(3).
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justify its opposition.”® To satisfy Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(d), the Plaintiff must make a showing

of the following three elements by affidavit or declaration:

(1) what particular information is sought;
(2) how, if uncovered, it would preclude summary judgment; and
(3) why it has not previously been obtained.?

If these elements are met, it is commonly accepted that, if the information needed to defend
against the summary judgment motion is solely in the possession of the movant, a
continuance should be granted as a matter of course. However, that is not necessarily the
case where a party seeking discovery can obtain the information from a source other than
the movant.'®

Here, the Court finds that Plaintiff did not demonstrate compliance with the third
element. The Affidavit of Fathi Yusuf, the treasurer and secretary of United Corporation,
simply establishes that Plaintiff had no acfual knowledge of Defendant’s 1992 tax returns
until 2011. The Affidavit does not establish that Defendant’s 1992 tax retums were not
among the discoverable documents to which Plaintiff’s defense team had access in 2003 in
U.S. v. United Corporation, et al. On April 25, 2014, without deciding the Motion, the
Court ordered Plaintiff to supplement its Response “with proof by affidavit from the United
States Attorney’s Office that it no longer has access to review documents held by the
federal government, as opposed to the facts set forth in Special Agent Thomas L. Petri’s

July 8, 2009, Declaration.” While the deadline for this supplement was May 12, 2014, the

8 Feo. R. Civ. P. 56(d).
9 Pennsyivania, Dep't of Pub. Welfare v. Sebeltus, 674 F.3d 139, 157 (3d Cir. 2012) (citing Dowling v. City

of Philadelphia, 855 F.2d 136, 139 (3d Cir. 1988)). )
1 See, e.g., Contractors Ass'n of E. Pennsylvania, Inc. v. City of Philadelphia, 945 F.2d 1260, 1263 (3dCir. _

1991).
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Court received no response from Plaintiff. Considering it has been over six months since
Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment was filed and the Court has received no
indication that Plaintiff may not obtain the necessary information from the U.S. Attorney’s
Office in order to respond to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment on the merits,
the Court finds that Plaintiff has failed to demonstrate why the information was not
previously obtained. As a result, the Court shall make a determination on the merits of

Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment.

IL The Court finds it undisputed for the purposes of Defendant’s Motion for
Summary Judgment that Defendant’s 1992 tax returns were included in
the documents to which Plaintiff had access during discovery in 2003 in
U.S. v. United Corporation, et al.

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c), the Court gave Plaintiff “an opportunity to
properly support or address the fact” of whether Plaintiff has access to the necessary
information to determine whether Defendant’s 1992 tax returns were among the documents
available for review in 2003 in U.S. v. United Corporation, et al. by Plaintiff’s defense
team. Plaintiff failed to respond. While Plaintiff's failure to respond is insufficient for the
Court to conclude that the 1992 tax returns were among the documents available for review
in 2003,"! the Court finds the Declarations of Special Agent Thomas L. Petri and Special

Agent Christine Zieba, both filed July, 8, 2009 in U.S. v. United Corporation, et al.,

1 See FED. R. CIV. P. 56, 2010 Advisory Committee Notes (“Subdivision (e)(3) recognizes that the court
may grant summary judgment only if the motion and supporting materials—-including the facts considered
undisputed under subdivision (e)(2)-—-show that the movant is entitled to it. Considering some facts
undisputed does not of itself allow summary judgment. If there is a proper.response.or reply as to.some.___...
facts, the court cannot grant summary judgment without determining whether those facts can be genuinely
disputed. Once the court has determined the set of facts--both those it has chosen to consider undisputed for
want of a proper response or reply and any that cannot be genuinely disputed despite a procedurally proper
response or reply--it must determine the legal consequences of these facts and permissible inferences from

them.”)
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dispositive. Neither Declaration specifically states that Defendant’s 1992 tax returns were
among the documents. However, both Declarations demonstrate that Plaintiff’s defense
team was granted “unfettered” access to discovery, although the access and the nature of
the access was closely regulated and monitored by the FBI for security reasons. !2
Considering the indictment in U.S. v. United Corporation, et al. charged both Plaintiff and
Defendant with conspiring to defraud the Virgin Islands by filing false personal income
tax returns, territorial gross receipts taxes, and corporate income taxes for a period from
approximately 1996 to 2001 and thereby Defendant’s tax returns would be essential in the
prosecution of that matter,' the Court may logically conclude that Defendant’s 1992 tax
return, only four (4) years prior to 1996, was among the discoverable documents available
in 2003. In fact, while Plaintiff argues the sequential Bates numbers of the collected
documents is not evidence that the 1992 tax returns were in the government’s possession
in 2003 and available for Plaintiff’s defense team’s review, the Court finds that this stamp
is relevant and provides corroborating support that the 1992 tax returns were in the
government’s possession in 2003 and available for Plaintiff’s defense team’s review.
Furthermore, Plaintiff concedes that it obtained Defendant’s tax return in 2011 from the
FBI as a part of the records collected for the purposes of the United States’ prosecution of

Plaintiff and Defendant in U.S. v. United Corporation, et al., also suggesting the 1992 tax

12 See Defendant’s.Motion. for. Summary Judgment, Feb..5,-2014,.at Exhibits 1-99,.2 99.-Plaintiff argues. —- ..
that these “Declarations are not evidence, and could be false, inaccurate, and/or erroneous.” However,
Plaintiff has not provided the Court with any evidence that these Declaratlons are inaccurate
representations of the Declarations filed in U.S. v. United Corporation, et al., and thus, the Court accepts
them as true representations of the FBI's original Declarations filed on July 8,2009. . . 7777 ...
B U.S v. Yusuf, et al., 2003-147, Third Superseding Indictment, Sept. 9, 2004.
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returns were part of the documents available for review in 2003. Considering all the above
evidence, the Court finds no genuine issue of material fact exists because, even construing
the facts in a light most favorable to Plaintiff, no reasonable jury could find that
Defendant’s 1992 tax returns were not among the documents available for review in 2003
in U.S. v. United Corporation, et al., as asserted by Defendant in his Motion for Summary
Judgment.'* It appears that no other material fact necessary to the Court’s determination
on the merits here is in dispute.

As the Court previously stated in its June 24, 2013, Opinion, ordinarily “a statute
of limitation begins to run upon the occurrence of the essential facts which constitute the
cause of action” unless the statute of limitations has been tolled.'* Here, Plaintiff argues
that both the discovery rule and the doctrine of equitable tolling apply. Specifically,

Under the law of the Virgin Islands, application of the equitable
‘discovery rule’ tolls the statute of limitation[s] when the injury or its
cause is not immediately evident to the victim. Thus, the discovery rule
provides that the statute of limitations period begins to run when the
plaintiff has discovered, or by exercising reasonable diligence, should
have discovered (1) that she has been injured, and (2) that this injury has
been caused by another party's conduct. The discovery rule is to be
applied using an objective reasonable person standard.'® (emphasis

added)
On the other hand, equitable tolling may apply “where the defendant has actively misled

the plaintiff,” as Plaintiff here alleges in the Complaint.!” However, similarly to the

discovery rule, for a Plaintiff to invoke equitable tolling, the Plaintiff must demonstrate

14 See FED, R. CIV. P. 56(e)(2)(3). Bl
1S Whitaker v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce Fenner, & Smith, Inc., 36 V l 75, 81 (Terr. V.1 Apr 21, 1997)

1 In re Equivest St. Thomas, inc., 2010 WL 4343616, at *S (Bankr. D.V.1. Nov. 1, 2010) (quoting Joseph

v. Hess Qil, 867 F.2d 179, 182 (3d Cir.1989) and Boehm v. Chase Manrhattan Bank, 2002 WL 31986128, at

*3 (D.V.12002)) (internal citations and quotations omitted). e e e

T VM d at*6.
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“that he or she could not, by the exercise of reasonable diligence, have discovered essential
information bearing on his or her claim.”"® (emphasis added) To determine whether a
person has exercised reasonable diligence under either the discovery rule or doctrine of
equitable tolling, courts employ an “objective reasonable person standard.”!?

Here, the Court finds that under both the discovery rule and doctrine of equitable
tolling, Plaintiff should have discovered Defendant’s alleged conduct by at least 2003 by
exercising reasonable diligence, when all documents — including Defendant’s tax returns
from 1992 and later — related to the United States’ prosecution in U.S. v. United

Corporation, et al. were made available to Plaintiff for review.

III. The statutes of limitations on all Counts alleged in Plaintiff’s Amended
Complaint have expired.

Considering the Court finds that Plaintiff knew or should have discovered
Defendant’s alleged conduct around 2003, the statute of limitations for breach of fiduciary
duty (Count I), constructive trust or recoupment (Count II), conversion (Count III), breach
of contract (Count IV), and accounting (Count V) alleged in Plaintiff’s Amended
Complaint have long expired. Pursuant to 5 V.I.C. § 31(3) and (5), a breach of fiduciary
duty claim carries a two (2) year statute of limitations if it is “based on a breach of a legal
duty imposed by law that arises out of the performance of the contract” or otherwise carries
a six (6) year statute of limitations if it is “based upon a breach of sl;eciﬁc ﬁféviéions inthe
" 8 1d (citing In re Mushroom Transp. Co, Inc., 382 F.3d 325,339 (34 Cir2004) (quoting Oshiver v. Levin,
Fishbein, Sedran & Berman, 38 F.3d 1380, 1390 (3d Cir.1994))).

19 1d; see also Riley v. Meditronic, Inc., 2011 WL 3444190 (W.D. Pa. Aug. 8, 2011) (“E‘]h? applicable
‘standard is not whetliér' the Plaintiff subjectively knew of the cause of the injiry. Rather, it.is. whethera ___. .

diligent investigation would have revealed it.”) (intemnal citations and quotations omitted).
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contract.”?® Under 5 V.I.C. § 31(3)(D), conversion carries a six (6) year statute of
limitations,2' and a breach of contract claim carries a six (6) year statute of limitations
pursuant to 5 V.IL.C. § 31(3)(A).22 While Plaintiff lists “accounting” 2 and “constructive
trust or recoupment” as separate counts, those are equitable remedies and therefore not
separate causes of action. Thus, they do not carry a statute of limitations apart from the
independent causes of action upon which they rely.?* As aresult, considering overten (10)
years has passed between the time Plaintiff knew or should have known of Defendant’s
alleged conduct and the date Plaintiff filed the Complaint in 2013, Plaintiff’s Amended
Complaint shall be dismissed in its entirety.

For the foregoing reasons, the Court will grant Defendant’s Motion for Summary
Judgment and will deny Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Standing as moot. An

Order consistent with this Opinion shall follow.

Dated: September =2 , 2014 e = 5 '

HON. MICHAEL C. DUNSTON
ATTEST: Estrella H. George JUDGE OF THE SUPERIOR COURT
Acting Clerk of Court /1 OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

')ERTIFIEDyRU CoPY

by:

Lori Boynes-Tyson
Court Clerk Supervisor q / "‘_‘z /oﬂill

® Whitaker, 36 V.1. at 79.

2 14 at 84 (“[A]n action for conversion of property is consi
tortiously taken or retained by the defendant.”)

2 S, ¢.g., Arlington Funding Services, Inc. v. Geigel, 51 V.1. 118, 134 (V.1 2009).

B Gov't Guarantee Fund of Republic of Finland v. Hyatt Corp., 955 F. Supp. 441, 466 (D.V.1. 1997).
M See generally 1A C.J.S. Accounting § 6.
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SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION, )
)
Plaintiff, )
)
vs. )
) CASE NO. ST-13-CV-101
WAHEED HAMED, a/k/a WILLY OR WILLIE )
HAMED )
)
Defendant. )
)
ORDER

The Court having issued a Memorandum Opinion on this date, it is

ORDERED that Defendant’s April 15, 2013, Motion for Judgment on the
Pleadings is GRANTED in part and DENIED in part without prejudice; and it is

ORDERED that the portion of Plaintiff’s Complaint related to an alleged certified
check for seventy-thousand dollars ($70,000.00) is DISMISSED with prejudice; and it is

ORDERED that Plaintiff submit an amended complaint by July 15, 2013,
consistent with holding of the Memorandum Opinion; and it is

ORDERED that copies of this Order shall be directed to counsel of record.

Dated: Juneo ¥, 2013 -

HON. MICHAEL C. DUNSTON
ATTEST: Venetia H. Velazquez, Esq.  JUDGE OF THE SUPERIOR COURT
Clerk of Coyrt /7y // OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS




SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION, )
)
Plaintiff, )
)
vs. )
) CASE NO. ST-13-CV-101
WAHEED HAMED, a/k/a WILLY OR WILLIE )
HAMED )
)
Defendant. )
)
MEMORANDUM OPINION

Pending before the Court is Defendant Waheed Hamed’s April 15, 2013, Motion
for Judgment on the Pleadings.! For the following reasons, Defendant’s Motion will be
granted in part and denied in part without prejudice.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Plaintiff United Corporation filed a Complaint on March 5, 2013, alleging that
during Defendant Waheed Hamed’s employment with Plaintiff as a manager at Plaza
Extra located in Tutu Park, St Thomas, Defendant secretly converted and
misappropriated substantial assets of Plaintiff in two separate instances. Specifically,
Plaintiff alleges (1) that on October 7, 1995, Defendant converted Seventy thousand
dollars ($70,000.00) by conveying it to a third party through a certified check without
Plaintiff’s approval; and (2) that in at least 1992 and for a following unknown period of
time, Defendant operated a wholesale grocery business called “5 Comer’s Mini Mart,”

converting Plaintiff’s inventory and personal property without Plaintiff’s knowledge.

! Plaintiff responded on May 1, 2013, Defendant replied on June 4, 2013.
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Page 2 of 10

STANDARD

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(c), made applicable to the Virgin Islands Superior
Court through Superior Court Rule 7, a party may move for judgment on the pleadings,
“(a]fter the pleadings are closed — but early enough not to delay trial.”?> The standard
applied under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(c) mirrors that of Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6),’ under which
a defendant may test the sufficiency of the pleadings by seeking dismissal for the
plaintiff’s “failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.” In considering the
motion, the Court must first liberally construe the pleadings,’ and “accept as true all well-
pleaded allegations in the complaint” in favor of the plaintiff.’ While “the Court must
take all of the factual allegations in the [cJomplaint as true, courts are not bound to accept
as true a legal conclusion couched as a factual allegation."’ Second, once the legal and

factual allegations have been distinguished, the Court must decide whether “the plaintiff

? Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(c).

3 See, e.g., Sanders v. Gov't of the V.1., 2009 WL 649888, at *2 (D.V.1. Mar. 9, 2009); Tomlinson v. £l
Paso Corp., 653 F.3d 1281, 1285-86 (10th Cir. 2011). An essential difference between a motion under Fed.
R. Civ. P. 12(b)}(6) and Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(c) is that a motion under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)}(6) must be made
before a responsive pleading is allowed, while Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(c) applies after a responsive pleading has
been filed.

‘ Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(bX6).

3 Asheroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (“the pleading standard Rule 8 announces does not require
‘detailed factual allegations,’ but it demands more than an unadomed, the-defendant-unlawfully-harmed-
me accusation™) (ciring Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)).

$ Gov't Guarantee Fund v. Hyatt Corp., 166 F.R.D. 321, 325-26 (D.V.1. 1996) aff’d sub nom. Gov't
Guarantee Fund of Republic of Finland v. Hyatt Corp., 95 F.3d 291 (3d Cir. 1996) (“{I]n considering 2
motion to dismiss under Rule 12(bX6), the Court must accept as true the well-pleaded allegations in the
complaint. . . . [T]he plaintiff is required to set forth sufficient information to outline the elements of his
claim or to permit inferences to be drawn that these elements exist. . . . Finally, when evaluating a 12(b)(6)
motion the court must be mindful of the liberal pleading practice permitted by Rule 8(a) . . . ) (internal
citations omitted).

7 Webster v. CBI Acquisitions, LLC, 2012 WL 832044, at *| (V.1. Super. 2012) (citing Papasan v. Allain,
478 U.S. 265, 286 (1986)).
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pleads factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference™® that the
claim is plausible on its face.

Considering that a motion to for judgment on the pleadings challenges the
sufficiency of the pleadings rather than disputed factual allegations, a Court will not
generally grant a motion to dismiss based on either Fed. R. Civ. Pro. 12(c) or Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12(b)(6) that solely asserts an affirmative defense.” However, a Court may consider
such a motion to dismiss where “the relevant facts are . . . readily apparent on the face of
the complaint.”'® For instance, while “the expiration of the [s]tatute of [l]imitations often
presents a question of fact [for the jury), where the facts are so clear that reasonable
minds cannot differ, the commencement period may be determined as a matter of law.”"'
When conducting such an analysis the Court primarily relies on the factual allegations
plead in the Complaint, but may also consider “matters of public record, orders, items

appearing in the record of the case, and exhibits attached to the complaint . . . .*'> For

instance, in Burton v. First Bank of Puerto Rico, the court considered the plaintiff’s

! 1qbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (citing Twombly, 550 U.S. at 446).

% See, e.g., Gray v. Evercore Restructuring L.L.C., 544 F.3d 320, 324 (Ist Cir. 2008) (“Where a court grants
a Rule 12(b)(6) or Rule 12(c) motion based on an affirmative defense, the facts establishing that defense
must; (1) be definitively ascertainable from the complaint and other allowable sources of information, and
(2) suffice to establish the affirmative defense with certitude.”)(internal quotations omitted)(citing
Nisselson v. Lernout, 469 F.3d 143, 150 (1st Cir.2006)).

° Burton v. First Bank of Puerto Rico, 49 V.1. 16, 20 (V.1. Super. 2007)(applying the pre-Twombly
standard to a Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(bX6) motion); see Charleswell v. Chase Manhattan Bank, 45 V 1., 495, 506
(D.V.1, 2004).

" Burton, 49 V |, at 20 (intemal citations and quotations omitted) (citing Vitalo v. Cabot Corp., 399 F.3d
536, 543 (3d Cir. 2005)).

V2 Barany-Snyder v. Weiner, 539 F.3d 321, 332 (6th Cir. 2008) (citing Amini v. Oberlin Coll., 259 F.3d 493,
502 (6th Cir.2001)); see generally Oshiver v. Levin, Fishbein, Sedran & Berman, 38 F.3d 1380 (3d Cir.
1994). If other extrinsic evidence is considered, 8 court may convert the motion into Fed. R, Civ. P. 56
motion at its discretion. See generally STEVEN BAICKER-MCKEE, WILLIAM M. JANSSEN & JOHN B. CORR,
FEDERAL CIVIL RULES HANDBOOK, at 470 (2012).
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billing statements because they were “indisputably authentic documents” that were
explicitly referred to in the complaint.”
ANALYSIS

Defendant argues that Plaintiff's Complaint should be dismissed because the
statute of limitations period for Plaintiff’s claims for breach of fiduciary duty (Count I),
constructive teust or recoupment (Count II), conversion (Count [ll), breach of contract
(Count IV), and accounting (Count V) have expired. Pursuantto 5 V.1C. § 31(3) and (5),
a breach of fiduciary duty claim carries a two (2) year statute of limitations if it is “based
on a breach of a legal duty imposed by law that arises out of the performance of the
contract” or otherwise carries a six (6) year statute of limitations if it is “based upon a
breach of specific provisions in the contract.” ¥ Pursuant to S V.I.C. § 31(3)(D),
conversion carries a six (6) year statute of limitations.” Pursuant to 5 V.I.C. § 31(3)(A),
a breach of contract claim carries a six (6) year statute of limitations.'® While Plaintiff
lists “accounting” \7 and “constructive trust or recoupment” as separate counts, they are
equitable remedies, and therefore not separate causes of action. Thus, they do not carry a

statute of limitations apart from the independent causes of action upon which they rely."

49 v.). at 20.

 Whitaker v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce Fenner, & Smith, Inc., 36 V1. 75, 79 (Terr. V.1 Apr. 21, 1997)

IS 14, at 84 (“[A]n action for conversion of property is considered complete when the property is first
tortiously taken or retained by the defendant.”)

'6 See, ¢.g., Arlington Funding Services, Inc. v. Geigel, 51 V.1. 118, 134 (V.1. 2009).

Y Gov't Guarantee Fund of Republic of Finland v. Hyats Corp., 955 F. Supp. 441, 466 (D.V ].

1997)(* equitable accounting is a remedy of restitution where a fiduciary defendant is forced to disgorge
gains received from the improper use of the plaintiff's property or entitlements. The plaintiff makes a
prima facie case by showing a breach of fiduciary duty plus gross receipts resulting to the fiduciary, and the
defendant must prove what deductions are appropriate to figure the net profit.” Xinternal quotations and
citations omitted)(guoting | Dan B. Dobbs, Law Of Remedies § 4.3(5), at 610 (2d ed.1993)).

18 See generally 1A C.1.S. Accounting § 6 (“An accounting is essentially an equitable remedy, which arises
from an obligation to account for the plaintiff's money or property.™); 90 C.J.S. Trusts § 176
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Plaintiff argues that, while the alleged acts if misconduct occurred as early as 1992 and in
1995, the statutory period was tolled because Plaintiff had no way of knowing of the
misconduct until Plaintiff received certain documents in October 2011 that had been
gathered pursuant to a 2003 federal criminal investigation in U.S. v. United Corporation,

etal.

Ordinarily, “a statute of limitation begins to run upon the occurrence of the
essential facts which constitute the cause of action” unless the statute of limitations has
been tolled.' While Plaintiff’s reply fails to address under which legal standard they
contend the statute of limitations period was tolled, Defendant argues that Plaintiff’s
argument fails under both the discovery rule and the doctrine of equitable tolling.

Specifically,

Under the law of the Virgin Islands, application of the equitable
‘discovery rule' tolls the statute of limitation[s] when the injury or its
cause is not immediately evident to the victim. Thus, the discovery rule
provides that the statute of limitations period begins to run when the
plaintiff has discovered, or by exercising reasonable diligence, should
have discovered (1) that she has been injured, and (2) that this injury
has been caused by another party’s conduct. The discovery rule is to be
applied using an objective reasonable person standard.? (emphasis
added)

On the other hand, equitable tolling may apply “where the defendant has actively misled
the plaintiff,” as Plaintiff here alleges in the Complaint.?' However, similarly to the

discovery rule, for a Plaintiff to invoke equitable tolling, the Plaintiff must demonstrate

(“[Constructive trusts] are remedial in character and are classified as belonging to remedial rather than
substantive law, and it is not itself a substantive right.")(internal citations omitted).
¥ Whitaker, 36 V.1. at 81.
™ In re Equivest St. Thomas, Inc., 2010 WL 4343616, at *5 (Bankr. D.V.1. Nov. 1, 2010) (quoting Jaseph v.
Hess Oil, 867 F.2d 179, 182 (3d Cir.1989) and Boehm v. Chase Manhattan Bank, 2002 WL 3 1986128, at
;13 (D.V.12002)) (internal citations and quotations omitied).

Id. at *6.
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“that he or she could not, by the exercise of reasonable diligence, have discovered
essential information bearing on his or her claim.”? (emphasis added) To determine
whether a person has exercised reasonable diligence under either the discovery rule or
doctrine of equitable tolling, courts employ an “objective reasonable person standard.”*
Applying the “reasonable diligence” standard of the discovery rule and doctrine
of equitable tolling, the Court will discuss in turn the 1992 and 1995 allegations of
wrongful conduct to determine whether recovery on the Complaint on its face, construed

liberally in a light most favorable to Plaintiff, is barred on statute of limitations grounds.

L. Claims relying on facts alleging Defendant converted Seventy thousand
dollars ($70,000.00) via a certified check to a third party on October 7,
1995.

Plaintiff's Complaint alleges that

In October of 2011, upon information, a review of the U.S. Government records
and files by the treasurer of Plaintiff United further revealed that without
Plaintiff United’s knowledge or consent, Defendant Waheed Hamed converted
$70,000 in cash belonging to Plaintiff United by purchasing a Certified Check,
dated October 7*, 1995, made payable to a third party unrelated to Plaintiff
United, or any of Plaintiff's business operations.?

Further, in his response to Defendant’s Motion, Plaintiff argues that the “statute of
limitations could not accrue and was tolled because Plaintiff could not have possibly

known of Defendant's misconduct until a federal investigation revealed this

2 44 (citing In re Mushroom Transp. Co., Inc., 382 F.3d 325, 339 (3d Cir.2004) (quoting Oshiver v. Levin,
Fishbein, Sedran & Berman, 38 F.3d 1380, 1390 (3d Cir.1994))).

B 14+ see also Riley v. Medtronic, Inc., 2011 WL 3444190 (W.D. Pa. Aug, 8, 2011) (“[T}he applicable
standard is not whether the Plaintiff subjectively knew of the cause of the injury. Rather, it is whether a
diligent investigation would have revealed it.")(internal citations and quotations omitted).

2 Complaint, § 14.
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misconduct.”?* Defendant argues that the statute of limitations period was not tolled
because under either the discovery rule or doctrine of equitable tolling Plaintiff failed to
exercise “reasonable diligence” in reviewing the basic accounting records of the company
before the records were seized by the government in U.S. v. United Corporation, et al.
The Court agrees with Defendant, albeit on different grounds. Specifically, the
Complaint states that in 2003 Plaintiff United, along with Defendant and others, were
indicted in “U.S, v. United Corp., ST-15-CR-2005."° Upon a review of public records, it
appears that Plaintiff is referring to U.S. v. United Corporation, et al., Crim. No. 2003-
147 in the District Court. The original indictment, issued and unsealed on September 18,
2003, in US. v. United Corporation, et al., Crim. No. 2003-147, and any subsequent
superseding indictments may be considered by the Court in its analysis to determine
whether Plaintiff exercised reasonable diligence under either the discovery rule or
doctrine of equitable tolling because Plaintiff explicitly refers to that case on the face of
the Complaint, and further, these indictments are indisputable public records.?’ The third
superseding indictment, issued on September 9, 2004, charged Defendant Waheed

Hamed, among others, with

purchas{ing] and direct{ing] and caus|ing] Plaza Extra employees and
others to purchase cashier’s checks, traveler's checks, and money
orders with unreported cash, typically from different bank branches and
made payable to individuals and entities other than the defendants, in
order to disguise the case as legitimate—appearing financial
instruments.?

 plaintiff°s Response in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, May |, 2013,
atg?7.

% Complaint, § 14.

¥ Barany-Snyder, 539 F.3d at 332; See Fed. R. Evid 902.

B (S v. Yusuf, et al., 2003-147, Third Superseding Indictment, Sept. 9, 2004, at 7 15.
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While the third superseding indictment largely alleges that Defendant Waheed Hamed,
among others, used cashier’s checks and other methods to conceal illegal money transfers
abroad, the third superseding indictment, although only containing allegations, would
have at least put a reasonable person in Plaintiff’s position,29 as Defendant’s employer,
on notice*® that Defendant may have engaged in some wrongful activity regarding the use
of cashier’s checks to transfer money to unknown third parties, as alleged in Plaintiff’s
Complaint at Paragraph 15. Plaintiff does not contend any efforts were made after this
point to review United’s business and accounting records to investigate the government’s
allegations against Defendant.®' Instead, the Complaint clearly states on its face that the
discovery was only made in October 2011 upon a review of the government’s records and
documents. Thus, here, “the facts are so clear that reasonable minds cannot differ,” on
the face of the Complaint that the commencement period for the statute of limitations

began at least by September 9, 2004.%% As such, all claims relying on facts alleging

Y1 re Equivest St. Thomas, Inc., 2010 WL 4343616, at *6 (noting that while reasonable diligence is an
objective test based on a reasonable person standard, the test is flexible to take into account certain
situations and circumstances).

W See Whitaker, 36 V1. at 81 (“the . . . crucial question in determining the accrual date for statute of
limitations purposes is whether the injured party had sufficient notice of the invasion of his legal rights to
require that he investigate and make a timely claim or risk its loss. Once the injured party is put on notice,
the burden is upon him to determine within the limitations period whether any party may be liable to
him.")(quoting Zeleznik v. U.S., 770 F.2d 20, 23 (3d Cir. 1985)).

3 See, e.g, Zafarana v. Pfizer, Inc., 724 F. Supp. 2d 545, 553 (E.D. Pa. 2010) (“Once a plaintiff becomes
aware of an injury and who caused it, he is under a duty to investigate and promptly file his suit.”) Plaintiff
primary argument is that Plaintiff did not have access until October 2011 to many of the records,
particularly Defendant’s 1992 tax return, which lead to the discovery of Defendant’s alleged misconduct.
Here, Plaintiff, a corporation, has access to its own accounting and other record-keeping files, a review of
which may have revealed Defendant’s alleged misconduct. Even if the govemment had confiscated
Plaintiff's business records, an objectively reasonable individual would have retained copies, particularly if
an indictment was pending, and have inquired into the wrongdoing suggested by the September 9, 2004,
third superseding indictment. Thus, PlaintifPs argument that Plaintiff did not have access to the documents
1o discover Defendant’s misconduct is without merit.

32 5 < the Court relied on the third superseding indictment, the Court does not hold or address whether the
original indictment may have also placed Plaintiff on notice of Defendant’s alleged misconduct,
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Defendant converted Seventy thousand dollars ($70,000.00) via a certified check to a
third party on October 7, 1995, are barred on statute of limitations grounds. All of
Plaintiff’s claims carry a six (6) year statute of limitation or less, meaning the statutory

period expired by at least September 9, 2010.

II. Claims relying on facts alleging Defendant operated a wholesale grocery
business called “5 Corner’s Mini Mart” and converted Plaintiff’s
inventory and personal property without Plaintiff’s knowledge in 1992
for an unknown period of time.

Plaintiff’s Complaint alleges that a review of Defendant Waheed Hamed’s 1992
tax return revealed that *Defendant Hamed had engaged in a separate and secretive
wholesale grocery business called 5 Comer’s Mini Mart,” and further that “Defendant
Hamed’s tax returns demonstrate substantial inventory . . . belonging to Plaintiff United
were misappropriated by Defendant Hamed to operate his wholesale business.”* Again,
Plaintiff argues that until October 2011, when the documents collected by the U.S.
government in U.S. v. United Corporation, e al., were given to Plaintiff, Plaintiff had no

way of knowing of Defendant's alleged misconduct.*

3 Complaint, 17 16-20.

* plaintiff’s Response in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, May |, 2013,
at §1 4, 7. Defendant argues that because Plaintiff fails to specifically reference the alleged 1992
misconduct in their response to Defendant’s Motion that “[P]laimtiff concedes the limitation issue as to the
1992 act.” Defendant Hamed’s Reply to Plaintiff*s Opposition to the Motion for Judgment on the
Pleadings, June 4, 2013, at 3. The Court agrees that Plaintiff’s counsel failed to cite to any relevant
authority in violation of Local Rule of Civil Procedure 11.1 which provides that, “{b]y signing a motion or
supporting memorandum or brief, an attorney certifies to the Court that: (a) the applicable law in this
jurisdiction has been cited, including authority for and against the position being advocated by counsel . ...”
The Court strongly cautions Plaintiff"s counsel to cite to relevant authority and applicable legal standards in
any future representations before this Court. However, the Court in its discretion, and in viewing the
Complaint in a light most favorable to Plaintiff, has considered Plaintiff’s general argument that Plaintiff
had no way of discovering Defendant’s alleged misconduct until October 2011 to both the alleged
misconduct that occurred in 1992 and 1995.
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Here, the Court finds that a review of the Complaint on its face reveals that the
commencement period may not be determine as a matter of law and is rather a question
of material fact’® Specifically, unlike Plaintiff's allegations regarding the October 7,
1995, certified check, the indictment in U.S. v. United, Crim. No. 2003-147, does not put
Plaintiff on notice of this alleged wrongdoing because the indictment does not suggest
that Defendant may have engaged in a secretive wholesale business. Instead, here,
Plaintiff contends their suspicions arose only when they obtained Defendant’s 1992 tax
return in October 2011, a document to which Plaintiff previously did not have access. As
such, Defendant’s motion is premature with regard to Defendant’s alleged misconduct in
1992, and Plaintiff’s claims for breach of fiduciary duty, conversion, and breach of
contract survive on these limited facts. However, despite this holding, moving forward
Plaintiff still bears the burden of showing that Plaintiff exercised “reasonable diligence”
under the discovery rule or doctrine of equitable tolling such that the statute of limitations
was tolled until October 2011.

For the foregoing reasons, the Court will grant in part and deny in part
Defendant’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. An Order consistent with this

Opinion shall follow.

Dated: Juned ¥, 2013 \ﬁ-\
HON. MICHAEL C. DUNSTON

JUDGE OF THE SUPERIOR COURT
OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

¥ See, e.g, In re Mushroom, 383 F.3d at 338.

JA -24-



SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JOHN

CIVIL DOCKET
UNITED CORPORATION Plaintiff) CASE NO: ST-2013-CV-0000101
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PARTY NAME LITIGANT PARTY TYPE
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DOCKETS ENTERED ON THIS CASE: I

AMOUNT

DOCKET DATE DESCRIPTION

FEE RECEIVED 6.00
RECEIPT # - 00144858

04/13/2015

03/20/2015 PURSUANT TO SUPREME COURT'S SCHEDULING ORDER ENTERED MARCH 10, 2015
IN THE ABOVE NOTED CASE, WHICH REQUIRES THIS OFFICE TO FILE THE
E-RECORD ON OR BEFORE MARCH 20, 2015

03/20/2015 UPDATED CERTIFIED DOCKET FORWARDED TO SUPREME COURT

03/10/2015 SUPREME COURT'S SCHEDULING ORDER ENTERED
RE: ORDERED THAT PURSUANT TO SUPREME COURT RULES 11(b) AND 40.3())
THE CLERK OF THE SUPERIOR COURT SHALL FILE THE E-RECORD ON OR
BEFORE MARCH 20, 2015.

02/26/2015 PURSUANT TO SUPREME COURT'S DOCKETING ORDER ENTERED FEBRUARY 24,
2015, PLEASE FIND INDEX WITH REQUIRED DOCUMENTS

02/26/2015 CERTIFIED DOCKET FORWARDED TO SUPREME COURT

02/25/2015 NOTICE OF FILING DOCUMENTS IN THE OTHER DIVISION, NOTICE OF FILING
APPEAL
SUBMITTED BY CARL HATMANN, lll, ESQ.

02/24/2015 NOTICE OF APPEAL FILED IN THE SUPREME COURT.

02/24/2015 DOCKETING ORDER ENTERED
RE: ORDERED THAT APPELLANT'S NOTICE OF APPEAL BE DOCKETEDAS S .
CT. CIV. NO. 2015-0021

11/07/2014 REPLY TO BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF UNITED CORPORATIONS'S MOTION FOR
RECONSIDERATION FILED BY NiZAR A. DEWOOD, ESQ

10/16/2014 DEFENDANT WAHEED ("WILLIE") HAMED'S OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFF UNITED'S
MOTION FOR RECONSDIERATION FILED BY CARL J. HARTMANN, lll, ESQUIRE
LETTER ATTACHED

10/10/2014 PLAINTIFF UNITED'S MOTION TO STAY FILING OF RESPONSES TO DEFENDANT'S
BILL OF COSTS FILED BY NIZAR A. DEWOOD, ESQ PROPOSED ORDER ATTACH

10/06/2014 NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER
10/05/2014
CARL J. HARTMANN, ESQUIRE (STX)
NIZAR A, DEWOOD, ESQUIRE (STX)

10/06/2014 AMENDED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE RECEIVED
SUBMITTED BY NIZAR DEWOOD, ESQ.

10/06/2014 ORDER SIGNED BY JUDGE MICHAEL C. DUNSTON, THAT DEFENDANT SHALL RESOND
TO THE MOTION BY OCTOBER 27, 2014, AND PLAINTIFF MAY REPLY BY
NOVEMBER 7, 2014.

09/29/2014 PLAINTIFF'S RULE 59(E) MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION AND TO ALTER OR
AMEND JUDGEMENT FILED BY NIZAR A. DEWOOD, ESQ UNITED'S BRIEF IN
SUPPORT OF ITS RULE 59(E) MOTION ATTACH

08/24/2014 MOTION AND MEMORANDUM AS TO BILL OF COST AND ATTORNEYS FEES FILED BY
CARL J. HARMANN Ill, ESQ PROPOSED ORDER ATTACH

09/18/2014 MOTION & MEMORANDUM AS TO BILL OF COST AND ATTORNEYS FEES FILED BY

CARL HARTMAN, ESQ.

JA -26-
Page 20f6



09/04/2014

09/02/2014

09/02/2014

05/13/2014

05/12/2014

04/29/2014

04/28/2014

04/25/2014

04/23/2014

04/07/2014

03/12/2014

03/12/2014

03/07/2014

03/06/2014

02/12/12014

02/11/2014

02/05/2014

12/16/2013

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER
09/02/2014

CARL J. HARTMANN Iil, ESQUIRE (STX)

NIZAR A. DEWOOD, ESQUIRE (STX)

MEMORANDUM OPINION SIGNED BY JUDGE MICHAEL C. DUNSTON.

ORDER SIGNED BY JUDGE MICHAEL C. DUNSTON, THAT PLAILNTIFF'S AMENDED
COMPLAINT IS DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE IN ITS ENTIRELY. ORDERED THAT
DEFENDAT;S APRIL 28, 2014, MOTION TO DISMISS FOR LACK OF STANDING

IS DENIED AS MOOT.

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER
05/12/2014

CARL J. HARTMANN, lll, ESQ.
NIZAR DEWOOQOD, ESQ.

ORDER SIGNED BY JUDGE MICHAEL C. DUNSTON

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER
04/25/2014

NIZAR DEWOOD, ESQ.

CARL J. HARTMANN, iil, ESQ.

DEFENDANT WAHEED HAMED'S RULE 12(c) MOTION TO DISMISS FOR LACK OF
STANDING FILED BY CARL J. HARTMANN, IlIl, ESQ.

ORDER SIGNED BY JUDGE MICHAEL C. DUNSTON

DEFENDANT WAHEED HAMED'S REPLY WITH REGARD TO HiS MOTION FOR SUMMARY
JUDGMENT FILED BY CARL J. HARTMANN {ll, ESQ.

MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF'S RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION
TO DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT FILED BY NIZAR A. DEWOOD,
ESQ.

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER
03/07/2014

NIZAR DEWOOD, ESQ.

CARL J. HARTMANN, Ill, ESQ.

NOTICE OF SERVICE OF DEFENDANT HAMED'S INTERROGATORY RESPONSES,
RESPONSES TO REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION AND REQUESTS TO ADMIT FILED BY
CARL J. HARTMANN iIl, ESQ.

ORDER SIGNED BY JUDGE MICHAEL C. DUNSTON

PLAINTIFF UNITED'S MOTION TO EXTEND TIME TO FILE TIS RESPONSE IN
OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT FILED BY NIZAR
A. DEWOOD, ESQ.

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER
02/11/2014

NIZAR A. DEWOOQD, ESQ.
CARL J. HARTMANN, Il, ESQ.

ORDER SIGNED BY JUDGE MICHAEL C. DUNSTON

DEFENDANT HAMED'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT FILED BY CARL J.
HARTMANN,IlIl, ESQ.

DEFENDANT HAMED'S MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR SUMMARY
JUDGMENT AS TO THE SOLE REMAINING CLAIM FILED CARL J. HARTMANN,

i, ESQ.

JOINT STIPULATION FOR ENLARGEMENT OF TIME AS TO DISCOVERY FILED BY
NLZAR A. DEWOOD, ESQ.
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10/10/2013 NOTICE OF SERVICE OF PLAINTIFF UNITED CORPORATION'S ANSWER TO
DEFENDANT'S (CORRECTED) FIRST SET OF INTERROGATORIES
SUBMITTED BY NIZAR DEWOOD, ESQ.

10/10/2013 NOTICE OF SERVICE OF PLAINTIFF UNITED CORPORATION'S RESPONSES TO
DEFENDANT'S FIRST REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS
SUBMITTED BY NIZAR DEWOOD, ESQ.

10/08/2013 NOTICE OF SERVICE OF PLAINIFF UNITED CORPORATION'S RESPONSES TO
DEFENDANT'S (CORRECTED) FIRST REQUEST FOR ADMISSIONS
SUBMITTED BY NIZAR DEWOOD, ESQ.

09/12/2013 DEFENDANT WAHEED HAMED'S {CORRECTED} FIRST INTERROGATORIES TO
PLAINTIFF UNITED FILED BY CARL J. HARTMANN, I, ESQUIRE...

09/12/2013 DEFENDANT WAHEED HAMED'S [CORRECTED] FIRST REQUESTS FOR ADMISSIONS
TO PLAINTIFF UNITED FILED BY CARL HARTMANN, Ill, ESQUIRE...

09/09/2013 DEFENDANT WAHEED HAMED'S FIRST INTERROGATORIES TO PLAINTIFF UNITED
FILED BY CARL J. HARTMANN lil, ESQUIRE.

09/09/2013 DEFENDANT WAHEED HAMED'S FIRST REQUESTS FOR ADMISSIONS TO PLAINTIFF
UNTIED FILED BY CARL HARTMANN Ili, ESQUIRE.

09/09/2013 DEFENDANT WAHEED HAMED'S FIRST REQUEST FOR THE PRODUCTION OF
DOCUMENTS TO PLAINTIFF UNITED FILED BY CARL HARTMANN IIl, ESQUIRE.

08/23/2013 LETTER ADDRESSED TO OFFICE OF THE CLERK FILED BY CARL J. HARTMANN
SELF-DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULE 26 ATTACHED

08/23/2013 SELF-DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULE 26 FILED BY ATTY. CARL HARTMANN

07/30/2013 ANSWER TO FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT
FILED BY CARL J. HARTMANN i, ESQUIRE.

07/30/2013 ANSWER TO FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AND LETTER
FILED BY CARL J. HARTMANN Ill, ESQUIRE.

07/18/2013 SCHEDULING AND MEDIATION ORDER SIGNED AND ENTERED BY JUDGE DDUNSTON

07/18/2013 NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER DATED
7/18/2013
NIZAR DEWOOD, ESQUIRE
CARL HARTMANN, 111, ESQUIRE

07/1712013 FILE FORWARDED TO JUDGE'S CHAMBER

07/16/2013 PROPOSED STIPULATED SCHEDULING ORDER RECEIVED, FILED BY CARL
HARTMANN, ESQ.

07/15/2013 AMENDED COMPLAINT FILED BY NIZAR A. DEWOOD, ESQUIRE

06/25/2013 NOTICE OF ENTRY OF MEMORANDUM AND ORDER
06/24/2013
NIZAR DEWOOD, ESQ.
CARL HARTMANN, lll, ESQ.

06/25/2013 NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER
06/24/2013
NIZAR DEWOOD, ESQ.
CARL HARTMANN, llI, ESQ.
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06/24/2013

06/24/2013

06/12/2013

06/04/2013

05/22/12013

05/13/2013

05/09/2013

05/01/2013

04/30/12013

04/30/2013

04/29/2013

04/24/2013

04/23/2013

04/15/2013

03/20/2013

03/07/2013

03/06/2013

03/06/2013

03/05/2013

03/05/2013

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER SIGNED BY JUDGE MICHAEL C. DUNSTON;
IT IS ORDERED THAT DEFENDANT'S APRIL 15, 2013 MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON
THE PLEADINGS IS GRANTED IN PART AND DENIED IN PART WITHOUT
PREJUDICE; AND IT IS ORDERED THAT THE PORTION OF PLAINTIFF'S
COMPLAINT RELATED TC AN ALLEGED CERTIFIED CHECK FOR SEVENTY
THOUSAND DOLLARS IS DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE; ETC.

ORDER SIGNED BY JUDGE MICHAEL C. DUNSTON; IT IS ORDERED THAT BY
JULY 12, 2013, THE PARTIES SHALL CONDUCT A SCHEDULING CONFERENCE
PURSUANT TO RULE 26(f) OF THE FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE AND
SHALL SUBMIT TO THE COURT BY JUNE 18, 2013 AWRITTEN REPORT SETTING
FORTH A PROPSED DISCOVERY PLAN AND PROPOSED SCHEDULING ORDER
APPROVING THE SAME AND ADOPTING IT AS THE SCHEDULING ORDER IN THIS
CASE;

FILE FORWARDED TO JUDGE'S CHAMBER

DEFENDANT HAMED'S REPLY TO PLAINTIFF'S OPPOSITION TO THE MOTION FOR
JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS RECEIVED, FILED BY CARL J. HARTMANN, ll1,
ESQ.

AMENDED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE RECEIVED
SUBMITTED BY NIZAR DEWOOD, ESQ.

FILE RETURNED TO THE CLERK'S OFFICE
FILE FORWARDED TO JUDGE'S CHAMBERS

PLAINTIFF'S RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR
JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS FILED BY NIZAR DEWOOD, ESQUIRE.

FILE RETURNED TO THE CLERKS OFFICE

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER DATED:

04/29/2013

CARL HARTMANN, ESQUIRE via EMAIL: carl@carlhartman.com
NIZAR A. DEWOOD, ESQUIRE 888-398-84289(FAX)

ORDER SIGNED BY JUDGE MICHAEL C. DUNSTON--ORDERED THAT PLAINTIFF
SHALL RESPOND TO THE MOTION BY MAY 13,2 013, AND DEFENDANT MAY REPLY
BY MAY 24, 2013.

FILE FORWARDED TO JUDGE'S CHAMBER
NOTICE OF APPEARANCE RECEIVED FROM JOSEPH DIRUZZO, ESQUIRE.

MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS, MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF
MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS AND ORDER
SUBMITTED BY CARL HARTMANN, ESQ.

ANSWER FILED BY CARL HARTMANN, ESQUIRE
CASE SENT FRON NON-JURY TO JURY

FEE RECEIVED 75.00
RECEIPT # - 00128893

RETURN OF SERVICE FOR 20 DAY SUMMONS FOR WAHEED HAMED RETURNED
SERVED ON 3/5/13.

DIRECT JUDGE ASSIGNMENT Hon. Michael C. Dunston MCD
COMPLAINT AND SUMMONS FILED BY NIZAR A. DEWOOD, ESQ.

JA -29-
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03/05/2013 FILING FEE ASSESSED
03/05/2013 CIVIL LITIGANT PERSONAL DATA FORMS FILED BY NIZAR A. DEWOOD, ESQ.
03/05/2013 20 DAY SUMMONS ISSUED

03/05/2013 DOCKETING LETTER AND NOTICE OF JUDGE ASSIGNMENT PROCESSED BY CLERK

TOTAL NUMBER OF ENTRIES. 79
PREPARED BY:
.tiii**END OF REPORT***.D*'
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS & ST. JOHN

CIV.NO. SX-13-CV-

UNITED CORPORATION )
)
Plaintiff ; &
vs. ) ACTION FOR DAMAGES &
) CIVIL ACTION .-'.7
)
) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED ::
) =
WAHEED HAMED ) &
(a/i/a Willy, Willy Hamed) ) -
) L}
Defendant )
i )
COMPLAINT

Plaintiff United Corporation, hereinafter (“United"), and by and through its undersigned

counsel complains of Defendant Waheed Hamed, hereinafter (“Hamed") as follows:

L BACKGROUND

L. This is a civil action for damages (bdlh compensatory and punitive) recoupment,
conversion, accounting, constructive trust, breach of contract, and breach of various fiduciary
duties against Defendant Waheed Hamed, an employee of Plaintiff’ United. This complaint
includes causes of action against Defendant Waheed Hamed for defalcating, and misappropriating
significant funds belonging to Plaintill' United, arising out of Defendant Hamed's tenure as
manager of the operations of the Plaza Extra Supermarket store in St. Thomas, V.1. as well as other
locations. Further, this civil action names John Doe 1-10 as persons who have worked knowingly,

and jointly with Waheed Hamed in the commission of each of the causes of action alleged herein.
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Untted v. tWakeed Homed
Poge2¢f9

II.  JURISDICTION, VENUE, & DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
2. This Court has personal jurisdiction, subject matter jurisdiction, and the amount in
controversy is satisfied, pursuant to 4 VIC §76.
3. Venue is proper in the District of St. Thomas because the defendant is a resident of St.
Thomas, Virgin Islands, and the facts underlying the causes of action arose in said District,
pursuant to 4 VIC § 78.
4, A trial by jury is demanded pursuant to 4 VIC § 80.

IIl. THE PARTIES

5. Plaintiff United Corporation is a duly organized Virgin [slands Corporation since January
of 1979, and is authorized to conduct business in the Virgin Islands. PlaintifT is sui juris.
6. Plaintiff is owned completely in various shares by Fathi Yusuf, Fawzia Yusuf, Maher
Yusuf, Nejeh Yusuf, Zayed Yusuf, and Yusuf Yusuf, hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Yusuf Family".
7. Defendant Waheed Hamed is a natural person and is a resident of St. Thomas, U.S, Virgin
Islands. At all times relevant to this action, Defendant Hamed has been an employee of Plaintiff
United.
8. Defendants John Doe 1 to 10, upon information, are employees, family, friends, and agents
of Defendant Hamed who have participated and/or assisted defendant Waheed Hamed with the
defalcation, conversion, and concealment of substantial assets that are the sole property of Plaintiff
Unitcd. John Doe 1 to 10 may be both natural persons and/or incorporated or unincorporated

associations/entities. Each is suf juris.

Pags 2 of 9

JA -32-



Complalns
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IV. FACTS
9. In 1992, Plaintiff United hired Waheed Hamed es an employee, and assigned him
managerial duties at the Plaza Extra supermarket located in Tutu Park, St. Thomas, U.S. Virgin
Islands. Defendant Hamed managed and collected significant cash and ather assets on behalf of
Plaintiff United during the course of his employment.
10.  In 2003, Plaintiff United, Fathi Yusuf, Maher Yusuf, and Defendant Waheed Hamed, and
the Defondant’s brother Waleed Hamed, among others, were indicted in the case of U.S. v United
Corporation, case no. 15-¢cr-2005 (D.V.1.).
1. During nine years of criminal proceedings, the U.S, Department of Justice and federal law
enforcement (collectively the “U.S. Government"), gathered significant financial documents,
including but not limited to tax retums, financial ledgers, accounting records, and various other
documents concerning the parties herein, Prior to the release of the documents in October of 2011
to Plaintiff United, none of the officers of Plaintiff United had any actual or constructive
knowledge of Defendant Hamed's conduct, financial affairs, or tax returns.
12.  During a review and inventory of the documents and. files delivered and returned by the
U.S. Government to Plaintiff United, Plaintiff United reviewed documents comprising tax returns
for Waheed Hamed, inciuding but not limited to Defendant’s tax returns for the years
13, With the exception of his salarled position with United Corporation, Defendant Waheed
Hamed never had any other significant source of income from business operations, investments,

etc., prior to or during his empioyment tenure with Plaintiff United.

Page 3 of 9
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14. In October of 2011, upon information, a review of the U.S. Government records and files by
the treasurer of Plaintiff United further revealed that without Plaintlff United's knowledge or
consent, Defendant Waheed Hamed convereted $70,000 in cash belonging to Plaintiff United
by purchasing a Cenrtified Check, dated October 7™ 1995, made payable to a third party
unrelated to Plaintiff United, or any of Plaintiff's business operations.

15. Defendant Waheed Hamed owed absolute duty of loyalty and care to United Corporation to act
in its best interest and not 10 usurp any of Plaintiff's assets and business opportunity that would
otherwise inure to PlainiifT’s benefit.

16. A further review of Defendant Waheed Hamed's tax retumns, including Defendant’s 1992 Tax
Return, obtained from the United States Government also revealed that Defendant Hamed had
engaged in a separate and secretive wholesale grocery business called 5 Comner's Mini Mart.

17. Defendant Waheed Hamed was never permitted to acquire, engage, or manage any business
that may compete with the operations of the Plaza Extra Stores. Defendant Hamed never
disclosed to his employer that he was operating a separate wholesale grocery business called “5
Comer's Mini Mart.”

18. Defendant Hamed’s sole income in 1992 did not exceed $35,000, and Defendant Hamed never
had any other businesses or employment to produce additional revenue to purchase and sell
grocery inventory to other retailers.

19. The scale and scope of the wholesale business as indicated in Defendant Hamed's tax returns
demonstrates substantial inventory, upon information, belonging to Plaintiff United were

misappropriated by Defendant Hamed to operate his wholesale business.

Page 4 of 9
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20. To date, Defendant Waheed Hamed refuses to explain and account to Plaintiff United for any
of the aforementioned funds, inventory, and the business opportunities Defendant Hamed
diverted to his personal benefit.

V.  CAUSES OF ACTION
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTIES

21.  Plaintiff incorporates paragraphs | through 20 inclusive as if fully set forth verbatim
herein.
22.  As an agent and employee of Plaintiff United, a corporate entity, Defendant Waheed
Hamed owes fiduciary duties to the entity. Included in the fiduciary duty is the duty of loyalty. Not
only is it Defendant Waheed Hamed's duty to praperly manage the business affairs of the Plaza
Extra Supermarket stores for the benefit of Plaintiff United, he is not permitted to place himself in
a position where it would be for his own benefit to violate the duty.
23.  Defendant Waheed Hamed has breached the following duties (the list of duties violated by

Defendant Hamed, below is not intended to be an exhaustive or exclusive list):

a. Duty of Loyalty

b. Duty of good faith and candor,

¢. Duty to manage the day-lo-day operations of Plaintiff United's Plaza Extra supermarket
for the benefit of United;

d. Duty of full disclosure of all matters affecting his employer Plaintiff United;

e. Duty to rcfrain from self-dealing, and/or general prohibition against the fiduciary using his
relationship lo benefit his personal interest; and

f. Duty to manage any funds, asscts, and/or property belonging to Plaintiff United by virtue

Page 5 of 9
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of ils operation of the Plaza Extra Supermarket stores in aceordance with applicable laws,

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST/RECOUPMENT

24. Plaintiff incorporates paragraphs 1 through 23 as if fully set forth verbatim herein.

25. As an agent and employce of Plaintiff United, Defendant Hamed owes namerous fiduciary
dutiés to Plaintiff United and its sharcholders.. Not only is it Deféndant Humed's duty to properly
manage the business affairs of the Plaza Exira Sypermarket stores for the bencfit of Plalntiff
United, but Defendant Hamed also is not permitted to place himself in a position where it would-be
lior biis-own benefit to viplate the-duty.

26. Defendinnt Hamed ‘has -engoged in misappropiatlon.‘of substantial and valuable assets. of
PlaintilT" United causing subsiontinl injury W PRaimill United. As o fesull, Plaintiff’ United tiny
sustairied significant Annnginl injugy,

27. As such; # cohstructive Irust should be fmwposed. fo. pather and sccount for afl assels

misappropriated by.Defendam Hamed that belonjzs-to Plafritl’ United..

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
C'ONVERSION.

28. Plointiff re-incorporates paragraphs 1 through inclusive as if fujly sct forth verbatim herein.
29. Defendant Waheed Hamed hos knowingly converted substantial funds and assets: belonging to
Plaintlff' United. Plaintiff never consented or agreed (o Defendarit Hamed's unauthorized use afiits,

funds and assets. As such, Defendunl Hamed is tinble for conversion.

Paye 6 of D
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FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
BREACH OF CONTRACT

30, Plaintiff incorporates paragraphs 1 through 37 inclusive as if fully set forth verbatim herein.
31. Defendant was an at-will employee of Plaintiff United.
32, As an at-will employee of Plaintiff United, Defendant Hamed had a contractual duty to act in
good faith, and to properly manage the business affairs of the Plaza Extra Supermarket stores for
the benefit of Plaintiff United.
33. Defendant Hamed has breached his contractual duties to Plaintiff United, causing Plaintiff
substantial economic and financial harm. As a result, Defendant Hamed is liable to Plaintiff for

breach of contract,

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
ACCOUNTING

34. Plaintiff incorporates paragraphs 1 through 33 inclusive as if fully set forth verbatim herein.
35. As agent and employee of Plaintiff United, Defendant Hamed was under full contractual
obligation and other fiduciary duties to perform his functions as a manager with competence,
integrity, and honesty to Plaintiff United Corporation and its shareholders. Defendant Hamed was
not permitted to place himself in a position where it would be for his own benefit to violate the
duty.

36. Defendant Hamed has breached his employment contractual agreement with Plaintiff United
by mismanaging, misappropriating, and converting funds, monies, and other valuables to his
personal use. As a result, Plaintiff United has sustained substantial financial damages.

37. As such, Plaintiff United is entitlcd a full accounting of all monies, funds, and assets

unlawfully appropriated by Defendant Hamed.

Page 7 of 9
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V1. RELIEF REQUESTED

Wherefore, Plaintiff United Corporation, and its shareholders, respectfully pray for the
following relief:

a. Actual and compensatory damages to be determined at trial.
b. Punitive damages for the intentional defalcation of funds and damages caused to Plaintiff
United Corporation.
¢. A complete accounting and constructive trust of all funds, assets, opportunities, and other
valuables converted and or misappropriated by Defendant Hamed.
d. Costs of all professional fees that may be cequired for the audit and Investigation of this
matter..
e. A return of all documents, including but not limited to electronically stored information,
belonging to Plaintiff United in the possession (both actual and constructive) of Defendarit
Hamed.
f. A Restraining Order precluding Defendant Hamed from:
i Physically returning, or attempting to return, to any of the Plaza Extra supermarket
stores;
il. Accessing, or attempting to access, any bank accounts belonging to United
Corporation for any purpose;
ifl. Contacting, or attempting to contact, any employee of Plaintiff United concerning

the operations and management of the Plaza Extra Supermarkets;

Page 8ul9
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iv.  Preclude Defendant Waheed Hemed from contacting any business associates of
Plaintiff United;

Y. Preclude Defendant Waheed Hamed from representing to third-parties that he is an
employee of Plaza Extra;

vi. Accessing, or attempting to access, any of Plaintiff United’s, including but not
limited to the Plaza Extra Supermarkets, books, records, and information regarding as to
location or manner of storage; )

vii.  Attorney's fees, court costs, and any other relief the court deems equitable.
Date: March 5, 2013

Respectfully Submitted,

DeWood Law Firm
Counsel for Plaintiff United

By: LA  —
Nizar eWo@, Esq. (1177)

Eastern Suburb, Suite 102

Christiansted, V.]. 00820

1. (340) 773-3444

f. (888) 398:-8428

Page 9 of 9
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(CIVIL ACTION - ORIGINAL)
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| : -
IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST, THOMAS & ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION,
Plaintiff, CIVIL NO. §T-13-Cv-__ IO}
vs. ':"-.-.’:
| ACTION FOR DAMAGES =
WAHEED HAMED, R %
t
(a/k/a Willy, Willy Hamed) 1 JURY TRIAL DEMANDED ";
Defendant. 1 ::*
—_ — - 'l -6_,-
TO: WAHEED HAMED
ADDRESS: C/O PLAZA EXTRA - TUTU PARK
St. Thomas, V| 00802

YCU ARE HEREBY SUMMGNED and required to file with the Clerk of this Court and
serve upon:

Plaintiff's Attorney:

MNIZAR A. DEWDOD, ESQ.
2006 Eastern Siburb, Ste. 101
Christiansted, Vi 00820
T: (340) 773-3444
F: (888) 398-8428

an answer to the complaint which is herewith served upon you, within twenty (20) days
after service of this summons|upon you, exclusive of the day of service. If you fail to do
complaint.

so, judgment by default will be taken against you for the relief demanded in the
\

Witness my hand and the sea{ of this Court this -f\% day of &‘ﬂan:h

, 2013,

VENETIA H. VEILASQUEZ, ESQ.
Clerk of the Couri
Nigar A

eWood, Esquire
Attorney for Plaintiff

BY DEPUTY CLERK
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS/ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATON, |
Plaintiff, s Case No.:2013-CV-101
V. H
WAHEED HAMED, ACTION FOR DAMAGES
(a/k/a Willy, Willy Hamed) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
Defendant.

MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS
COMES NOW the Defendant, Waheed Hamed, and hereby moves pursuant to Rule 12(c)
for judgment on the pleadings. The basis of this motion is more fully set forth in the attached
memorandum, which is incorporated herein by reference. For the reasons set forth therein, it is
respectfully submitted that the relief sought should be granted and this case should be dismissed

with prejudice. A proposed order is also being submitted with this motion.

Dated: April 15, 2013 M,/

CarlJ. uurﬁnun?f. Esq. (Bar No. 48)
Counsel for the Defondum

5000 Estate Coakley Bay, L-6
Christiansted, V100820

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 15" day of April, 2013, I served a copy of the foregoing
Motion by hand on:

Nizar A. DeWood
-7

The DeWood Law Firm
2006 Eastern Suburb, Suite 101 Z/ W\
Christiansted, VI 00820 R ‘
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS/ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATON, |
Plaintiff, X Case No.:2013-CV-101
Va I
1'
WAHEED HAMED, . ACTION FOR DAMAGES
(a/k/a Willy, Willy Hamed) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
Defendant.
{

ORDER
This matter is before the Court on the Plaintiff’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings.
Upon consideration of the matters before the Court, the motion is granted and this Complaint is

dismissed with prejudice.

Dated:

HON. MICHAEL C. DUNSTON
JUDGE OF THE SUPERIOR COURT

ATTEST: VENETIA VELAZQUEZ
Clerk of the Court

BY: . e o
Deputy Clerk

Dist.: Nizar DeWood
Carl Hartmann
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS/ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION,
|
Plaintiff, ‘ Case No.:2013-CV-101
Y.
WAHEED HAMED, ACTION FOR DAMAGES
(a/k/a Willy or Willic Hamed), '
1

| 4URY TRIALDEMANDED

Defendant. !

pus - =

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS

The Defendant, Waheed Hamed, hereby moves for judgment on the pleadings pursuant to
Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(c), which provides in relevant part::

(c) MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS. After the pleadings are

closed—but early enough not to delay trial—a party may move for judgment on the

pleadings.
The pleadings are closed, so this matter is ripe for a Rule 12(c) motion.

While there are many defenses to plaintiff's complaint, the most obvious one is statute of
limitations, which is properly raised by a Rule 12(c) motion. See, 5C Wright and Miller, Federal
Practice and Procedure (2004), §1367 at p. 211 (with cases cited in n.9).

In this regard, the allegations in the complaint allege two separate transactions to support
the five counts.! The first act of alleged wrongdoing is set forth in Paragraph 14, alleging
conversion of $70,000 in cash in 1997. In paragraphs 15 to 19, it is further alleged that in 1992,

defendant was involved in a competing grocery business. There are no other factual averments of

any wrongdoing other than these two acts -- in 1992 and 1997.

' The complaint avers six cou1-1ts, but Count V was omitted
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Memorandum in Support of Defendant’s Rule 12(c) Motion
Page 2

Plaintiff seeks relief for breach of fiduciary duty, constructive trust/recoupment,
conversion, breach of contract, conversion and accounting. The statute of limitations has expired
on all five of these counts. Chapter 3 of Title 5 of the Virgin Islands Code provides that the
longest statute of limitations period is 20 years, but that this provision it applies only to disputes
related to real property. See 5 V.I.C. §31(1). The statutes of limitations for all other causes of
action expire after 10 years or less pursuant to 5 V.I.C. §31, so this Court need not reach the
issue of which specific limitations period applies to each cause of action (e.g., 6 years for
contract, 2 years for conversion, ctc.) as clearly more than 10 years have passed since the dates
of the alleged wrongdoings in 1992 and 1997.

Likewise, regarding the equitable claims such as constructive trust/recoupment and
accounting, 5 V.I.C.§ 32(a) provides:

(a) An action of an equitable nature shall only be commenced within the time limited to
commence an action as provided in this chapter.

Thus, since none of the counts involve claims related to real property, the equitable claims are
also time barred since they are over 10 years old without the need to decide whether a more
specific statute of limitations applies.

In summary, the factual basis for the five counts alleged in the complaint were in 1992

and 1997, so they are all time barred by the statute of limitations defense. As such, this matter

should be dismissed with prejudice. ) >

Carl J. Hartutan’'IH, Esq. (Bar No. 48)
Counsel for the Defendant

5000 Estate Coakley Bay, L-6
Christiansted, VI 00820

(340) 719-8941

carl@carlhartmann.com

Dated: April 15, 2013
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Memorandum in Support of Defendant’s Rule 12(c) Motion
Page 3

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 15" day of April, 2013, I served a copy of the foregoing
Motion by hand on:

Nizar A. DeWood

The DeWood Law Firm < .
2006 Eastern Suburb, Suite 101 U/Z -—g A .

Christiansted, V1 00820
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS & ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION ) CIV. NO. SX-13-CV-101
)
Plaintiff )
)
VS. ) ACTION FOR DAMAGES
) CIVIL ACTION
)
) PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE IN OP
) TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR
WAHEED HAMED ) JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS
(a/k/a Willy, Willy Hamed) )
)
Defendant )
)

PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION
FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS
COMES NOW, Plaintiff United Corporation, and hereby files this Response in
Opposition to Defendant’s Motion pursuant to Rule 12(c) for Judgment on the
pleadings. For the following reasons, it is respectfully requested that Defendant’s

Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings be denied.

1. On March 5™, 2013, Plaintiff filed suit alleging conversion, breach of contract,
constructive trust, and breach of fiduciary against Waheed Hamed, an employee of

Plaintiff United Corporation.

2. Defendant’s Rule 12(c) Motion alleges without more that because funds were
alleged to have been taken between 1992 and 1997, the statute of limitations would
bar any cause of action arising out of the conversion of these funds, regardless of
whether the Plaintiff knew or had reason to know of Defendant’s misconduct.

Defendant fails to cite anything in support of this foregoing argument.
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Plaintiff"s Response in Opposition to Defendant’s
Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings
United v. Waheed Hamed; 13-cv-01

Puge 2 of 4

. In support of his Motion, Defendant simply recites the various statute of limitations

for the various causes of action in the Virgin Islands, and proceeds to conclude that
because any cause of action alleged against the Defendant would fall outside the

Statute of Limitations, Plaintiff’s complaint should be dismissed.

. Conveniently, Defendant does not argue that the statute of limitations for the causes

of action in the complaint could be tolled because Plaintiff never, and could not have
known of Defendant’s defalcation unti) Plaintiff obtained the information from the

U.S. Attorney’s Office during an unrelated criminal investigation.

. As fully averred in Plaintiff’s Complaint, the funds in question were discovered in

late 2011. Plaintiff’s Complaint states the following facts:

“In October of 2011, upon information, a review of the U.S. Government records and
files by the treasurer of Plaintiff United further revealed that without Plaintiff United’s
knowledge or consent, Defendant Waheed Hamed converted $70,000 in cash
belonging to Plaintiff United by purchasing a Certified Check, dated October 7%, 1995,
made payable to a third party unrelated to Plaintiff United, or any of Plaintiff’s
business operations.”

Complaint, {14.

. Again, Defendant’s Motion fails to state a single fact showing that Plaintiff had any

reason to know of Defendant Hamed’s misconduct. There is no doubt that Plaintiff
could not have known of Defendant’s misconduct because the check in question for
$70,000 was a Certified Check without the name of Defendant Waheed Hamed, and
was obtained from the U.S. Attorney’s Office during an unrelated criminal

investigation only in October of 2011.

. As such, the statute of limitations could not accrue and was tolled because Plaintiff

could not have possibly known of Defendant’s misconduct until a federal

investigation revealed this misconduct.
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PlaintifT"s Response in Opposition to Defendant’s
Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings

United v. Waheed Hamed; 13-cv-01

Page 3of 4

8. This matter requires detailed discovery to determine the origins of the cash used to
purchase the money order in question as well as third party subpoenas in the state of
Florida to the institution that has received these funds without Plaintiff United’s
authorization.

9. As such, at best Defendant’s Motion is premature, at worst it is without merit since it
fails to detail any facts showing Plaintiff’s reasonable knowledge of the facts
underlying Defendant’s conversion of funds.

For the reasons stated above it is respectfully requested that Defendant’s Motion for
Judgment on the Pleadings.

Date: May 1, 2013

Respectfully Submitted,

DeWood Law Firm, LLC
Counsel for Plaintiff

By:

2006 Eastemn Suburb, Suite 102
Christiansted, V.I1. 00820

t. 340.773.3444

f. 888.398.8428
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Plainti({"s Response in Opposition 1o Defendant’s
Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings
United v. Waheed Hamed; 13-cv-01

Pagedof 4

CERTIFICATION OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a true copy of the foregoing Plaintiff Response in
Opposition to Defendant’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings was served on
the Defendant via his counsel at the below address and date via first class mail.

Date: May 1, 2013

Carl J. Hartmann, III
5000 Estate Coakley Bay, L-6
Christiansted, V.1. 00820

WS P

Nizar A. DAWood, Esq.
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS & ST. JOHN
UNITED CORPORATION CIV. NO. SX-13-CV-10l
PlaintifT

VS. ACTION FOR DAMAGES

CIVIL ACTION

WAHEED HAMED
(a/k/a Willy, Willy Hamed)

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
) AMENDED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
)
)
)
)
Defendant )
)

AMENDED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a true copy of the foregoing Plaintiff Response in Opposition
to Defendant’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings was served on the
Defendant via his counsel at the below address and date via EMAIL AND
REGULAR CLASS MAIL.

.

Date: May 21st, 2013 G

Carl J. Hartmann, III
5000 Estate Coakley Bay, L-6
Christiansted, V.1. 00820

Wit

Nizar A. DAVood, Esq.
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS/ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION,
Plaintiff, Case No.:2013-CV-101
V.
WAHEED HAMED, ACTION FOR DAMAGES

(a/k/a Willy or Willie Hamed),
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Defendant.

DEFENDANT HAMED'S REPLY TO PLAINTIFF'S OPPOSITION TO THE
MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS

The complaint in this case was filed in 2013, but seeks relief for two acts in the
1990's. The first act allegedly occurred wholly in 1992 (involving a competing grocery
business) and the second occurred and was completed in 1995 (involving a dispute
over $70,000). By any calculation of time under § V.1.C. §31, the statute of limitations
expired years ago as to both.! Because the complaint is barred by the statute of
limitations on its face, defendant Hamed moved for judgment on the pleadings pursuant
to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(c).2

Without citation to authority, plaintiff filed an opposition asserting that the statute

of limitations was tolled until 2013 as to the 1995 act. It asserts that plaintiff did not

' There are five counts in the complaint seeking relief for breach of fiduciary duty,
constructive trust/recoupment, breach of contract, conversion and accounting. Pursuant
to 5 V.I.C. §31, the statute of limitations for the torts claims is two years and six years

for contract claims.

2 plaintiff's original certificate of service stated the opposition was served some time
ago. However, a corrected certificate of service was filed. It states that the opposition
was served on May 21, 2013. Thus, this reply is timely.
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Reply with Regard to Defendant’s Rule 12(c) Motion
Page 2

realize the meaning of its own accounting documents in its possession beginning in
1995. Without affidavits or other evidence, plaintiffs counsel argues plaintiff's
'discovery' of the meaning of records it had was somehow delayed because the federal
government seized its accounting records between 2002 and 2011. In the opposition,

plaintiff states:

5. As fully averred in Plaintiffs Complaint, the funds in question were
discovered in late 2011. Plaintiffs Complaint states the following facts:

In October of 2011, upon information, a review of the U.S.
Government records and files by the treasurer of Plaintiff United
further revealed that without Plaintiff United’s knowledge or
consent, Defendant Waheed Hamed converted $70,000 in cash
belonging to Plaintiff United by purchasing a Certified Check, dated
October 7th, 1995, made payable to a third party unrelated to
Plaintiff United, or any of Plaintiff's business operations.

Complaint, {]14.

This response is significant for two reasons.

First, the plaintiff concedes (and defendant agrees) this issue can be resolved
solely by reference to the facts set forth on the face of the complaint—as the basis for
its assertion that it just discovered the facts giving rise to this claim is set forth in
paragraph 14. Courts in this jurisdiction have repeatedly held that a motion to dismiss
based on the statute of limitations defense can be addressed on the face of the
complaint if the essential facts are clearly stated. Burton v. First Bank of Puerto Rico,

Civ. No. 554/2005, 2007 WL 2332084 at *3 (V.l. Super, July 19, 2007), citing Vitalo v.

Cabot Corp., 399 F.3d 536, 543 (3d Cir. 2005) (“where the facts are so clear that
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Reply with Regard to Defendant’s Rule 12(c) Motion
Page 3

reasonable minds cannot differ, the commencement period may be determined as a

matter of law”).

Second, while the plaintiff asserts that it just realized it has a claim against the
defendant for $70,000 based on funds accounted for in its 1995 records, it makes no
similar claim as to the alleged 1992 act. Therefore, plaintiff concedes the limitation
issue as to the 1992 act. The 1992 should be summarily dismissed.

Thus, the only question actually before this Court is whether the 1995 claim is
time barred. While plaintiff does not direct this Court to any law to support its argument
that the 1995 claim should be tolled, application of the 'discovery' issue in the Virgin

Islands was discussed in detail in In re Equivest St. Thomas, Inc., 53 Bankr. Ct. Dec.

260, 2010 WL 4343616, at *5-6 (Bankr. D.V.I. Nov. 1, 2010).

Generally, “a statute of limitations begins to run upon the occurrence of
the essential facts which constitute the cause of action.” Simmons v.
Ocean, 544 F. Supp. 841, 843 (D.Vi.1982) (quoting Wilcox v. Plummer's
Executors, (1830)). Under the law of the Virgin Islands, “application of the
equitable 'discovery rule’ tolls the statute of limitation[s] when the injury or
its cause is not immediately evident to the victim." Joseph v. Hess Oil,
867 F.2d179, 182 (3d Cir.1989). Thus, the discovery rule provides that
the statute of limitations period begins to run when the “plaintiff has
discovered, or by exercising reasonable diligence, should have discovered
(1) that she has been injured, and (2) that this injury has been caused by
another party's conduct.” Boehm v. Chase Manhattan Bank, 2002 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 25238, *9, 2002 WL 31986128 (citing New Castle County v.
Halliburton NUS Corp., 111 F.3d 1116, 1124 (3d Cir.1997)).

The Court went on to explain that this is an “objective test”:
The discovery rule is to be applied using an objective reasonable person
standard. Charleswell v. Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., 2009 U.S. Dist.

LEXIS 54519, *35, 2009 WL 1850650 (D.V.1.2009) (citing /n re Tutu Wells
Contamination Litigation, 909 F.Supp. 980, 984 (D.Vi.1995)). The Court of

JA -53-



Reply with Regard to Defendant’s Rule 12(c) Motion
Page 4

Appeals for the Third Circuit explained the requisite “reasonable diligence”
in D.D. v. Idant Laboratories, 2010 U.S.App. LEXIS 6815, *8-9, 2010 WL

1257705 (3d Cir.2010):

Reasonable diligence is an objective test, but it is also
“sufficiently flexible ... to take into account the differencels]
between persons and their capacity to meet certain
situations and the circumstances confronting them at the
time in question.” Fine v. Checcio, 582 Pa. 253, 870 A.2d
850, 858 (Pa.2005) (citations omitted). Demonstrating
reasonable diligence requires a plaintiff to establish that she
displayed “those qualities of attention, knowledge,
intelligence, and judgment which society requires of its
members for the protection of their own interests and the
interests of others.” Wilson [v. El-Daief], 600 Pa. 161, 964
A.2d [354), 363 n. 6 [ (Pa.2009) ] (citation omitted).

This is well-established, black letter law. See, e.g. Vitalo, 399 F.3d at 543 (discovery
rule requires qualities of attention, knowledge, intelligence and judgment which society
requires of its members--subject knowledge is not sufficient to invoke the rule); Burton,
2007 WL 2332084 (applying an objective, rather than a subjective, standard when

determining whether an individual demonstrated reasonable diligence in ascertaining

the source of his injury).?

3 Equivest also addressed the doctrine of "equitable tolling” but the plaintiff has not
argued that doctrine is applicable here, as it only argued that it did not ‘discover’ the
facts giving rise to this claim until 2011. Equitable tolling involves factors not alleged by
the plaintiff to have occurred here (which are applied pursuant to the same standards as
tolling under the “discovery rule*), described in Equivest, supra at *6:

Equitable tolling may be appropriate if (1) the defendant has actively
misled the plaintiff, (2) if the plaintiff has ‘in some extraordinary way' been
prevented from asserting his rights, or (3) if the plaintiff has timely
asserted his rights mistakenly in the wrong forum.
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Reply with Regard to Defendant’s Rule 12(c) Motion
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Plaintiff clearly did not apply reasonable diligence, under the “objective standard,”
regarding a 2013 discovery of the 1995 claim for $70,000 based on records in its
possession beginning in 1995. The 2013 'discovery’ involved the basic accounting
records of a company from 1995. Plaintiff offered no explanation as to why it
"objectively” could not have discovered the loss of $70,000 from its business in 1995
through 2001—during the six years when it had access to the basic accounting records
before. they were seized by the government. (The complaint alleges this seizure
occurred 9 years before 2011.) The statute of limitations had run before the seizure.
(Moreover, the complaint makes it clear that even more time—easily exceeding a total
of 7 years—passed if one adds the time after the documents were returned, to the initial
period before the seizure!)

Burton v. First Bank of Puerto Rico is directly on point here. Plaintiff claimed she
did not realize her bank had not cashed a check she had deposited to pay off her
mortgage, but the Court held that where all of the information was in her possession,
the failure to consider or understand the implications of the documents did not warrant
the application of the discovery rule to toll the statute of limitations on her breach of
contract and negligence claims against the bank. In reaching this conclusion, the court
held that the plaintiff had not exercised reasonable diligence in recognizing that funds
were still in the account, using an “objective’ standard” in making this determination.
The identical reasoning applies here, as plaintiff certainly had its records available to it

for over 6 years to ascertain this alleged loss of $70,000 before the government seized
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Reply with Regard to Defendant’s Rule 12(c) Motion
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the records. That time extends to over seven years if the time after return of the
documents prior to 2013 is added.

In short, the plaintiff has failed to satisfy the burden on a party seeking such
tolling. Clearly a plaintiff has to: (1) act within a total of 7+ years, and (2) present more
facts to justify suspending the statute of limitations under the “objective test”. Simply
asserting it subjectively 'just learned' about an alleged claim is not enough. Otherwise
any plaintiff could force any case to trial by just claiming ignorance, which is what the
statute of limitations is intended to guard against. 4

As there is no “objective basis” for concluding that the plaintiff acted diligently in
determining the loss of this $70,000 from its business, it is not entitled to the benefit of
the "discovery rule” in pursuing these alleged claims (that occurred in 1992 and 1995)
for the first time in 2013. The same analysis would apply under the “equitable tolling”
rule as well, had the plaintiff raised it.

This 2013 complaint seeking relief for acts in 1992 and 1995 is time barred under

the statute of limitations defense on its face. It should be dismissed.

4 For example, while completely irrelevant to the issues raised in this motion, the
$70,000 check in dispute was actually given as a donation to a private school in the
Florida See Exhibit 1. As noted by the email from the lawyer who tracked this down,
the school believes it was given by one of the shareholders of the plaintiff, Yusef Yusef.
The point is that this information is now quite stale, which is one of the primary reasons
for having a limitations period—to protect defendants from stale claims that are difficult

to defend.
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Dated: June 4, 2013

CounsdVfor' tHe Defendant
5000 Estate Coakley Bay, L-6
Christiansted, VI 00820

(340) 719-8941
cari@carhartmann.com

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| hereby certify that on this 4™ day of June 2013, | served a copy of the foregoing

Motion by hand on:

Nizar A. DeWood

The DeWood Law Fimn

2006 Eastern Suburb, Suite 101
Christiansted, VI 00820

and by Email on:

Joseph A. DiRuzzo, Il
Fuerst ittleman David & Joseph, PL
1001 Brickell Bay Drive, 32™. Fl.
Miami, FL 33131

305-350-5690
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Willie Hamed

From: Randy Andreozzi <rpa@abfmwb.com>
Sent: Monday, July 02, 2012 12:26 PM
To:

Nejeh Yusuf {(nejeh27@earthlink.net) (nejeh27 @earthlink.net); Mike Yusuf {mikefyusuf@yahoo.com); Joel Holt (Holtvi@aol.com);
joel@holtvi.com; dewoodlaw@gmail.com; Gordon Rhea; Pamela Colon {pamelalcolon@msn.com); smock@islands.vi; Wally

Hamed (wallyhstx@yahoo.com); Wally (wally@plazaextra.com); willie@plazaextra.com; howard.epstein@freedmaxick.com;
ron.soluri@freedmaxick.com; Randy Andreozzi

Cc: Tracy Marien
Subject: FW: Donation inquiry

Hello Everyone;

t am forwarding an email we received today from the Universal Academy of Florida regarding the inquiry on the $70,000 payment to that institution. Mike or

Nejeh, would you please forward to Mr. Yusuf? Please call if you have any questions. You may also contact Ms. Paula Nawawi, the bookkeeper for the
institution who was our contact. Her contact information is below.

Thanks and best regards,

Randy

Randall P. Andreozzi

Partner

Andreozzi, Bluestein, Fickess, Muhlbauer Weber, Brown LLP
9145 Main Street

Clarence, New York 14031

Phone: (716} 565-1100

Fax: (716) 565-1920

In accordance with IRS requirements, we inform you that any Federal tax advice contained in this communication is not intended or written

to be used, and cannot be used, for the purpose of (i) avoiding penalties under the Internal Reverue Code or (ii) promoting, marketing, or
recommending to another party any transaction or matter addressed herein.

Notice of Privacy and Confidentiality: The information contained within this electronic mail is being sent by an attorney and is intended to
be received and read only by certain individuals and is attorney-client privileged, confidential information and work product. It may
1
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contain information that is privileged and/or protected from disclosure by law. No addressee should forward, print, copy, or otherwise
reproduce this message in any manner that would allow it to be viewed by any individual not originally listed as a recipient without the

consent of the author. If you have received this message in error, please notify me by replying and then delete both my message and your
reply and destroy any paper copies. Thank you.

From: Tracy Marien

Sent: Monday, July 02, 2012 12:15 PM
To: Randy Andreozzi

Subject: FW: Donation inquiry

From: Paula Nawawi [mailto:paulan@uaftampa.org]
Sent: Monday, July 02, 2012 11:12 AM

To: Tracy Marien

Subject: Donation inquiry

Hey Tracy,

Regarding that donation, our former Principal says that she believes the donation was made by Yusuf Yusuf. We were asking for donations for
trailers for the school, the cost of the project was $270,000. and this man donated $70,000.

Take care,

Paula Nawawi

Bookkeeper

Universal Academy of Florida
Ph: (813)664-0695 x1511
Fax: (813)664-4506

Email: paulan@uaftampa.org

2
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To: Cari Hantmann

~age 3 ot 4 2013.07-70 20:688:04 (QMT) Carl Hertmonn  Frorm: Corl Hartmoenn

'UNITED CORPORATON

IN THE: SUPERIOR COURT OF. THE VlRGIN ISLANDS
- DIVISION OF ST THOMASIST JOHN

Plamttff .| - CaseNo.:2013.CV-101

(a/k/a Willy, Willy Hamed)

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED =
Defendant. : , =

agreelo the following Scheduling Order: -

B}

RULE: 26'b|scwsunss |

The parties shall serve disclosures, pursuant to Fed R Civ. P26(a)(|) by..
September 1,2013. : o o

' FACTUAL DISCOVERY

~ Ali factual discovery, nncluding wntten dlscovery and fact wttness deposn
. be completed by April 1, 2014, -

PLAlNTIFF’S EXPERT*REPORTS -

Plaintiff's expert disclosures pursuant to Federal Rule of Cwul Procedure

_'26(a)(2) if any. shali be submitted by June 30 2014

.PROPOSED STIPULATED SCHEDULING ORDER

- COME NOW, the F’ames by and through thelr counsel and- hereby stlpulate andf}

if any, shall be submltted by May 1, 2014,
DEFENDANT’S EXPERT REPORTS B

Defendant's expert disclosures pursuant to Federal Rule of Cwnl Procedure
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Toa: Carl Hanmann FPogo 4 of 4 2013.07-10 20:660:04 (OMT) Cearl Hartmonn From: Coarn Hart

PR

Stipulated Scheduling Order -
Page 2

4, EXPERT DEPOSITIONS

' rDeposmons of experts and other. health care provrders shall be completed by~ |
30, 2014 ) , . . ; r

5. MEDIATION
: Medlatlon shall be completed not later than Septemberd 2014};: ;7

6. - MOTIONS - IR

| All drsposrtwe motlons shall be fi Ied by November 1"?:'2014 |

7. STATUS CONFERENCE

A status conference wlll be held as scheduled by t te
8. TRIAL DATE :
A trial date quI be scheduled by the Court.

Counsel for the parties have conferred Counsel for- the Plalntll‘f lear
DeWood, Esq., 2006 Eastem Suburb Suite 101 Chrlstlansted VI 00820 has agreed

undersigned counsel 'S the f Img of this. document for both -

_Dated: July10,2013 .

5000 Estate Coakley Ba #.
.- Christiansted, V1 00820
. .Telephone: (340) 719-8941
e Emall carl@carlhartmann com

 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

A true and accurate copy of this document was. served by emarl on Plal . c
per the agreement of the parhes this 10th day of July. 2013 7




IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS & ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION ) CIV.NO. SX-13-CV-
)
Plaintiff ) ACTION FOR DAMAGES
) CIVIL ACTION
VS. )
) AMENDED COMPLAINT
)
WAHEED HAMED )
(a/k/a Willy, Willy Hamed) ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
)
Defendant )
)
AMENDED COMPLAINT

Plaintiff United Corporation, hereinafter (“United”), and by and through its undersigned

counsel complains of Defendant Waheed Hamed, hereinafter (“Hamed”) as follows:

L BACKGROUND

1. This is a civil action for damages (both compensatory and punitive) recoupment, conversion,
accounting, constructive trust, breach of contract, and breach of various fiduciary duties against
Defendant Waheed Hamed, an employee of Plaintiff United. This complaint includes causes of
action against Defendant Waheed Hamed for defalcating, and misappropriating significant funds
belonging to Plaintiff United, arising out of Defendant Hamed’s tenure as manager of the operations
of the Plaza Extra Supermarket store in St. Thomas, V.1. as well as other locations. Further, this
civil action names John Doe 1-10 as persons who have worked knowingly, and jointly with Waheed

Hamed in the commission of each of the causes of action alleged herein.
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Amended Complaint
United v. Waheed Humed
Page 2 of 9

IL JURISDICTION, VENUE, & DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
2. This Court has personal jurisdiction, subject matter jurisdiction, and the amount in
controversy is satisfied, pursuant to 4 VIC §76.
3 Venue is proper in the District of St. Thomas because the defendant is a resident of St.
Thomas, Virgin Islands, and the facts underlying the causes of action arose in said District, pursuant
to4 VIC § 78.
4, A trial by jury is demanded pursuant to 4 VIC § 80.

III. THE PARTIES

5. Plaintiff United Corporation is a duly organized Virgin Islands Corporation since January of
1979, and is authorized to conduct business in the Virgin Islands. Plaintiff is sui juris.
6. Plaintiff is owned completely in various shares by Fathi Yusuf, Fawzia Yusuf, Maher Yusuf,
Nejeh Yusuf, Zayed Yusuf, and Yusuf, hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Yusuf Family”.
7. Defendant Waheed Hamed is a natural person and is a resident of St. Thomas, U.S. Virgin
Islands. At all times relevant to this action, Defendant Hamed has been an employee of Plaintiff
United.
8. Defendants John Doe 1 to 10, upon information, are employees, family, friends, and agents
of Defendant Hamed who have participated and/or assisted defendant Waheed Hamed with the
defalcation, conversion, and concealment of substantial assets that are the sole property of Plaintiff
United. John Doe 1 to 10 may be both natural persons and/or incorporated or unincorporated

associations/entities. Each is sui juris.

Page 2 of 9
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Amended Complaint
United v. Waheed Hamed
Page 3 of 9

IV. FACTS
9. In 1992, Plaintiff United hired Waheed Hamed as an employee, and assigned him managerial
duties at the Plaza Extra supermarket located in Tutu Park, St. Thomas, U.S. Virgin Islands.
Defendant Hamed managed and collected significant cash and other assets on behalf of Plaintiff
United during the course of his employment.
10. In 2003, Plaintiff United, Fathi Yusuf, Maher Yusuf, and Defendant Waheed Hamed, and
the Defendant’s brother Waleed Hamed, among others, were indicted in the case of U.S. v United
Corporation, case no. 15-cr-2005 (D.V.1.).
11.  During nine years of criminal proceedings, the U.S. Department of Justice and federal law
enforcement (collectively the “U.S. Government”), gathered significant financial documents,
including but not limited to tax returns, financial ledgers, accounting records, and various other
documents concerning the parties herein. Prior to the release of the documents in October of 2010
to Plaintiff United, none of the officers of Plaintiff United had any actual or constructive knowledge
of Defendant Hamed’s conduct, financial affairs, or tax returns.
12.  During areview and inventory of the documents and files delivered and returned by the U.s.
Government to Plaintiff United, Plaintiff United reviewed documents comprising tax returns for
Waheed Hamed, including but not limited to Defendant’s tax returns for the years
13. With the exception of his salaried position with United Corporation, Defendant Waheed
Hamed never had any other significant source of income from business operations, investments, etc.,

prior to or during his employment tenure with Plaintiff United.

Page 30f 9
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Amended Complaint
United v. Waheed Hamed
Page 4 of 9

14.

15.

16.

17.

19.

Defendant Waheed Hamed owed an absolute duty of loyalty and care to United Corporation to
act in its best interest and not to usurp any of Plaintiff’s assets and business opportunity that
would otherwise inure to Plaintiff’s benefit.

A further review of Defendant Waheed Hamed’s tax returns, including Defendant’s 1992 Tax
Return, obtained from the United States Government also revealed that Defendant Hamed had
engaged in a separate and secretive wholesale grocery business called 5 Corner’s Mini Mart.
Defendant Waheed Hamed was never permitted to acquire, engage, or manage any business that
may compete with the operations of the Plaza Extra Stores. Defendant Hamed never disclosed
to his employer that he was operating a separate wholesale grocery business called “5 Comer’s
Mini Mart.”

Defendant Hamed’s sole income in 1992 did not exceed $35,000, and Defendant Hamed never
had any other businesses or employment to produce additional revenue to purchase and sell

grocery inventory to other retailers.

. The scale and scope of the wholesale business as indicated in Defendant Hamed’s tax returns

demonstrates substantial inventory, upon information, belonging to Plaintiff United were
misappropriated by Defendant Hamed to operate his wholesale business.

To date, Defendant Waheed Hamed refuses to explain and account to Plaintiff United for any
of the aforementioned funds, inventory, and the business opportunities Defendant Hamed

diverted to his personal benefit.

Page 4 of 9
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Amended Complaint
Uniied v. Waheed Hamed
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V. CAUSES OF ACTION
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTIES

20.  Plaintiff incorporates paragraphs | through 20 inclusive as if fully set forth verbatim herein.
21.  Asan agent and employee of Plaintiff United, a corporate entity, Defendant Waheed Hamed
owes fiduciary duties to the entity. Included in the fiduciary duty is the duty of loyalty. Not only is
it Defendant Waheed Hamed’s duty to properly manage the business affairs of the Plaza Extra
Supermarket stores for the benefit of Plaintiff United, he is not permitted to place himself in a
position where it would be for his own benefit to violate the duty.
22.  Defendant Waheed Hamed has breached the following duties (the list of duties violated by

Defendant Hamed, below is not intended to be an exhaustive or exclusive list):

a, Duty of Loyalty

b. Duty of good faith and candor,

¢. Duty to manage the day-to-day operations of Plaintiff United’s Plaza Extra supermarket for
the benefit of United;

d. Duty of full disclosure of all matters affecting his employer Plaintiff United;

e. Duty to refrain from self-dealing, and/or general prohibition against the fiduciary using his
relationship to benefit his personal interest; and

f. Duty to manage any funds, assets, and/or property belonging to Plaintiff United by virtue of

its operation of the Plaza Extra Supermarket stores in accordance with applicable laws.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

Page Sof 9
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Anmended Complaint
United v. Waheed Hamed
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CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST/RECOUPMENT

23. Plaintiff incorporates paragraphs 1 through 23 as if fully set forth verbatim herein.

24. As an agent and employee of Plaintiff United, Defendant Hamed owes numerous fiduciary duties
to Plaintiff United and its shareholders. Not only is it Defendant Hamed’s duty to properly manage
the business affairs of the Plaza Extra Supermarket stores for the benefit of Plaintiff United, but
Defendant Hamed also is not permitted to place himself in a position where it would be for his own
benefit to violate the duty.

25. Defendant Hamed has engaged in misappropriation of substantial and valuable assets of Plaintiff
United causing substantial injury to Plaintiff United. As a result, Plaintiff United has sustained
significant financial injury.

26. As such, a constructive trust should be imposed to gather and account for all assets

misappropriated by Defendant Hamed that belongs to Plaintiff United.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
CONVERSION
27. Plaintiff re-incorporates paragraphs 1 through inclusive as if fully set forth verbatim herein.
28. Defendant Waheed Hamed has knowingly converted substantial funds and assets belonging to
Plaintiff United. Plaintiff never consented or agreed to Defendant Hamed’s unauthorized use of its

funds and assets. As such, Defendant Hamed is liable for conversion.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
BREACH OF CONTRACT

29. Plaintiff incorporates paragraphs 1 through 37 inclusive as if fully set forth verbatim herein.

Page 6 of 9
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30. Defendant was an at-will employee of Plaintiff United.

31. As an at-will employee of Plaintiff United, Defendant Hamed had a contractual duty to act in
good faith, and to properly manage the business affairs of the Plaza Extra Supermarket stores for the
benefit of Plaintiff United.

32. Defendant Hamed has breached his contractual duties to Plaintiff United, causing Plaintiff
substantial economic and financial harm. As a result, Defendant Hamed is liable to Plaintiff for
breach of contract.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
ACCOUNTING

33. Plaintiff incorporates paragraphs 1 through 33 inclusive as if fully set forth verbatim herein.

34. As agent and employee of Plaintiff United, Defendant Hamed was under full contractual
obligation and other fiduciary duties to perform his functions as a manager with competence,
integrity, and honesty to Plaintiff United Corporation and its shareholders. Defendant Hamed was

not permitted to place himself in a position where it would be for his own benefit to violate the duty.

35. Defendant Hamed has breached his employment contractual agreement with Plaintiff United by
mismanaging, misappropriating, and converting funds, monies, and other valuables to his personal

use. As a result, Plaintiff United has sustained substantial financial damages.

36. As such, Plaintiff United is entitled a full accounting of all monies, funds, and assets unlawfully
appropriated by Defendant Hamed.

VI. RELIEF REQUESTED

Page 7 of 9
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Wherefore, Plaintiff United Corporation, and its shareholders, respectfully pray for the

following relief:

d.

Actual and compensatory damages to be determined at trial.

b. Punitive damages for the intentional defalcation of funds and damages caused to Plaintiff

United Corporation.

C.

A complete accounting and constructive trust of all funds, assets, opportunities, and other

valuables converted and or misappropriated by Defendant Hamed.

d. Costs of all professional fees that may be required for the audit and investigation of this

matter.

€.

A return of all documents, including but not limited to electronically stored information,

belonging to Plaintiff United in the possession (both actual and constructive) of Defendant

Hamed.

f.

A Restraining Order precluding Defendant Hamed from:

i Physically returning, or attempting to return, to any of the Plaza Extra supermarket
stores;

ii. Accessing, or attempting to access, any bank accounts belonging to United
Corporation for any purpose;

iil. Contacting, or attempting to contact, any employee of Plaintiff United concerning the

operations and management of the Plaza Extra Supermarkets;

iv. Preclude Defendant Waheed Hamed from contacting any business associates of
Plaintiff United,;
V. Preclude Defendant Waheed Hamed from representing to third-parties that he is an

employee of Plaza Extra;

Page 8 of 9
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vi. Accessing, or attempting to access, any of Plaintiff United’s, including but not limited
to the Plaza Extra Supermarkets, books, records, and information regarding as to location or
manner of storage;

vii.  Attorney’s fees, court costs, and any other relief the court deems equitable.

Date: July 15, 2013

Respectfully Submitted,

DeWood Law Firm
Counsel for Plaintiff United

By: /s/Nizar DeWood
Nizar A. DeWood, Esq. (1177)
2006 Eastern Suburb, Suite 102
Christiansted, V.1. 00820
t. (340) 773-3444
f. (888) 398-8428

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a true copy of the foregoing Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint was
served on the Defendant via his counsel at the below address and date via EMAIL AND
REGULAR CLASS MAIL.

Date: July 15, 2013

Carl J. Hartmann, II1
5000 Estate Coakley Bay, L-6
Christiansted, V.I. 00820

/s/ Nizar DeWood
Nizar A. DeWood, Esq.
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JOHN
UNITED CORPORATION,
Plaintiff, CASE NO. ST-13-CV-101
v.

WAHEED HAMED, a/k/a WILLY, WILLY HAMED,

Defendant.

L S N S i Sl

SCHEDULING AND MEDIATION ORDER
The parties having filed a Proposed Stipulated Scheduling Order on July 16, 2013; it is
. ORDERED, ’thft the discovery schedule contained in the Proposed Stipulated Scheduling Order is
hereby approved and adopteg.as the Scheduling Order in this case, and the parties shall comply with the
elavysdrs MV v .
deadlines and dates contained therein and should assume they will not be extended:; and it is
~ORDERED thai, pursuint to Rule 3.2 of the Local Rules of Civil Procedure of the District Court
“- nv
of the Virgin islands and Rule 40 of the Rules of the Superior Court of the Virgin Islands, this case is
referred to mediation, subject to the following conditions:
1. By July 1, 2014, the parties may stipulate as to the designation of a certified or qualified
mediator. They shall promptly notify the Court if they cannot agree upon a mediator, whereupon

Court shall appoint one.

2. After the appointment of a mediator, the Court or its designee, who may be the mediator, shall
notify the parties in writing of the date, time, and place of the first mediation conference.

3. Before serving, the mediator shall take the oath or affirmation similar to that administered to
officials of the Superior Court.

4. Mediation shall be completed by September 1, 2014, unless extended by order of Court.
5. In the absence of a written agreement providing for the mediator’s compensation, the mediator

shall be compensated at an hourly rate to be determined by the Presiding J udge. Plaintiff shall
pay fifty percent (50%) and Defendant shall pay fifty percent (50%) or such proportionate share
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Scheduling & Mediation Order, July 18, 2013
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of the total charges of the mediator as may be agreed upon, unless the mediator and/or the court
determines that one party has not mediated in good faith.

6. Discovery may continue throughout mediation.

7. The parties shall mediate in good faith.

8. The parties shall cause the mediator to file a Mediation Report with the Court by September
5, 2014, failing which the parties shall notify the Court in writing of the outcome of the

mediation by that date; and it is

ORDERED that copies of this Order shall be directed to counsel of record.

Dated: July 18, 2013.

ATTEST: Venetia H. Velazquez, Esq.
' Qurt _
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS/ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION,

Plaintiff, Case No.:2013-CV-101

V.
WAHEED HAMED, ACTION FOR DAMAGES
(a/k/a Willy or Willie Hamed),
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
Defendant.
ANSWER

TO FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT

COMES NOW defendant, Waheed Hamed, and states the following for his
answer to the First Amended Complaint dated July 15, 2013.

1. With regard to the introductory statements of paragraph 1, they are not
proper averments and are therefore denied.

2. Plaintiff states no factual basis for jurisdiction in paragraph 2. Therefore,
Plaintiff is unable to respond and thus denies.

3. Defendant concedes that if there is a proper basis for jurisdiction, this is the
proper district.

4, Defendant also demands a trial by jury.

5. Defendant does not have sufficient information to be able to answer the

averments of paragraph 5, and therefore denies the same.
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6. Defendant does not have sufficient information to be able to answer the
averments of paragraph 6, and therefore denies the same.

7. Defendant admits that he is a natural person and resident of the USVI, but
states that he is and has been at all times relevant to the amended complaint an employee
of a parmership that operates three grocery stores under the name of "Plaza Extra” and
therefore denies the balance of the averments.

8. Defendant denies the averments of paragraph 8.

9. Paragraph 9 restates averments of paragraphs 5 and 6. Defendant re-states
his responses thereto.

10. Defendant admits the averments of paragraph 10.

11. Defendant does not have sufficient information to be able to answer the
averments of paragraph 11, and therefore denies the same.

12. Defendant does not have sufficient information to be able to answer the
averments of paragraph 12, and therefore denies the same.

13. Defendant admits that he is and was an employee of a partnership that
operates three grocery stores under the name of "Plaza Extra" and therefore denies the
balance of the averments in paragraph 13.

14.  Defendant admits that he is an employee of a partnership that operates three
grocery stores under the name of "Plaza Extra" and therefore denies the balance of the

averments in paragraph 14.
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15. Defendant knows of no review of his tax returns and therefore is unable to
state what such a review did or did not reveal and therefore denies the averments of
paragraph 135.

16. Defendant admits that he is an employee of a partnership that operates three
grocery stores under the name of "Plaza Extra" and therefore denies the balance of the
averments in paragraph 16.

17.  Paragraph 17 is compound, and first assumes as a fact that it would have
been necessary to have income in 1992 to "purchase and sell" anything. That is a false
assumption and thus Defendant denics paragraph 17.

18. Paragraph 18 is compound, and first assumes facts that are untrue.
Moreover the only Plaza Extra Supermarkets store in existence during the period asserted
(1992) was the "East" store located at Sion Farm on St. Croix, which went out of business
due to a devastating fire on January 4, 1992, and did not re-open until May of 1994, (the
St. Thomas store did not open until October of 1993 and the "West" store well after that.)
As a result there was no Plaza Extra Supermarkets Store to "misappropriate” from during
the time of the alleged operation of the competing entity -- and the allegation asserts an
impossibility.) Thus Defendant denies paragraph 18.

19. Decfendant has no duty to either or explain nor account to United. Thus he

has never been required to do so nor refused to do so. Thus Defendant denies paragraph

19.
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20.  Paragraph 20 restates prior paragraphs. Defendant incorporates his prior
responses here.

21.  Defendant admits that he is an employee of a partnership that operates three
grocery stores under the name of "Plaza Extra” and therefore denies the balance of the
averments in paragraph 21.

22. Defendant admits that he is an employee of a partnership that operates three
grocery stores under the name of "Plaza Extra" and therefore denies the balance of the
averments in paragraph 22.

23.  Paragraph 23 restates prior paragraphs. Defendant incorporates his prior
responses here.

24.  Defendant admits that he is an employee of a partnership that operates three
grocery stores under the name of "Plaza Extra" and therefore denies the balance of the
averments in paragraph 24,

25.  Defendant denies paragraph 23.

26. Defendant denies paragraph 26.

27.  Paragraph 27 restates prior paragraphs. Defendant incorporates his prior
responses here.

28.  Defendant denies paragraph 28.

29.  Paragraph 29 restates prior paragraphs. Defendant incorporates his prior
responses here.

30. Defendant denies paragraph 30.
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31. Defendant denies paragraph 31.

32. Defendant denies paragraph 32.

33.  Paragraph 33 restates prior paragraphs. Defendant incorporates his prior
responses here.

34. Defendant denies paragraph 34.

35. Defendant denies paragraph 35.

WHEREFORE, Defendant asks that Plaintiff take nothing by its Amended

Complaint.
AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES
1. The statutory limitation period with regard to the alleged bases of relief
have passed.
2. Plaintiff has failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

3. Plaintiff has failed to join a party under Rule 19.
4, PlaintifT has unclean hands and is therefore not entitled to recover.

5. Plaintiff is not a real party in interest.

6. Defendant asserts the aftirmative defense of accord and satisfaction.
7. Defendant asserts the affirmative defense of arbitration and award.
8. Defendant asserts the affirmative defense of estoppel.

9. Defendant asserts the affirmative defense of fraud

(as an equitable defense.)

10. Defendant asserts the aftirmative defense of laches.
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11. Defendant asserts the affirmative defense of license.
12.  Defendant asserts the affirmative defense of release.

13. Defendant asserts the affirmative defense of failure to mitigate damages,
or, alternatively mitigation of damages.

14. Defendant asserts the affirmative defense of offset.

15. Defendant asserts the affirmative defense of indemnity.

16. Defendant asserts the affirmative defense of unconscionability.
17.  Defendant asserts the aftirmative defense of ratification.

18. Defendant asserts the affirmative defense of lack of privity.
19.  Defendant asserts the affirmative defense of acquiescence.

20. Defendant asserts the affirmative defense of agency.

21.  Defendant asserts the affirmative defense of claim of right.

M f

Dated: July 25, 2013 Carl J. Harth(ay’hil[. Esq.
Counsel for Defendant
5000 Est. Coakley Bay, L6
Christiansted, VI 00820
Email: carl@carlhartmann.com
Telephone: (340) 642-4422
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 25th day of July, 2013, I served a copy of the
foregoing document by USPS and email on:

Nizar A. DeWood

The DeWood Law Firm

2006 Eastern Suburb, Suite 101
Christiansted, VI 00820

And a courtesy copy by email (jdiruzzo@fuerstlaw.com) to:
Joseph A. DiRuzzo, II1

Fuerst Ittleman David & Joseph, PL
1001 Brickell Bay Drive, 32, Fl

S
Miami, FL 33131 /S [k %@,\_‘
A ja vy _

Carl J. l-laYlnfﬁi!m m
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS/ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION,
Plaintiff; Case No.:2013-CV-101
V. '
WAHEED HAMED, ) ACTION FOR DAMAGES

(a/k/a Willy or Willie Hamed),

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
Defendant.

DEFENDANT HAMED'S
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

COMES NOW Defendant, Waheed Hamed, and moves this Court for summary
judgment as to the sole remaining factual allegation contained in Plaintiffs First Amended
Complaint of July 15, 2018, for the reasons set forth in the accompanying Memorandum of Law,
to wit:

1. the time period for the bringing of an action based on an act in 1992 has long passed,
and |

2. there is no dispute as to the sole operative fact that, contrary to what Plaintiff

previously represented to this Court, it had full and complete access to all of the documents in

possession of the U.S. Government for many years prior to the physical return of the documents
in 2011.

A Proposed Order is attached.
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RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,

Dated: January 3§, 2014
Esq. (Bar No. 48)

5000 Estate Coakley Bay, L-6
Christiansted, VI 00820

(340) 719-8941
carl@carlhartmann.com

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 31st day of January April, 2014, I served -a copy of the
foregoing Motion by email, as agreed by the parties, on :

Nizar A. DeWood

The DeWood Law Firm

2006 Eastern Suburb, Suite 101
Christiansted, VI 00820
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS/ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION,
Plaintiff, Case No.:2013-CV-101
V. : :
WAHEED HAMED, ACTION FOR DAMAGES

(a/k/a Willy or Willie Hamed),

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Defendant,

DEFENDANT HAMED'S MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO THE SOLE REMAINING CLAIM
L. Introduction
Defendant, Waheed Hamed, hereby moves for summary judgment as to the sole
remaining factual allegation contained in Plaintiffs First Amended Complaint of July 15, 2015.
I1. Procedural Posture
The original Complaint (filed March 5, 2013) alleged claims arising out of two acts:
(1) Defendant's issuance of a $70,000 payment (dismissed), and
(2) that Defendant covertly participated in a competing grocery store in 1992.
On June 24, 2013, the Court dismissed the first claim and ordered the First Amended Complaint
to be filed, limited to the remaining wrongful act - Defendnnt's~ alleged 1992 involvement in the

5-Comers Mini-Mart.
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With regard to this remaining factual allegation, in its June 24, 2013 Memorandum
Order, at 9-10, the Court found Defendant's motion to be "premature” and provisionally allowed
this remaining claim as follows:

Plaintiffs Complaint alleges that a review of Defendant Waheed Hamed's 1992
tax retumn revealed that "Defendant Hamed had engaged in a separate and
secretive wholesale grocery business called 5 Corner’s Mini Mart,” and further
that "Defendant Hamed's tax returns demonstrate substantial inventory ..
belonging to Plaintiff United were misappropriated by Defendant Hamed to
operate his wholesale business.”” Again, Plaintiff argues that until October
2011, when the documents collected by the U.S. government in U.S. v. United
Corporation, et al.,, were given to Plaintiff, Plaintiff had no way of knowing
of Defendant's alleged misconduct.’

LN N ]

Here, the Court finds that a review of the Complaint on its face reveals that the
commencement period may not be determined as a matter of law and is rather a
question of material fact.>® Specifically, unlike Plaintiff's allegations regarding the
October 7, 1995, certified check, the indictment in U.S. v. United, Crim. No.
2003-147, does not put Plaintiff on notice of this alleged wrongdoing because the
indictment does not suggest that Defendant may have engaged in a secretive
wholesale business. Instead, here, Plaintiff contends their suspicions arose only
when they obtained Defendant's 1992 tax return in October 2011, a document to
which Plaintiff previously did not have access, As such, Defendant’s motion is
premature with regard to Defendant's alleged misconduct in 1992, and Plaintiff's
claims for breach of fiduciary duty, conversion, and breach of contract survive on
these limited facts. However, despite this holding, moving forward Plaintiff still
bears the burden of showing that Plaintiff exercised "reasonable diligence” under
the discovery rule or doctrine of equitable tolling such that the statute of
limitations was tolled until October 2011, While there are many defenses to
plaintiff's complaint, the most obvious one is statute of limitations, which is
properly raised by a Rule 12(c) motion. See, SC Wright and Miller, Federal
Practice and Procedure (2004), §1367 at p. 211 (with cases cited in n.9).
(Empbhasis added, text of footnotes omitted)
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IIL, Facts Relevant to this Motion

As discussed below, the time period for the bringing of an action based on an act in 1992
has long passed. Summary judgment based on the statute of limitations is appropriate here
because there is no dispute as to the sole operative fact that, contrary to what Plaintiff previously

represented to this Court, it had full and complete access to all of the documents in possession of

the U.S. Government for_man rior to the physical return of the documents in 2011.
Moreover, there is no question that the document at issue (Defendant's 1992 tax return) was in
that collection or that plaintiff took advantage of this access in that it repeatedly viewed the
documents without restriction -- and repeatedly scanned and copied any documents it wished.

Defendant's tax document at issue here was seized by the FBI in its 2001-2003 collection
of documents in the criminal case. (Plaintiff's tax returns, like all of the rest of the documents
returned in 2011, bears the sequential Bates numbers of those collected documents. Because of
this, there is no dispute that they were all in that collection in the govemment's possession.)
United Corporation had full, unfettered access to all of these documents beginning in 2003, as
detailed in the Declaration (dated July 8, 2009) of FBI Special Agent Thomas L. Petri, in U.5.4.
v. Fathi Yusuf Mohammed Yusuf et, al., Crim. No, 2005-015 (DE 1148-1):

7. In 2003, subsequent to the retum of the indictment, counsel for defendants was

afforded complete access to seized evidence. Attorney Robert King, the attorney

then representing defendants, reviewed the discovery at the FBI office on St.

Thomas. He and a team of approximately four or five individuals reviewed

evidence for several weeks. They brought with them a copier and made many

copies of documents,

and

8. In 2004, a different set of attorneys presently representing the defendants
reviewed the evidence seized in the course of the execution of the search
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warrants. By my estimation, document review team included up to ten people
at any one time. The defense team spent several weeks reviewing the
evidence. They had with them at least one copier and one scanner with which
they made numerous copies and images of the evidence.

9. During the 2004 review, the defense team was afforded unfettered access to
discovery. They were permitted to review any box of documents at any time,
including evidence sefzed during the searches, foreign bank records, documents
obtained either consensually or by grand jury subpoena, and FBI Forms 302. The
defense team pulled numerous boxes at one time with many different people
reviewing different documents from different boxes.

See Exhibit 1 (Emphasis added.) This unfettered access for United continued over many

years, as noted by FBI Special Agent Christine Zieba. She personally watched ‘Plaintiff's

counsel access and review these documents over many weeks on subsequent occasions,

as set forth in her Declaration in the same case, See Exhibit 2.

3. I have been present at the review of documents conducted by counsel for
defendants in the Yusuf matter.

4, The FBI office is comprised of two buildings, an upper building and a lower.
building. The two building are secured facilities. As part of their duties, the agents
and support staff housed in the lower building possess classified and secret
national security information.

5. The evidence obtained in the course of the investigation and prosecution of the
defendants is stored in the lower building. The evidence is secured either in a
locked storage room or in locked file cabinets in the secured wotk space.

6. By necessity, the defendants' document review has taken place at a long
conference table in middie of the central work space. The desks of one agent and
analyst are freely accessible from that central work space. The special agent and
the analyst possess and utilize classified, secret, and grand jury information in
their work spaces.

7. Given that FBI special agents and employees maintain classified, secret, and
grand jury information in the lower building, it is not feasible to provide the
defendants unfettered access to that space.

8. I memorialized my conversations with defense counsel as well as the events
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8. 1 memorialized my conversations with defense counsel as well as the events

that transpired during the document review from November 8, 2008 through

January 29, 2009. Those memoranda are attached to this declaration and

incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

9. A process was put in place in order to ensure that evidence was not lost,

misplaced or destroyed during the review process by defense counsel. Defense

counsel were allowed to review one box at a time, and were allowed to handle the
documents.

Thus, it is undisputed that Plaintiff had full, unfettered access to the information it now
claims gives rise to this cause of action in 2003 and thereafter. There is no requirement that
Defendant somehow prove Plaintiff looked at all of the documents to which it has such access.
To the contrary, as discussed below, any exception is Plaintiff's burden,

IV. Law

a. Summary Judgment

As this Court is well-versed in the standard for summary judgment, defendant will not
belabor the point. See e.g. Machado v. Yacht Haven USVI, LLC, 2012 WL 5894805, *I
(V.LSuper. 2102) ("Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, made applicable to the
Virgin Islands Superior Court through Rule 7 of the Rules of the Superior Court, provides that
summary judgment is appropriate only “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories,
and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as
to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” In

considering a motion for summary judgment, a court must “draw ... all reasonable inferences

from the underlying facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” An is§ue is
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“genuine” if a reasonable jury could possibly hold in the non-movant's favor with regard to that
issue.”)

b. Statutes of Limitations

Plaintiff seeks relief for breach of fiduciary duty, constructive trust/recoupment,
conversion, breach of contract, conversion and accounting. The statute of limitations has expired
on all five of these counts. Chapter.3 of Title 5 of the Virgin Islands Code provides the statutes
of limitations for all of these causes of action expire after 6 years or less pursuant to S V.1.C. §31
(e.8., 6 years for contract, 2 years for conversion, etc.) Clearly more than 6 years have passed
since the dates of both the alleged wrongdoings in 1992 and the beginning of unfettered access to
all relevant documents in 2003. The date of physical return in 2011 is irrelevant.

Likewise, regarding the equitable claims such as constructive trust/recoupment and -
accounting, 5 V.1.C.§ 32(a) provides:

(2) An action of an equitable nature shall only be commenced within the time limited to
commence an action as provided in this chapter.

Thus, since none of the counts involve claims related to real pfoperty, the equitable claims are
also time barred since they are over 6 years old without the need to decide whether a more
specific statute of limitations applies.

¢. Exceptions to Statutes of Limitations

The applicable law has been clearly set forth by this Court, At 5-6 of this Court's
Memorandum Opinion, it observed the following regarding Plaintiff's burden here::

Ordinarily, "a statute of limitation begins to run upon the occurrence of the

essential facts which constitute the cause of action" unless the statute of -

limitations has been tolled.!” While Plaintiffs reply fails to address under which
legal standard they contend the statute of limitations period was tolied, Defendant
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argues that Plaintiffs argument fails under both the discovery rule and the doctrine
of equitable tolling. Specifically,

Under the law of the Virgin Islands, application of the equitable 'discovery
rule' tolls the statute of limitation[s] when the injury or its cause is not
immediately evident to the victim. Thus, the discovery rule provides that
the statute of limitations period begins to run when the plaintiff has
discovered, or by exercising reasonable diligence, should have discovered
(1) that she has been injured, and (2) that this injury has been caused by
another party’s conduct. The disooverr rule is to be applied using an
objective reasonable person standard.2%") (emphasis added)

On the other hand, equitable tolling may apply "where the defendant has actively
misled the plaintiff," as Plaintiff here alleges in the Complaint.2'®) However, -
similarly to the discovery rule, for a Plaintiff to invoke equitable tolling, the
Plaintiff must demonstrate "that he or she could not, by the exercise of
reasonable diligence, have discovered essential information bearing on his or
her claim."2B! (emphasis added). To determine whether a person has exercised
reasonable diligence under either the discovery rule or doctrine of equitable
tolling, courts employ an “objective reasonable person stendard. "#/) (Emphasis
added.)

! 20 [Footnote in original] In re Equivest St. Thomas, Inc., 2010 WL 4343616, at *5 (D.V.L
Nov. 1, 2010) (quoting Joseph v. Hess Oil, 867 F.2d 179, 182 (3d Cir.1989) and Boehm v. Chase
Manhattan Bank, 2002 WL 31986128, at *3 (D.V.I 2002)) (internal citations and quotations
omitted).

221 (Footnote in original) Id. at *6.

322 (Footnote in original] Id. (citing In re Mushroom Transp. Co., Inc., 382 F.3d 325, 339 (3d
Cir.2004) (quoting Oshiver v. Levin, Fishbein, Sedran & Berman, 38 F.3d 1380, 1390 (3d
Cir.1994))).

4 23 [Footnote in original] Id.; see also Riley v. Medtronic, Inc., 2011 WL 3444190 (W.D. Pa.
Aug. 8, 2011) ( "[T]he applicable standard is not whether the Plaintiff subjectively knew of the
cause of the injury. Rather, it is whether a diligent investigation would have revealed
it.")(internal citations and quotations omitted).
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V. Argument

There is no dispute that the factual basis for the five Eounts alleged in the Amended
Complaint all occurred in 1992. Thus, they fall within and are time-barred by the applicable
statutes of limitations. Plaintiff has the burden to show an exception to the statutes of
limitations. To do so, United raised the lack of access to the documents. The Court alloweﬁ this
sole factual issue to remain pending an examination of that access.

No materiﬂ fact exists as to whether plaintiff either had "unfetiered access” to the
documents in 2003, or that such access has been thoroughly exercised since 2003. Thus, there is
no set of facts under which Plaintiff can carry the burden of showing that lacked such access --
that it “could not, by the exercise of reasonable diligence, have discovered essential information
bearing on his or her claim.” All Plaintiff or its counsel had to do was copy and/or read the
documents. The fact that they were located outside of Plaintiffs physical premises or that
Plaintiff (or its counsel) did not focus on the issues here at that time is irrelevant.

VI, Conclusion

As such, summary judgment should be granted.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,

Dated: January 31, 2014

——

Counsel Jor the Defendant
5000 Estate Coakley Bay, L-6
Christiansted, VI 00820

(340) 719-8941
carl@carlhartmann.com
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 31st day of January, 2014, I served a copy of the foregoing
Motion by email, as agreed by the parties, on:

Nizar A, DeWood

The DeWood Law Firm

2006 Eastern Suburb, Suite 101
Christiansted, VI 00820




Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB Document #: 1148-1 Filed: 07/08/09 Page 1 of 2

DECLARATION OF SPECIAL AGENT THOMAS L. PETRI

I, Thomas L. Petri, make this declaration in support of the Government’s Response to
Defendants’ Reply Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Specific Relief.

1 Tam employed as a Special Agent of the Federal Bureau of Investigation. Ihave served
in that capacity for 20 years. [ am assigned to the Miami Field Office.

2 I was assigned to the St. Thomas office of the Federal Bureau of Investigation from 2000
through 2006. While stationcd on St. Thomas, [ was the lead case agent of the
investigation of United Corporation, Fathi Yusuf, Maher Yusuf, Nejeh Yusuf, Waleed
Hamed, Waheed Hamed, and Isam Yousuf,

3 In the course of that investigation, the govemment obtained and executed search warrants,
Those searches were conducted at numerous locations throughout the islands, including
the Plaza Extra stores and the homes of the defendants.

4 Evidence seized during he course of those scarches was placed in boxes. Numbers were
placed on the boxes to maintain an order.

S The seized evidence, as well as evidence obtained either consensually or through grand
jury subpoenas, was stored at the upper building of the FBI office in St. Thomas.

6 During. the course of the investigation, FBI agents maintained control over the evidence.
It was Stored in a conference room in the office. No other materials but the documents
pertinent to the investigation were stored in that room.

7 In 2003, subscquent to the return of the indictment, counsel for defendants was afforded
complete access to seized evidence. Attorney Robert King, the attorney then representing
defendants, reviewed the discovery at the FBI office on St. Thomas. He and a team of
approximately four or five individuals reviewed evidence for several weeks. They
brought with them a copier and made many copies of documents.

8 In 2004, a different set of attorneys presently representing the defendants reviewed the
evidence seized in the course of the execution of the search warrants. By my estimation,
document review team included up to ten people at any one time. The defense team spent
several weeks revicwing the evidence. They had with them at least one copier and one
scanner with which they made numerous copies and images of the evidence.

9 During the 2004 review, the defensc team was afforded unfettered access to discovery.
They were permitted to review any box of documents at any time, including evidence
seized during the searches, foreign bank records, documents obtained cither consensually
or by grand jury subpoena, and FBI Forms 302. The defense team pulled numerous boxes
at one time with many different people reviewing different documents from different
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boxes.

10  Immediately following the defense team’s departure from the FBI premises , [ had
occasion to obtain documents from boxes that had been reviewed by the defense team. I
discovered that documents that originally had been placed in one box had been placed in
a different box. I returned the documents to their original boxes. I cannot be certain that
I was able to identify each instance where documents had been misfiled by the defense
team.

11 During the document review in January 2009, Randall Andreozzi requested to review all
documents obtained via subpoena. I explained to him that I could not produce all
evidence &t once. That evidence comprises approximately 40 boxes. Iasked him for a
specific list of documents, or category of documents that he wished to review. He
declined to identify the records that he wished to review and did not pursue the matter.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.
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Declaration of Speclal Agent Christine Zieba EXHIBIT

], Christine Zieba, make this Declaration in support of the Govemnment’s Response to
Defendants’ Reply Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Specific Relief.

1 I am employed as a Special Agent of the Federal Bureau of Investigation. I have served
in that capacity for approximately S years. ‘

2 Iama case agent who is assigned to the St. Thomas office of the FBI. I have been
assigned to assist the prosecution in United States v, Yusuf, 05-15 D.V.I).

3 I have been present at the review of documents conducted by counsel for defendants in
the Yusuf matter.

4 The FBI office is comprised of two buildings, an upper building and a lower building.
The two building are secured facilities. As part of their duties, the agents and support
staff boused in the lower building possess classified and secret national security
information.

5 The evidence obtained in the course of the investigation and prosecution of the
defendants is stored in the lower building. The evidence is secured either in a locked
storage room or in locked file cabinets in the secured work space.

6 By necessity, the defendants’ document review has taken place at a long conference table
in middle of the central work space. The desks of one agent and analyst are freely
accessible from that central woik space . The special agent and the analyst possess and
utilize classified, secret, and grand jury information in their work spaces.

7 Given that FBI special agents and employees maintain classified, secret, and grand jury
information in the lower building, it is not feasible to provide the defendants unfettered
access to that space. .

8 I memorialized my conversations with defense counsel as well as the events that
transpired during the document review from November 8, 2008 through January 29,
2009. Those memoranda are atiached to this declaration and incorporated as if fully set
forth herein. :

9 A process was put in place in order to ensure that evidence was not lost, misplaced or
destroyed during the review process by defense counsel. Defense counsel were allowed
to review one box at a time, and were allowed to handle the documents. )

10  Despite this procedure, the defense team misplaced evidence. For example, the defense
team reviewed a box of evidence and scanned documents contained within it. They then
replaced the documents in the box and asked to review a different box of evidence.

4420785.1
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Subsequent to the shelving of the original of the first box, it was discovered that the
defense team had left a document on the scanner and had not returned it to the original
box. The document was taken from one of the defense team and returned to the box from

which it had been taken.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS/ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION,

Plaintiff; Case No.:2013-CV-101

V.
WAHEED HAMED, ACTION FOR DAMAGES
(a/k/a Willy or Willie Hamed),
Y TRIAL DEMANDED
Defendant.
JUDGMENT

THIS MATTER having come on before the Court on the motion for summary judgment
of Defendant, Waheed Hamed, and the Court being fully apprised of the premises, it is hereby:
ORDERED and ADJUDGED:

1. The Counts applicable to the sole remaining factual averment with regard to the 5-

Corners Mini-Mart are dismissed with prejudice.

Dated:
HON., MICHAEL C. DUNSTON
Judge of the Superior Court
of the U.S. Virgin Islands

ATTEST:

Clerk of Court

Deputy Clerk

By:

Deputy Clerk
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS/ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION, CaseNo.: ST-13-CV-101
N T w3 ; : ;
Plaintiff, MEMORANDUM OF LAvsln#_{,
v. SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF'SS T  Ji
RESPONSE IN orrosmom;p P -
WAHEED HAMED, DEFENDANT’S MOTION ch; ~
(a/k/a Willy or Willie Hamed), SUMMARYJUDGMENT 'UE:
. g f
ORAL ARGUMENTS REQUESTED
Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE IN
OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

L INTRODUCTION

COMES NOW Plaintiff United Corporation (“United”) and respectfully opposes Defendant
Waheed Hamed’s Summary Judgment Motion. Defendant’s summary judgment motion repeats
the same rejected argument as to Plainitff’s second cause of action previously raised in his Rule
12(c) Motion. Justas that argument was rejected then, it should be rejected now. The court should

also deny Defendant Hamed's Summary Judgment Motion on the following additional grounds:

1) Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. 56(d), this honorable court should 1) defer considering
the [summary judgment] motion or deny it, or 2) allow time to obtain affidavits
or declarations or to take additional discovery. In opposition to Defendant’s
summary judgment Motion, Plaintiff United attaches a Rule 56(d) Declaration
from Fathi Yusuf, treasurer and secretary of United Corporation.

2) Contrary to Defendant’s assertion, a genuine issue of material fact exists as to
whether Plaintiff had possession, access, or even reason to know of Defendant

Hamed’s tax returns.
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3) Plaintiff has received absolutely no responsive discovery to Plaintiff’s
Interrogatories, Request for Production of Documents, and Request for
Admissions. A Rule 37 conference was held on March 28%, 2014, and a Rule 37
Letter will follow shortly. Therefore, discovery is nowhere near complete. As
such, Defendant’s summary judgment motion is both premature and should be

denied at this stage.

4) Plaintiff is awaiting the release of substantial document from the United States
Attorney’s Office in the case of United States v. United Corporation (1 :05-CR-

15). See Affidavit of Fathi Yusuf, EXHIBIT A; Those documents are critical to
rebut Defendant’s grounds for summary judgment. As such, the court should
deny at this point Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment.

For the reasons outlined above and fully addressed below, it is respectfully requested

that Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment be denied.

II. FACTS RELEVANT TO THIS MOTION

On March 5%, 2013, Plaintiff United sued Defendant Waheed Hamed for breach of
contract, conversion, and breach of various fiduciary duties. The original complaint sought
recoupment and accounting regarding two known financial improprieties: the first, an
unauthorized money order in the amount of $70,000 discovered in Waheed Hamed’s FBI folder,
the second, a full accounting of all funds used by Defendant Waheed Hamed to operate a retail
grocery business called 5 Corners Mini Market using Plaintiff United’s funds. The Court dismissed
the first cause of action concerning the $70,000 check United alleged was purchased by Defendant

from Plaintiff United's funds. The court memorandum opinion cited Defendant’s acquisition of
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checks and other negotiable instruments for cash in the various criminal counts of the indictment
against Defendant Waheed Hamed as reasonable notice to Plaintiff United. As to the second cause
of action, the court rejected Defendant’s argument as premature that Plaintiff had reason to know
of Waheed Hamed’s tax returns.

On November 15% 2013, Plaintiff served upon Defendant Waheed Hamed its
interrogatories, request for production of documents, and request of admissions. On February 12%,
2014, Defendant Waheed Hamed responded to Plaintiff’s discovery requests. Unfortunately, no
responsive discovery was received. Defendant Hamed discovery responses can be summarized as
follows: “I cannot recall” and “Objection due to relevance.”

On March 28%, 2014, counsel for the parties conducted a Rule 37 conference. Due to the
complete non-responsiveness of Defendant to Plaintiff’s discovery request, Plaintiff is in the
process of serving a voluminous Rule 37 demand letter upon Defendant. As such, discovery here
is simply not complete. Additionally, during the course of this matter, Plaintiff has been awaiting
the release of tens of thousands of financial documents seized by the U.S. Government in the case
of United States v. United Corporation (05-cr-15). Waheed Hamed who is a co-indictee is fully
aware of the existence, location, and custody of these documents; however, in a race against time,
Defendant Hamed seeks to dismiss this matter on statute of limitations grounds notwithstanding
that discovery is not complete and that the documents in the possession of the U.S. Attorney’s
Office were never received by the Plaintiff. Thus, a separate Motion to Extend Scheduling Order
to address the serious discovery issues in this matter will be filed shortly.

In his Summary Judgment Motion, Defendant Hamed repackages the same rejected

arguments raised in his previous Rule 12(c) Motion to Dismiss - mainly that 1) the time period for
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the bringing of an action based on an act in 1992 has long passed, and 2) that Plaintiff had full and

complete access to all of the documents in possession of the U.S. Government for many years prior
to the physical return of the documents in 201 1. Defendant’s assertions are sadly misleading and
based on speculation. Based on the grounds below Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment

should be denied.

III. ISSUES BEFORE THE COURT

1. Whether Defendant’s Summary Judgment Motion should be denied
because of the existence of a genuine issue of material facts as to
Plaintiff’s lack of knowledge, access, or reason to know about Defendant
Waheed Hamed’s tax returns?

2. Whether the doctrine of equitable tolling applies such that the statute of
limitations for the various causes of action in Plaintiff United’s complaint
are tolled?

IV. ARGUMENTS
L THE COURT SHOULD DENY DEFENDANT’S SUMMARY JUDGMENT

MOTION BECAUSE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTS AS

TO PLAINTIFF’S LACK OF ACCESS, KNOWLEDGE AND/OR REASON

TO KNOW OF DEFENDANT’S TAX RETURNS.

Background: Summary Judgment
Summary judgment is appropriate when the materials of record “show that there is no

genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter
of law.” A fact is “material” only if it might affect the outcome of the suit under the applicable
rule of law. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 255 (1986). Summary judgment will

not be denied based on mere allegations or denials in the pleadings; instead, some evidence must

be produced to support a material fact. U.S. v. Premises Known as 717 S. Woodward Street,
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Allentown, Pa., 2 F.3d 529, 533 (3d Cir.1993). However, the Court will view the evidence and

draw any reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Hunt v.
Cromartie, 526 U.S. 541, 552 (1999). In response to a motion for summary judgment, the
nonmoving party can file a Rule 56(d) declaration. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(d) provides: If a non-movant
shows by affidavit or declaration that, for specified reasons, it cannot present facts essential to
justify its opposition, the court may:

(1) defer considering the motion or deny it;

(2) allow time to obtain affidavits or declarations or to take discovery; or

(3) issue any other appropriate order.

In the declaration, a party must specify: (1) what particular information is sought; (2) how,
if uncovered, it would preclude summary judgment; and (3) why it has not previously been
obtained. Pa., Dept. of Pub. Welfare v. Sebelius, 674 F.3d 139, 157 (3d Cir.2012)(citing Dowling
v. City of Phila., 855 F.2d 136, 13940 (3d Cir.1988)). If a party opposing summary judgment
files an affidavit that specifically addresses these requirements, the Third Circuit has held that “a
continuance of a motion for summary judgment for purposes of discovery should be granted almost
as a matter of course,” especially when particular information is in the sole possession of the
moving party. Malouf v. Turner, 814 F.Supp.2d 454, 45960 (D.N.J.2011) (quoting Sames v.
Gable, 732 F.2d 49, 51 (3d Cir.1984)).

Here, the facts as outlined in Plaintiff’s Declaration meet the requirements of a Rule 56(d);
as such, this court should continue or deny the motion for summary judgment, at this point, as a
matter of course.

1. The Particular Information Sought
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As stated previously, Plaintiff is seeking all documents seized by the United States
Attorneys’ office in the case of United States v. United Corporation (05-cr-15). These documents
may reveal when, where, and how Defendant Waheed Hamed’s tax returns were made available
to Plaintiff or its counsels. Despite repeated efforts by United to bring this matter to conclude this
matter and to release the tens of thousands of documents currently held by the U.S. Attomney’s
Office, the court should continue the Summary Judgment motion. Thus, because Plaintiff has no
control over these documents, and is at the mercy of the District Court’s calendar, this honorable

court should defer adjudication or deny Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment.

The information being sought, if uncovered, would preclude summary judgment;

Defendant Hamed’s Summary Judgment motion reasserts the previously rejected argument
that Plaintiff United had reason to know of Defendant Waheed Hamed’s tax returns. However, the
only thing that Defendant can only point to are general Affidavits of FBI agents that do not specify
which documents were made available to Plaintiff United. Also these Declarations do not identify
which attorney copied what, and whether Waheed Hamed's tax returns were in any of the boxes
that were inspected by the defense attorneys. None of the Affidavits of the FBI agents specifically
mention Waheed Hamed’s tax retumns or any other information regarding his operations of the
grocery retail business called “5 Comer Mini Mart.” To address Defendant's speculations and
insinuation that Plaintiff had reasonable access to Defendant Waheed Hamed’s tax retumns,
Plaintiff will need to review all the records seized as they pertain to Defendant Waheed Hamed.
Finally, it is worth repeating that because Plaintiff has received virtually no responsive discovery,

and Rule 37 discussions are ongoing, the Court should deny the Summary Judgment at this point.
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Reason Why Information Was Not Previously Available.
As to the third reguirement of a Rule 56(d) declaration, the reason why the required
information to rebut Plaintiff’s Motion was not previously available and remains unavailable is
“ because these documents are in the possession of the United States Attorney’s Office. See

Affidavit of Fathi Yusuf, as EXHIBIT B.

[I. THEDOCTRINE OF EQUITABLE TOLLING, AND THE DISCOVERY RULE
APPLIES AS TO TOLL THE STATUTE OF LIMIATIONS FOR PLAINTIFF’S
CAUSE OF ACTION.

The Equitable Tolling of the Statute of Limitations of Plaintiff’s Claims.

Defendant argues that the statute of limitations applies in this case since the action is based
on an act in 1992, and that “Plaintiff had complete access to all of the documents in possession of
the U.S. Government.” Def. SJM, p 3. Despite this sweeping and unsupported allegation,
Defendant fails to cite any proof of how, when, and where the Plaintiff, through its counsel, had
access specifically to Waheed Hamed’s 1992 tax returns. Defendant attaches the Declaration of
FBI Agents Thomas L. Petri .and Christine Zieba. These Declarations make general claims of
access to evidence or documents by defense attorneys. However, these allegations are vague and
general in nature, and do not specifically address Waheed Hamed's tax returns. Also, these FBI

agents are unavailable witnesses at this point. Plaintiff cannot properly depose them, or obtain an

information by way of subpoenas. Those Declarations are not evidence, and could be false,
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inaccurate, and/or erroneous. Thus, Plaintiff cannot be constrained by Declarations made five (5)
years ago that do not address Waheed Hamed’s tax returns.

Moreover, both Declarations refer to attorney Randall Andreozzi’s request to review
documents, and his failure to “pursue the matter.” In his arguments, Defendant conveniently omits
911, which states the following:

“During the document review in January 2009, Randall Andreozzi requested to review all

documents obtained via subpoena. I explained to him that I could not produce all

evidence at once. That evidence comprises approximately 40 boxes. I asked him for a

specific list of documents, or category of documents that he wished to review. He declined

to identify the records that he wished to review and did not pursue the matter.”
See Declaration of FBI Agent Thomas L Petri, §j11, Exhibit D (relevant portion highlighted)
See Declaration of FBI Agent Christine Zieba, {11, Exhibit E (relevant portion highlighted).

The Declarations show that Attorney Andreozzi needed a “subpoena” in 2009 to request
documents. This begs the question of why would Andreozzi need a subpoena if as Defendant
contends the documents were always available to Plaintiff through its attorneys. Clearly, these
documents were not available for inspection without a subpoena. Defendant’s cherry picking and
selective presentation of evidence is calculated to present a misleading view of the real facts. Both
Declarations demonstrate that in fact no review and/or identification of documents was done by
Attorney Andriozzi. If anything both of these Declarations clearly state that Attorney Andriozzi
did not “pursue the matter” i.e., the documents that he was seeking. This directly contradicts
Defendant Waheed Hamed’s assertion that Plaintiff knew or had to reason to know of Waheed
Hamed’s tax returns. Affidavit of Fathi Yusuf, 913, 5, 6. It was only when the FBI returned on a

hard drive a small portion of the documents they seized that Plaintiff United became aware in

October of 2011 of the existence of Waheed Hamed’s financial improprieties. 4ffidavit of Fathi
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Yusuf, §2. Indeed when afforded the chance to review documents, Plaintiff took immediate action
to review the documents that were provided by the FBI. Affidavit of Fathi Yusuf, 2. However,
prior to the release of the documents in October 2011, Plaintiff simply had no way of knowing or
reason to know that such documents ever existed. Defendant of course would have the court
believe that these documents were ready for inspection and review because they were “bate
stamped.” Defendant engages in pure speculation, and declines to include paragraph 11 of both
FBI Agent’s Declarations in his Motion.

Additionally, nothing in the attached Declarations provide an inventory of what
documents were available at the time for inspection. In other words, we don’t know if Waheed
Hamed’s tax returns would have been available for inspection on January 2009, or whether another
agent placed those documents on a hard drive from another source in 2010 or 2011. No one even
knows which attorneys were present at the evidence review meetings with the FBI, and what
documents in fact were available for inspection. Defendant Waheed Hamed of course assumes that
his tax returns existed somewhere in these 40 boxes of documents and were available for inspection
by attorney Andriozzi since the indictment in 2003. Not only is this pure speculation, but is
inconsistent with §11 of the Declarations.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the Court should either continue the Summary Judgment Motion or

deny it at this point pending additional discovery.

Dated: April 7, 2014 Respectfully Submitted,
THE DEWOOD LAW FIRM
Counsel for Plaintiff

,@JM
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Nizar A. DeWood, Esq. (1177)
2006 Eastern Suburb, Suite 102

Christiansted, V.I1. 00820

T. 340.773.3444

F. 888.398.8428

Email: dewoodlaw@gmail.com

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED THAT a true and exact copy of the foregoing was served

via electronic mail on this 7th day of April 2014:

Carl J. Hartmann III, Esq.
5000 Estate Coakley Bay Unit L-6
Christiansted, USVI 00820

Email: carl@carlhartmann.com
1 . ood, Esq.
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS & ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION ) CIV.NO. §X-13-CV-101
)
Plaintiff )
)
VS. ) ACTION FOR DAMAGES
) CIVIL ACTION
)
) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
)
WAHEED HAMED )
(a/%/a Willy, Willy Hamed) )
)
Defendant )
)
AFFIDAVIT OF FATHI YUSUF

I, Fathi Yusuf, duly sworn and under oath pursuant to 28 USC §1746, and Super. Ct. R.
18, under the penalties of perjury, hereby attest that following is true and correct:

1. 1am the treasurer and secretary of United Corporation. I am the person in charge
of the overall operations of Plaza Extra. I supervise the various managers at the
Plaza Extra stores.

2. Ireceived a hard drive sometime in October of 2011 from the FBI with thousands
of scanned documents. That was only a small part of the file the FBI had in this
case. As the treasurer, I reviewed the documents on the hard drive shortly after
received it, During my review, | found scanned copies of Waheed Hamed’s tax
returns. The returns showed a business called 5 Comer Mini Mart, United never
knew of this business, and where Defendant got the money to operate it, and buy
the necessary inventory.

Page 1of2
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_ Since the indictments in 2003, I have never had access to any of the documents
that the Office of the U.S. Attorney and FBI had. Waheed Hamed was represented
by Attorney Pamela Colon. Attorney Colon never shared with me any documents
regarding Waheed Hamed.

. None of my attorneys or any other attorney that was part of the joint defense team
ever produced Waheed Hamed’s tax returns to United Corporation.

. The allegation that Waheed Hamed’s tax returns were available for inspection by
my attorney or by the attorneys of United Corporation, is not true. At no time did
any corporate officer of United received or had any knowledge of Waheed
Hamed’s tax returns.

. Even the Declarations of both FBI agents that Waheed Hamed used to support his
summary judgment motion shows that the documents were required to be
subpoenaed as late as January 2009. Both agents said that attorney Randall
Andriozzi never followed up, and that no documents were identified.

. 1do not know whether the agent’s version of the story is true, or not. However,
until I received the hard drive from the FB, I along with the officers of United
Corporation never knew or had any reason to know of the existence of Waheed
Hamed’s tax returns.

. To date, United Corporation is waiting for its sentencing so that it can receive
back the tens of thousands of seized documents from the U.S. Attorney’s office. -
The sentencing has been delayed due to the tax obligations of Waleed and Waheed
Hamed. The United States Attorneys’ Office agreed to release all of the
documents seized during the criminal case beginning in 2001 once sentencing is
completed.

. The documents seized by the FBI were never returned to United Corporation since
2001. Because of that United Corporation still does not have all the financial
documents regarding Waheed Hamed, including additional information regarding
the 5 Comer Mini Mart grocery retail business Defendant Waheed was operating.

10.1 attest the information here is correct.

Page2 of 2
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Date: April 7, 2014

ST

“Fathi Yusuf,
United Corporation
Treasurer and Secretary
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS/ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION,
Plaintiff, Case No.:2013-CV-101
V.
WAHEED HAMED, ACTION FOR DAMAGES

(a/k/a Willy or Willie Hamed),

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Defendant.

DEFENDANT WAHEED HAMED'S REPLY WITH REGARD TO
HIS MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

I. Introduction

Plaintiff brought suit based two sets of alleged acts -- the first occurred in 1992 and
the second in 1995. This Court previously dismissed the 1995 acts based on the obvious
statute of limitations defense. At the time of that dismissal, the Court declined to similarly
dismiss as to the 1992 claim; but only because plaintiff alleged that it did not have access
to documents in the U.S. Government's control, holding:

Plaintiff contends their suspicions arose only when they obtained

Defendant's 1992 tax return in October 2011, a document to which Plaintiff’

[contends it] previously did not have access. (Emphasis added.)

Summary judgment is, therefore, sought regarding the 1992 claim. Two

contemporaneous FBI affidavits have been submitted stating that plenary access was fully

available to Plaintiff's counsel. Plaintiff responds with a Fathi Yusuf affidavit (Opposition
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Exhibit A) stating that ke did not see the document. He avers no actual personal knowledge

as to what documents his attorney did or did not see or have access to.

But mainly, to try to avoid summary judgment, Plaintiff asks that discovery be re-
opened pursuant to Rule 56(d) for three (incorrect) reasons:
1) "a genuine issue of material fact exists as to whether Plaintiff had
possession, access, or even reason to know of Defendant Hamed's tax
returns.”
because
2) "Plaintiff has received absolutely no responsive discovery to Plaintiffs

Interrogatories, Request for Production of Documents, and Request for
Admissions. (Emphasis added.)

and
Plaintiff is awaiting the release of substantial document [sic.] from the United
States Attorney's Office in the case of United States v. United Corporation).
See Affidavit of Fathi Yusuf,

I. Facts

The parties submitted a joint proposed Scheduling Order with dates and times
altered to accommodate plaintiff. There Court thereafter entered the stipulated Scheduling
Order which provided:

FACTUAL DISCOVERY. All factual discovery, including written discovery and
fact witness depositions, shall be completed by April 1, 2014.

Both parties promulgated a full spread of discovery -- interrogatories, requests for

documents and requests for admissions. Both parties then answered the full spread of
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discovery.! (MANY of the discovery questions promulgated by Plaintiff dealt with
questions about, or requests for documents in or about 1992. Thus, many of the responses
were "I did not keep records from 22 years ago" or "I cannot recall.") Thereafter, both
parties requested Rule 37 conferences. Rule 37 conferences were held separately on both
parties' sets of Rule 37 notifications.?

Moreover, the instant motion was filed in January of this year. Instead of replying
within the time allowed, Plaintiff asked for and received extensions during which it could
have filed any discovery, taken additional depositions® or filed discovery motions. The
stated purpose for the needing more than two months to reply was to allow plaintiff to
complete whatever it felt necessary to fully reply.

The final such extension was to April 7, 2014 -- at which time the reply was filed,
essentially asking for more extensions. No motions to enlarge discovery were requested
as plaintiff already had the extra time allotted under its other time requests.

Only after the time allowed for discovery lapsed, did plaintiff file its reply.

! Plaintiff had defendant's responses for more than a month before the Opposition was filed.

2 The parties discussed and agreed to have the issues set forth in a letter that plaintiff was to write
prior to the end of the discovery date (as had been done with regard to the other Rule 37 conference)
-- but did not do so.

3 Plaintiff cleverly words its reply, but tacitly admits that it did not seek discovery, serve subpoenae
or otherwise attempt in any manner to take depositions of the FBI agents whose contemporaneous
sworn affidavits in another proceeding are before the Court. Having the burden with regard to the
non-access/statute of limitations it is Plaintiff's burden to prove reasonable lack of access, not
Defendants to prove the contrary.
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II1. Argument
This Court has stated the applicable law -- which is patently clear:

Ordinarily, "a statute of limitation begins to run upon the occurrence of the
essential facts which constitute the cause of action" unless the statute of
limitations has been tolled.!® While Plaintiff's reply fails to address under
which legal standard they contend the statute of limitations period was tolled,
Defendant argues that Plaintiffs argument fails under both the discovery rule
and the doctrine of equitable tolling. Specifically,

Under the law of the Virgin Islands, application of the equitable
'discovery rule' tolls the statute of limitation[s] when the injury or its
cause is not immediately evident to the victim. Thus, the discovery
rule provides that the statute of limitations period begins to run when
the plaintiff has discovered, or by exercising reasonable diligence,
should have discovered (1) that she has been injured, and (2) that this
injury has been caused by another party's conduct. The discovery rule
is to be applied using an objective reasonable person standard.?0l]
(emphasis added)

On the other hand, equitable tolling may apply "where the defendant has
actively misled the plaintiff," as Plaintiff here alleges in the Complaint.?'*l
However, similarly to the discovery rule, for a Plaintiff to invoke equitable
tolling, the Plaintiff must demonstrate "that he or she could not, by the
exercise of reasonable diligence, have discovered essential information
bearing on his or her claim."??¢! (emphasis added). To determine whether
a person has exercised reasonable diligence under either the discovery rule
or doctrine of equitable tolling, courts employ an "objective reasonable
person standard. "2*(Emphasis added.)

420 [Footnote in original] In re Equivest St. Thomas, Inc., 2010 WL 4343616, at *5 (D.V.1. Nov.
1, 2010) (quoting Joseph v. Hess Oil, 867 F.2d 179, 182 (3d Cir. 1989) and Boehm v. Chase
Manhattan Bank, 2002 WL 31986128, at *3 (D.V.L. 2002)) (internal citations and quotations
omitted).

521 [Footnote in original] Id. at *6.
6 22 [Footnote in original] Id. (citing In re Mushroom Transp. Co., Inc., 382 F.3d 325, 339 (3d

Cir. 2004) (quoting Oshiver v. Levin, Fishbein, Sedran & Berman, 38 F.3d 1380, 1390 (3d Cir.
1994)).
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The Court's footnote 23 makes this even clearer:

23 [Footnote in original) Id.; see also Riley v. Medtronic, Inc., 2011 WL

3444190 (W.D. Pa. Aug. 8, 2011) ( "[T)he applicable standard is not whether

the Plaintiff subjectively knew of the cause of the injury. Rather, it is

whether a diligent investigation would have revealed it.")(internal

citations and quotations omitted). (Emphasis added.)
Thus it is plaintiff's burden to "demonstrate" some factual basis for believing that "[it] could
not, by the exercise of reasonable diligence, have discovered essential information bearing
on his or her claim."

This is a 1992 event, it is based on 22 year-old memories and plaintiff is seeking to
try to prove its case solely by fishing for plaintiff's own 22 year old, non-existent
documents. These are documents that nobody would keep -- documents from before
Marilyn, Georges, Lenny and Omar. There simply are no more responsive documents.

Moreover it is uncontested that the sole Plaza Extra Store (East) burned down on in
January, 1992, and did not even re-open until more than a year later. This means that not
only all applicable business records burned, but that Plaza Extra was not even open during
1992 or most of 1993 when this was supposed to have happened. No more discovery is
warranted because there is not even the faintest indication that defendant has any such
documents -- he does not.

Finally, in the face of two sworn FBI affidavits which state that plaintiff and their
counsel absolutely and positively had access to ALL of the documents in the

government's possession, and the admission that plaintiff got the 1992 tax returns from

the government -- more discovery should be allowed because . . . . because why? Having

JA -114-



the burden, plaintiff should have done some fact discovery or Rule 45 depositions. Plaintiff

states:

Defendant fails to cite_any proof of how, when, and where the Plaintiff,

through its counsel, had access specifically to Waheed Hamed's 1992 tax

returns. Defendant attaches the Declaration of FBI Agents Thomas L. Petri

and Christine Zieba. These Declarations make general claims of access to

evidence or documents by defense attorneys. (Emphasis added.)
Defendant fails? Leaving aside the fact that this is plaintiff's burden and that plaintiff has
supplied no affidavits of anyone with personal knowledge supporting such a lack of
ACCESS, the Yusuf affidavit contests actual possession of the specific document rather
than access, and is just legally irrelevant. The document was clearly in the government's
collection -- plaintiff admits that is where it came from. And two FBI agents recite not
only the fact that ALL collected documents were made available -- but that Plaintiff's
counsel went through, copied and scanned many times. Did he see this exact document?
Again, not the question,

a. Plaintiff's statements in Reply are completely unsupported of record.

Below are Plaintiff's verbatim statements (italicized text) made in opposition --
with Defendant's reply to each:

On November 15th, 2013, Plaintiff served upon Defendant Waheed Hamed

its interrogatories, request for production of documents, and request of

admissions. On February 12th, 2014, Defendant Waheed Hamed responded

to Plaintiffs discovery requests. Unfortunately, no responsive discovery was

received.

Defendant’s Response: (1) Responsive discovery was most certainly received, and (2) no

motion for enlargement of time for discovery was filed on a timely basis.
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Additionally, during the course of this matter, Plaintiff has been awaiting the
release of tens of thousands of financial documents seized by the U.S.
Government in the case of United States v. United Corporation (05-cr-1 5).
Waheed Hamed who is a co-indictee is fully aware of the existence, location,
and custody of these documents. (Emphasis added.)

Defendant's Response: (1) Plaintiff's lawyers have had access to these documents and the
opportunity to review them for more than a decade -- something plaintiff does not dispute
by any method or submission of record, (2) there is no showing what the relevance is here
and (3) plaintiff has not sought to depose the FBI agents or dispute the access by its
attorneys.

however, in a race against time, Defendant Hamed seeks to dismiss this
matter on statute of limitations grounds

Defendant's Response: What race against time ? Plaintiff stipulated to a scheduling order,
(2) Plaintiff has been given all extensions requested, (3) plaintiff has had over two months
since this motion was filed but sought neither Rule 45 inquiry nor an extension of
discovery.

Defendant's assertions are sadly misleading and based on speculation.

Defendant's Response: The FBI affidavits are neither misleading nor speculative. And it
is plaintiff's burden here that is important -- so defendant's assertions are not the issue.

In response to a motion for summary judgment, the nonmoving party can file
a Rule 56(d) declaration. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(d) provides: If a non-movant
shows by affidavit or declaration that, for specified reasons, it cannot present
facts essential to
Justify its opposition, the court may:
(1) defer considering the motion or deny it;
(2) allow time to obtain affidavits or declarations or to take discovery;,
or
(3) issue any other appropriate order.
In the declaration, a party must specify: (1) what particular information is
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sought; (2) how, if uncovered, it would preclude summary judgment, and (3)
why it has not previously been obtained. Pa., Dept. of Pub. Welfare v.
Sebelius, 674 F.3d 139, 157 (3d Cir.2012)( citing Dowling v. City of Phi/a.,
855 F.2d 136, 139--40 (3d Cir.1988)). If a party opposing summary judgment
files an affidavit that specifically addresses these requirements, the Third
Circuit has held that "a continuance of a motion for summary judgment for
purposes of discovery should be granted almost as a matter of course,”
especially when particular information is in the sole possession of the moving
party. Malouf'v. Turner, 814 F.Supp.2d 454, 459--60 (D.N.J.2011) (quoting
Sames v. Gable, 732 F.2d 49, 51 (3d Cir.1984)).

Defendant's Response: This is a patently absurd argument. A/ of the cases cited and the
applicable rule involve the right to Rule 56(d) discovery BEFORE discovery as ordered by
the court and stipulated to by the parties has been completed. Even the most cursory
reading of Sebelius and Sames reveals that additional discovery may be necessary when an
opportunity for adequate discovery has not yet already been given. The cases cited directly
contradict plaintiff's argument. The whole reason that defendant gave plaintiff many extra
weeks to reply was to allow any such discovery or make an appropriate motion.

Moreover, both Declarations refer to attorney Randall Andreozzi's request
to review documents, and his failure to "pursue the matter." In his arguments,
Defendant conveniently omits ~11, which states the following:

"During the document review in January 2009, Randall Andreozzi requested
to review all documents obtained via subpoena. I explained to him that |
could not produce all evidence at once. That evidence comprises
approximately 40 boxes. I asked him for a specific list of documents, or
category of documents that he wished to review. He declined

to identify the records that he wished to review and did not pursue the
matter." See Declaration of FBI Agent Thomas L Petri, ~11, Exhibit D
(relevant portion highlighted) See Declaration of FBI Agent Christine Zieba,
~11, Exhibit E (relevant portion highlighted).

The Declarations show that Attorney Andreozzi needed a "subpoena' in

2009 to request documents. This begs the question of why would Andreozzi
need a subpoena if as Defendant contends the documents were always
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available to Plaintiff through its attorneys. Clearly, these documents were
not available for inspection without a subpoena. Defendant's cherry picking
and selective presentation of evidence is calculated to present a misleading
view of the real facts.

Here, plaintiff simply misreads the document. Attorney Andriozzi was not exercising a

subpoena to see the documents -- he was requesting all documents the government had

obtained by subpoena. And the Government was not able to supply them all in foto at that
moment -- but the affidavits reflect that all of those documents were reviewed many times.

And aside from that -- who is testifying to what went on there? It is plaintiff's counsel in

his argument -- with no deposition or affidavit. Again, nothing of record. Counsel argues:
Declarations demonstrate that in fact no review and/or identification of
documents was done by Attorney Andriozzi. If anything both of these
Declarations clearly state that Attorney Andriozzi did not "pursue the
matter” i.e., the documents that he was seeking.

No affidavit or deposition of Attorney Andriozzi is presented. There is no basis for this.
No one even knows which attorneys were present at the evidence review
meetings with the FBI, and what documents in fact were available for
inspection.

This is not plaintiff's burden. The documents were available. United clearly could have

accessed them. Defendant needs not prove that United took the opportunity or ever saw

the specific document.

Conclusion
Plaintiff has failed to shoulder its burden by placing any facts before the Court that

give rise to any issue as to its defense to its "lack of access" defense to the statute of

limitations.
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Dated: April 16, 2014

Vv 4
Carl J. Hartmann III, Esq.
Counsel for Defendant
5000 Est. Coakley Bay, L6
Christiansted, VI 00820

Email: carl@carlhartmann.com
Telephone: (340) 642-4422

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 16th day of April, 2014, I served a copy of the
foregoing document by email, as per the agreement of the parties, on:

Nizar A. DeWood

The DeWood Law Firm

2006 Eastern Suburb, Suite 101
Christiansted, VI 00820
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Filed on 4/29/2014 1:07:11 PM, Clerk

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS

UNITED CORPORATION
VS.
WILLIE HAMED

Case Number ST-2013-CV-0000101

Action For DAMAGES

NOTICE

F

ENTRY OF ORDER

NIZAR A. DeWOOD, ESQ

CARL J. HARTMANN lIl, ESQ

Please take notice that on 28th_day of April, 2014 a(n) ORDER dated April 25,
2014 was entered by this Court in the above-titted matter.

Dated: 20th_day of April, 2014

REV 08/2012

ESTRELLA H. GEORGE
Acting Clerk of the Court

By: @%

TITLE: Court Clerk Ninterpreter

Super. Ct Form No. 050GEN
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SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION, )
)
Plaintiff, )
)
Vs, )
) Case. No. ST-13-CV-101
WAHEED HAMED, a/k/a WILLY OR WILLIE )
HAMED )
)
Defendant. )
)
ORDER

The Plaintiff having responded on April 07, 2014, to Defendant’s Motion for
Summary Judgment, it is

ORDERED that Plaintiff SUPPLEMENT, by May 12, 2014, its Response in
Opposition with proof by affidavit from the United States Attorney’s Office that it no
longer has access to review documents held by the federal government, as opposed to the
facts set forth in Special Agent Thomas L. Petri’s July 08, 2009, Declaration; and it is

ORDERED that copies of this Order shall be directed to counsel of record.

Dated: April)C, 2014 — C—;—\——-’ —

HON. MICHAEL C. DUNSTON

: neti%e quez, Esq. JUDGE OF THE SUPERIOR COURT
Clerk of Cou / OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

b .
Lori Boynes-Fysgon z
Court Clerk $upervisor ] Oyl/

[
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS/ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION,
Plaintiff, Case No. 2013-CV-101
V.
WAHEED HAMED, ACTION FOR DAMAGES

(a’k/a Willy or Willie Hamed),

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Defendant.

DEFENDANT WAHEED HAMED'S
RULE 12(c) MOTION TO DISMISS FOR LACK OF STANDING

Comes now defendant Hamed, pursuant to Rule 12(c) and asks the Court to
dismiss the claims' being asserted against her pursuant to Rule 12(c), which states:
(c) MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS. After the pleadings
are closed—but early enough not to delay trial—a party may move for

judgment on the pleadings.
In this regard, on April 7, 2014, the plaintiff herein, United Corporation, filed a
pleading in a related case on St. Croix finally admitting that the Plaza Extra store
where the defendant is employed is owned by a partnership, not United

Corporation. See § 7 on page 3-4 of Exhibit 1 attached.? Additionally, United's

counsel, in that case, has confirmed this fact in an email sent shortly after this

! This motion, if granted, renders the summary judgment briefed before this Court moot.

2 Indeed, in that filing United not only makes this concession, but one of the partners in the
partnership (Fathi Yusuf) that employs the Defendant seeks to dissolve the partnership and lay
off all of the employees, including the Defendant in this case.

JA -122-



pleading was filed, stating it has always been the Hamed/Yusuf partnership
operating this store. See Exhibit 2 attached.

In short, those alleged claims belong to her employer, the partnership, not
United, who is nothing more than the Landlord at the shopping center where Plaza

Extra Supermarkets East is located..

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,

Dated: April 22,2014 M’ %M—
v—7

Carl J. Hartmann III, Esq. (Bar No. 48)
Counsel for the Defendant

5000 Estate Coakley Bay, L-6
Christiansted, VI 00820

(340) 719-8941

carl@carlhartmann.com
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

[ hereby certify that on April 22, 2014, I served a copy of the foregoing Memorandum by
email, as agreed by the parties, on:

Nizar A. DeWood

The DeWood Law Firm

2006 Eastern Suburb, Suite 101
Christiansted, V1 00820

Ot} tfidwan—
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS/ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION,

Plaintiff, Case No. 2013-CV-101

V.
WAHEED HAMED, ACTION FOR DAMAGES
(a/k/a Willy or Willie Hamed),
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
Defendant.
ORDER

THIS MATTER having come on before the Court on the motion of
Defendant Hamed, pursuant to Rule /2(c) and the Court being advised in the
premises and matters of record, it is hereby:

ORDERED:

1. This action is DISMISSED with prejudice.

Dated:
HON. MICHAEL C. DUNSTON
Judge of the Superior Court
of the U.S. Virgin Islands

ATTEST:

Clerk of Court

Deputy Clerk

By:

Deputy Clerk
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

DIVISION OF ST. CROIX
MOHAMMAD HAMED, by his ) CIVIL NO. SX-12-CV-370
authorized agent WALEED HAMED, )
) ACTION FOR DAMAGES,
Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant, ) INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
) AND DECLARATORY RELIEF
VS, )
) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION,)
)
Defendants/Counterclaimants, )
)
vs. )
)
WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED, )
MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and )
PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC,, )
)
Additional Counterclaim Defendants )

)
MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF

MOTION TO APPOINT MASTER FOR JUDICIAL SUPERVISION
OF PARTNERSHIP WINDING UP OR,
IN L A T POINT RE R TO WIND UP

Defendants/counterclaimants Fathi Yusuf (*Yusuf*) and United Corporation (“United”)
(collectively, the “Defendants”), respectfully submit this Memorandum in Support of their
Motion To Appoint Master For Judicial Supervision Of Partnership Winding Up Or, In the
Alternative, To Appoint Receiver To Wind Up Partnership (the “Motion™).

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

1. On September 17, 2012, plaintiff/counterclaim defendant Mohammed Hamed
(“Hamed" or “Plaintiff") filed his complaint in this matter. Hamed filed his first amended
complaint (“FAC™) on October 19, 2012, The FAC aileges, among other things, that Hamed and
Yusuf formed a partnership to own and operate a supermarket business comprised of three

supermarket stores located in Sion Farm, St. Croix, Estate Plessen, St. Croix, and Tutu Park, St.
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Hamed v. Yusuf, et al,
Civil No. STX-12-¢cv-370
Page 2 of 12

Thomas (collectively, the “Plaza Extra Stores”). See FAC at §§ 9 and 12. The Plaza Extra
Stores also maintained various operating and brokerage banking accounts. See FAC at §§ 16 and
18.

2. On April ?S, 2013, this Court issued its Memorandum Opinion and Order
granting Plaintiffs Motion for a Preliminary Injunction. See Hamed v. Yusuf, 58 V... 117
(Super. Ct. 2013). The Virgin Islands Supreme Court affirmed the portion of this Court’s Order
granting Hamed’s Motion for a Preliminary Injunction but vacated the portion of the Order
allowing the use of funds held by the District Court to serve as security for an injunction bond
and remanded the matter for reconsideration of the injunction bond. See Yusuf'v. Hamed, 2013
V.1. Supreme LEXIS 67, * 43 (V.I. Sept. 30, 2013).

3 This Court has preliminarily found, among other things, that “{a]ithough Plaintiff
retired from the day-to-day operation of the supermarket business in about 1996, Waleed Hamed
has acted on his behalf pursuant to two powers of attorney from Plaintiff.” See Hamed v, Yusuf,
58 V.I. at 126; see also Yusuf v. Hamed, 2013 V.1. Supreme LEXIS 67, * 2-3 (“In 1996, Hamed
retired from his role in the operations from the business due to illness, giving a power of attorney
and delegating his management responsibilities to one of his sons, Waleed Hamed.”). However,
this Court also found there to be questions of fact as to whether Waleed Hamed’s authority was
as a result of his acting as an agent for Hamed or simply as a result of his managerial position as
an employee of United (e.g. whether Waleed’s ability to sign checks “originate[d) from
[Hamed's] 50% interest in the Partnership business or is...simply a feature of the managerial
positions of [Hamed's] sons” and “did [Hamed’s] sons become Plaza Extra Store managers, as

agents of their father, pursuant to his assertion of his partnership rights of joint control, or were
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Hamed v. Yusuf, et al.
Civil No. STX-12-¢v-370
Page 3 of 12

they hired as managerial employees because they were nephews of ...Yusuf's wife™) See
December 5, 2013 Order Denying Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, p. 6.
4, This Court also preliminarily found that “[o}n March 13, 2012, through counsel,
Yusuf sent a Proposed Partnership Dissolution Agreement to Hamed, which described the
history and context of the parties’ relationship, including the formation of an oral partnership
agreement to operate the supermarkets, by which they shared profits and losses.” Hamed v.
Yusuf, 58 V.I. at 126; see also Yusuf v. Hamed, 2013 V.l. Supreme LEXIS 67, * 4 (A few
months later, Yusuf informed Mohammad Hamed of his intention to end their business
relationship, sending a proposed “Dissolution of Partnership” agreement to Hamed on March 12,
2012..
S. In its April 25, 2013 Memorandum Opinion, this Court noted the following:
Neither party has sought and the Court has not considered the
prospect of appointing a receiver or bringing in any other outsider
to insure that the joint management and control of the partnership
is maintained. Rather, notwithstanding the animosity that exists
between the parties, they are left to work out issues of equal

management and control themselves as they have done
successfully over the years.

Hamed v, Yusuf, 58 V.I. at 136-137.

6. On December 23, 2013, Defendants filed their Answer and Counterclaim, which,
among other things, denied the existence of the partnership as alleged in the FAC. Defendants
filed a First Amended Counterclaim on January 13, 2014, Although Defendants denied the
existence of any partnership as alleged in the FAC, they pled in the altemative in the event a
partnership is nevertheless found to exist. See, ¢.8., First Amended Counterclaim at § 12.

7. Given the animosity between the parties noted by this Court, Yusuf's complete

lack of trust in Hamed, and Yusuf's unwillingness to continue to camy on any business
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Hamed v, Yusuf, et al,
Civil No. STX-12-cv-370
Page 4 of 12

relationship whatsoever with Hamed, Yusuf now concedes for the purposes of this case that he
and Hamed entered into a partnership to carry on the business of the Plaza Extra Stores and to
share equally the net profits from the operation of the Plaza Extra Stores.

ARGUMENT

L ‘THE PARTNERSHIP HAS BEEN DISSOLVED AND ITS BUSINESS
MUST BE WOUND UP.

As provided in the Uniform Partnership Act, V.I. Code Ann. tit. 26, §§ 1-274
(“UPA"):

A partnership is dissolved, and its business must be wound up, only
upon the occurrence of the following events:

(1) in a partnership at will, the partnership's having notice from a
partner other than a partner who is dissociated under Sectlon
121, subsections (2) through (10) of this chapter, of that

partner’s express will to withdraw as a partner, or on a later
date specified by the partner[.]

UPA § 171(1).

Here, the partnership has either already been dissolved or is dissolved by virtue of this
filing. Therefore, assuming arguendo that Hamed's retirement from the partnership in 1996 or
counsel for Yusuf's March 12, 2012 notice of intent to end the partnership did not dissolve the
partnership by operation of law, then clearly paragraph 7, above, sets forth Yusuf's “express will
to withdraw as a partner,” thus dissolving the partnership, if it had not already been dissolved.

Pursuant to UPA § 172(a):

Subject to subsection (b) of this section, a partnership continues after

dissolution only for the purpose of winding up its business. The partnership
is terminated when the winding up of its business is completed.
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(Emphasis added). Section 173 of the UPA provides, in pertinent part;

(a) After dissolution, a partner who has not wrongfully' dissociated may
participate in winding up the partnership's business, but on application
of any partner, the partner’s legal representative, or transferee, the
Superior Court, for good cause shown, may order judicial supervision of
the winding up.

'y

(c) A person winding up a partnership’s business may preserve the
partnership business or property as a going concern for a reasonable
time, prosecute and defend actions and proceedings, whether civil,
criminal, or administrative, settle and close the partnership's business,
dispose of and transfer the partnership’s property, discharge the
partnership’s liabilities, distribute the assets of the partnership pursuant
to section 177 of this chapter, settle disputes by mediation or arbitration,
and perform other necessary acts.

(Emphasis added).
A. Hamed Dissociated in 1996 and Could Not Transfer Management Rights,

Yusuf submits that Hamed effectively dissociated from and dissolved the partnership
when he “retired from the day-to-day operations of the supermarket business in . .. 1996” and
returned to his homeland of Jordan. While this Court and the Supreme Court have referenced the
powers of attorney from Hamed to his son, Waleed Hamed, neither Hamed, this Court nor the
Supreme Court have cited a single authority that allows a “retiring” partner to effectively assign
or delegate his role as partner to his son or any other person.?

Section 2(9) of the UPA provides: ‘““partner’s interest in the partnership” means all of a

partner’s interests in the partnership, including the partner’s transferable interest and all

V A partner's dissociation is wrongful only if one of the condltions set forth In UPA § 122(b) applies. Defendents
submit that these provisions are inapplicable to the clrcumstances of this case.

2 This Court has noted previously that Wateed Hamed has tsken a contradictory position in the Plea Agreement In

the pending criminal action claiming to be merely an employee of United as opposed to one able to exercise
concurrent control. See December S, 2013 Order Denying Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, p. 6.
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management and other rights.” Section 92 of the UPA makes it clear that a partner's management
rights are not transferable: “The only transferable interest of a partner in a partnership is the
partner’s share of the profits and losses of the partnership and the partner’s right to receive
distributions. The interest is personal property,™

If Hamed’s retirement in 1996 or Yusuf's notice of his intention to end their business
relationship in March of 2012 did not effect a dissolution, clearly, Yusuf’s position set forth in
paragraph 7, above, qualifies as notice of his “express will to withdraw as a partner.” See UPA §
121Q1).

B. Partnerships Require At Least Two Partners.

Hamed appears to be laboring under the mistaken belief that “Yusuf’s partnership interest
.should be disassociated [sic] from the business, allowing Hamed to continue the Partnership’s
business without him pursuant to the provisions of 26 V.LC. including §§ 122-123, 130 and what
is now Subchapter VII of Title 26." See FAC at §42. Under the UPA, the term ‘“partnership”
means an association of fwo or more persons to carry on as co-owners a business for profit
formed under section 22 of this chapter, predecessor law, or comparable law of another
jurisdiction. UPA, § 2(6)(emphasis supplied). See also UPA § 22(a). As this Court has noted,
“liln the mid-1980s when the Hamad-Yusuf business relationship began, a Virgin Islands
partnership was defined as ‘an association of two or more persons to carry on as co-owners a
business for profit.* V.L Ccde Ann. tit. 26, § 21(a) (predecessor statute). Hamed v. Yusuf, 58

V.1 at 130.

3 Section 92 of the UPA is identical 10 § 502 of the Uniform Partnership Act (1997). One of the comments to § 502
states: “A partner has other interests in the partnership that mey not be transferred, such as the right to participate in
the management of the business. Those rights are incleded in the broader concept of a “partner’s interest in the
pasteership,"™
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Hamed, like the parties in Corrales v. Corrales, 198 Cal. App. 4 221, 129 Cal. Rptr. 3d
428, 2011 Cal. App., LEXIS 1043 (August 10, 201 1), incorrectly assumes the business of a two
person partnership can be continued by one partner. As the Court in Corrales cogently concluded
after considering California’s partnership statutes, which are analogous to the Virgin Islands’
UPA, when it comes to a one-partner partnership:

[N]o such animal exists. If a partnership consists of only two persons, the
partnership dissolves by operation of law when one of them departs.

1d at 224.
The Corrales court went on to explain that:
When Richard withdrew from RCE, the partnership dissolved by operation
of law; by definition, a partnership must consist of at least two persons. A
person cannot dissociate from a dissolved partnership, and the buyout rule
of section 1670) does not apply to a two-person partnership when one
partner leaves. When that happens, the dissolution procedures take over.
The partnership is wound up, its business is completed, and the pastners

make whatever adjustments are necessary to their own accounts after paying
the creditors.

Id. at 227 (citations and footnotes omitted).

Finally, the Corrales court pointed out that “{tJhe purpose of dissociation is to allow the
partnership to continue with the remaining partners. When a partner withdraws from a two-
person partnership, however, the business cannot continue as before. One person cannot carry on
a business as a partnership.” Id.

Accordingly, the partnership that once existed between Hamed and Yusuf has clearly been
dissolved (whether in 1996, 2012 or now) and the only thing that remains to be done is to wind up

the partnership business.

II. A MASTER SHOULD BE APPOINTED TO SUPERVISE THE WINDING
UP.
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Yusuf requests the appointment of a Master in this case to provide judicial supervision to
the wind up efforts. Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. Pro. 53(a), made applicable to proceedings in this
Court by Super. Ct. R. 7, a court may appoint a Master* to assist with certain matters includlng
situations where there is a “need to perform an accounting or resolve a difficult computation of
damages" or to “address pretrial...matters that cannot be effectively and timely addressed by an
available,..judge.” As set forth above, §173 of the UPA provides, that a partner “may participate
in winding up the partnership’s business” and “on application...for good cause shown” seek
“judicial supervision of the winding up.”

By admission of Hamed, Yusuf has made all of the business decisions relating to the
Plaza Extra Stores from their inception. Hamed testified at the preliminary injunction hearing
that “Mr. Yusuf be in charge of everybody...[in) all the three stores.” See Jan. 25, 2013 Hrg, Tr.
201:4; 210:22-23. Hamed confirmed that Yusuf was the partner who possessed the ultimate
decision making authority with respect to the Plaza Extra Stores at his deposition on April 1,
2014. Further, Hamed has not been in the Plaza Extra Stores in his capacity as a partner since
his retirement in 1996 and has not been involved in the daily operations in over eighteen (18)
years. Although Hamed may be incapable of meaningful participation in the winding up due to,
among other things, his lack of working knowledge of the operations of the Plaza Extra Stores
and perhaps his poor health, Yusuf has no objection to Hamed's personal participation in the
winding up. Yusuf does, however, object to Hamed’s delegation of his rights and obligations as

a partner in the winding up of the partnership to his son or any other person. Given the

4 Hamed shauld not be heard to complain about the appointment of 8 Master since he requested this relief in the first
sentence of his prayer for relief. Sea FAC at p. 15 (“Wherefore, the Plaintlff seeks the following relief from this
Court as follows: 1) A full and complete accounting to be conducted by a court-appointed Master . . .").
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animosity between the parties and the concern that any proposals or decisions made by Yusuf in
winding up the partnership will be constantly challenged, Yusuf seeks judicial supervision by a
Court appointed master of the winding up to insure an orderly process.

To that end, Yusuf submits a proposed plan for winding up of the partnership (the
“Plan”). See Exhibit A. Consistent with the powers set forth in §173(c) of the UPA for “a
person winding up a partnership’s business,” the Plan seeks to:

preserve the partnership business or propefty as a going concemn for a

reasonable time, prosecute and defend actions and proceedings, whether

civil, criminal, or administrative, settle and close the partnership’s business,

dispose of and transfer the partnership's property, discharge the

partnership’s liabilities, distribute the assets of the parmership pursuant to

section 177 of this chapter, settle disputes by mediation or arbitration, and

perform other necessary acts.
The Plan sets forth the partnership assets and liabilities, how the assets will be disposed and the
liabilities satisfied, and the anticipated time-frame for winding up the partnership. Further, the
Plan provides that all monies recovered shall be placed in an escrow account to be utilized for the
payment of any partnership debts and, thereafter, for distribution following presentation to the
Master of an accounting and proposed distribution by the partners.

If the Court concurs that a Master should be appointed and the parties are unable to agree
on the person(s) to be appointed Master, Defendants request an opportunity to submit proposed
candidates for the Court’s consideration, along with a brief addressing the Master’s proposed

duties and compensation.

.  AS AN ALTERNATIVE TO JUDICIAL SUPERIVISION OF WINDING
UP, YUSUF REQUESTS THE COURT TO APPOINT A
DISINTERESTED, THIRD-PARTY AS RECEIVER TO WIND UP THE
PARTNERSHIP’S BUSINESS.
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In the event that this Court is not inclined to appoint 8 Master to supervise the winding up
of the partnership pursuant to the Plan, then Yusuf respectfully requests the Court to appoint a
disinterested, third-party receiver to undertake the winding up. Although the UPA does not
specifically provide for the appointment of a receiver, §173(a) clearly contemplates that the
“Superior Court, for good cause shown, may order judicial supervision of the winding up.” While
Yusuf is prepared to participate in the winding up as contemplated under UPA §173, given the
animosity between the parties and the constant conflicts arising from that animosity, Yusuf
submits that a disinterested, third-party receiver serving as an officer of this Court should be
appointed to effectuate the winding up.

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 66 and local case law, receivership is generaily considered to
be & drastic remedy resorted to only in extreme circumstances. See, e.g., Busenburg v. Dowd,
1980 U.S, Dist. LEXIS 15244, * 2-3 (D.V.1. Dec. 9, 1980). In this case, however, UPA § 173(a)
only requires “good cause” to be shown for judicial supervision of the winding up. Yusuf
respectfully submits that he has established good cause for the appointment of a receiver and that
& receiver, rather than the Court itself, can more practically provide the judicial supervision
contemplated by §173(a). If the Court is inclined to appoint a third-party receiver, Yusuf
respectfully submits that the Plan provides an appropriate “road map” for the recejver to wind up
the partnership as contemplated by §173(c). If the Court is so inclined to appoint a third-party
receiver, Defendants request the opportunity to submit proposed candidates for the Court’s
consideration along with a brief addressing the receiver’s proposed powers and compensation.

CONCLUSION
For all of the foregoing reasons, Defendants respectfully request this Court to enter an

order granting Defendants’ Motion by either appointing a Master to supervise the winding up of
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the partnership pursuant to the Plan or appointing a Receiver to effect the wind up and requiring
the parties 1o promptly submit proposéd Receiver candidates for the Court o consider along with
a brief addressing the Receiver’s proposed powers and compensation, and providing such further

relief as is just and proper under the circumstances.

DUBLEY, TOPPER and FEUERZEIG, LLP
Dated: April 7,2014 By:/ < .,/ /;-:./

Gregory H. Hodgés (V.I. Bar No. 174)
Law House

1000 Frederiksberg Gade - P.O. Box 756
St. Thomas, VI 00804

Telephone: (340) 715-4405

Telefax:  (340) 715-4400

E-mail:ghodues@dillaw.com

and

Nizar A. DeWood, Esq. (V.1. Bar No. 1177)
The DeWood Law Firm

2006 Eastern Suburbs, Suite 101
Christiansted, V1 00830

Telephone: (340) 773-3444

Telefax:  (888) 398-8428

Email: infof@dewood-law.com

Attorneys for Fathi Yusufand United Corporation
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| hereby certify that on this 7" day of April, 2014, | caused the foregoing
MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO APPOINT MASTER FOR JUDICIAL
SUPERVISION OF PARTNERSHIP WINDING UP OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, TO
APP?INT RECEIVER TO WIND UP PARTNERSHIP 10 be served upon the following via
c-mail:

Jocl H. Holt, Esq.

LAW OFFICES OF JOEL H. HOLT
2132 Company Street

Christiansted, V.l. 00820

Email: holtvi@aol.com

Carl Hartmann, {11, Esq.
5000 Estate Coakley Bay, #1.-6
Christiansted, V100820

Email: carl@carlhartmann.com

Mark W. Eckard, Esq.
Eckard, P.C.

P.O. Box 24849
Christiansted, V1 00824

Email: mark@markeckard.com
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-—--Original Message---—

From: George H.T. Dudley <gdudley@dtflaw.com>

To: ‘Joseph DiRuzzo' <JDiRuzzo@fuerstlaw.com>; 'Joel Holt' <holtvi@aol.com>

Cc: Christopher David <cdavid@fuerstlaw.com>; Gregory H. Hodges <ghodges@dtflaw.com>;
dewoodlaw <dewoodlaw@gmail.com>; Charlotte Perrell <cperreli@dtflaw.com>; carl
<carl@carlhartmann.com>; rpa <rpa@abfmwb.com>; grhea <grhea@rpwb.com>; pamelalcolon
<pamelalcolon@msn.com>; Deborah Muller <DMuller@fuerstiaw.com>; ‘K. Glenda Cameron'
<kglenda@cameronlawvi.com>

Sent: Tue, Apr 8, 2014 6:51 pm

Subject: RE: Plaza

Gentlemen,

Since United is not and has never been a partner in the Plaza Extra “partnership” between Fathi Yusuf
and Mohammad Hamed, this discussion is misplaced. United’s tax returns for 2013 and thereafter will
not reflect anything having to do with the business of the “partnership” (except the rent owed to United as
landlord of Plaza - East) and the two partners have to select an accountant to prepare the partnership
income tax return and the related K-1s to be issued to each partner.

There also is the matter of applicable filings for the Department of Labor and other agencies for the
employees and business of the Yusuf/Hamed “partnership” d/b/a Plaza Extra Supermarkets.

Joel, if you will confer with your client on suggested accountants, | will confer with my client on the same
matter and perhaps we can agree on an accounting firm to prepare all relevant tax and other filings on
behalf of the “partnership.”

Regards,

George H.T. Dudley

Dudley, Topper and Feuerzeig, LLP
P.O. Box 756

St. Thomas, VI 00804

Phone: 340-715-4444 (direct)
Phone: 340-774-4422 (switchboard)
Fax: 340-715-4400

Email: gdudley@dtflaw.com
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION, )
)
Plaintiff, )
)} CASE NO. ST-13-CV-10]
vs, )
)
WAHEED HAMED (a/k/a WILLY, WILLY HAMED), )
)
Defendant. )
)
ORDER

Defendant having filed a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Standing on April 28, 2014; it is

ORDERED that Plaintiff shall respond to Defendant’s Motion by May 23, 2014, and

Defendant may reply by June 2, 2014; and it is

ORDERED that copies of this Order shall be directed to counsel of record.

Dated: May 12, 2014.

Lori Boyfies-Tiyson

Court Clerk Supervisor g 2 113 i

JA

\
HON. MICHAEL T, DUNSTON
JUDGE OF THE SUPERIOR COURT
OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

-139-



IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION, )
) Case No.: 2013-CV-101
Plaintiff, )
) ACTION FOR DAMAGES
v. ) i S
) - Y
WAHEED HAMED, ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDEgj o
(a’/k/a Willy or Willie Hamed), ) T
) Lo ";‘( ;
Defendant. ) o e
) — " b

-} :
PLAINTIFF’S RULE 59(¢) MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION AND
TO ALTER OR AMEND JUDGMENT

Plaintiff United Corporation (“United™), through their undersigned attomey, respectfully
move this Court, pursuant Fed.R.Civ.P. 59(¢) (as applied to this Court by Superior Court Rule 7),
and the Court’s inherent authority, to reconsider the Court’s September 2, 2014 Opinion and
Order granting summary judgment on all remaining claims to Defendant and the Court’s June

24, 2013 Opinion and Order, and to vacate both Orders. In support of this motion, United

respectfully refers this Court to the accompanying Brief.

Respectfully sub%_—
DATED: September 29, 2014 By:

- DeWood, Esq. (V.I. Bar No. 1177)
e DeWood Law Firm
2006 Eastern Suburbs, Suite 101
Christiansted, V100830
Telephone: (340) 773-3444
Telefax:  (888) 398-8428

Email: info@dewood-law.com
Attorneys for Fathi Yusuf and United Corporation
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 29" day of September, 2014, I caused the foregoing
UNITED’S BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF ITS MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION AND
TO ALTER OR AMEND JUDGMENT to be served upon the following via e-mail:

Carl Hartmann, III, Esq.
5000 Estate Coakley Bay, #L-6
Christiansted, VI 00820
Email: carl@carlhartmann.com

A s
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION, )
) Case No.: 2013-CV-101
Plaintiff, )
) ACTION FOR DAMAGES
v. )
) s
WAHEED HAMED, ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED _,
(a/k/a Willy or Willie Hamed), ) v WG
) =<
Defendant. ) ~ 22
) o ;8
= a2
UNITED’S BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF ITS RULE 59(e) MOTIGN =%

FOR RECONSIDERATION AND TO ALTER OR AMEND JUD%@:
INTRODUCTION

The Court’s September 2, 2014 Opinion (the “Opinion”) and Order (the “Order”)
granting Waheed Hamed (“Waheed” or “Hamed”) summary judgment in this case found two
declarations submitted by FBI agents in the criminal case brought against United Corporation
(“United”) to be “dispositive” on the statute of limitations issue. See Opinion, p. 6. Those
affidavits addressed the criminal defendants’ access to hundreds of thousands of pages of
documents' that were seized by the FBI in the October 2001 raid of the grocery stores and
homes of the Hameds and Yusufs® and obtained from third parties. Specifically, the Court

accepted the truthfulness of the representations in those declarations that “Plaintiff’s defense

| The Government launched coordinated raids on the stores and on the homes of six of the defendants in October
2001, and “seized substantially all of the Defendants’ business, financial and person records.” See Exhibit A,
Defendants’ Motion for Specific Relief, p. 3, 1 2. They then obtained Defendants’ documents from a “a varicty of
other third-party sources, including “financial institutions, outside accounting firms, [and) family members. . . .”
Id. at §3. All told the Government obtained more than “five hundred banker boxes of the Defendants® documents
from these and other sources.” Id. at § 3. A bankers box will accommodate 4,000 pages of neatly organized
maicrial. See ht;g:llwww.thecrowlcxcompagx.comlimaginggervices/fngs.btml, September 18, 2014. Even
assuming conservatively that each box was filled only to one-half capacity, and that there were exactly 500 banker
boxes (and no more), the Government had in its possession approximately 1,000,000 pages of documents.

?Fathi Yusuf and Hamed's father, Mohammed Hamed, formed what has been conceded in other pending litigation
to be a partnership that operates three “Plaza Extra” grocery storcs in the Virgin Islands (two in St. Croix and one
in St. Thomas). Sce August 12, 2014 Declaration of Fathi Yusuf, € | and 3 filed in Hamed v. Yusuf and United

Corporation, Civil No. $X-12-CV-370, as an attachment to Defendants’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment in
that case.
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team was granted ‘unfettered’ access to discovery” and made a finding to that effect. 1d. at 5-6.
On the basis of that finding, and the Court’s assumption that the 1992 tax returns of Hamed
were among the documents in the FBI's possession in 2003, the Court found that United
“should have discovered Defendant’s alleged conduct by at least 2003 by exercising reasonable
diligence,” because by that time “all documents — including Defendants’ tax returns from 1992
and later — . . . were made available to Plaintiff for review.” Id. at p. 8.

What the Court did not know at the time it made these findings is that the FBI affidavits
were submitted by the U.S. Government in response to a motion signed by Waheed’s attorney
in the criminal case and attorneys for other defendants which argued that the defendants had
been denied access to documents so severely as to deprive them of due process and warrant
dismissal of the criminal case. See Exhibit A, Dkt. No. 103 8.3 The Honorable Raymond L.
Finch, who presided over the case, ruled in an order dated July 16, 2009 that full access had
been denied, and ordered the Government at its expense to copy every single document in their
possession and furnish those copies to the Defendants in the criminal case. See Exhibit F, Dkt.
No. 1152. The Government argued in a motion for reconsideration that copying those
voluminous documents would cost at least $125,000 and consume 3-4 months. See Exhibit G,
Dkt. No. 1177. Not long afterwards, plea negotiations began, and the parties agreed to a stay of
Judge Finch’s order during those discussions. The negotiations culminated in a plea agreement
filed on February 26, 2010, Dkt. No. 1248. The fact that Hamed took a contrary position in a
prior case which opposes the “unfettered access™ position taken in this case presents the classic

scenario for application of the doctrine of judicial estoppel, which would bar any reliance on

3 See the filings in the criminal case pending in the District Court of the Virgin Islands, Division of St. Croix,
cntitled USA v. Yusuf, et al., Criminal No. 2005-0015 (the “Criminal Case”) relating to the lack of access issues
are attached hercto as Exhibits A through L and denoted by their Federal Docket Number (“Dkt. No. ).
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the FBI affidavits. And even apart from judicial estoppel, Judge Finch’s order necessarily
rejected the “unfettered access” assertions in the FBI affidavits as untruthful, and the affidavits
are entitled to no deference for that reason.

Since the lynchpin of the Court’s Opinion and Order are affidavits that Hamed is
estopped to rely upon and that in any event are entitled to no weight at all, United respectfully
asks this Court to reconsider that ruling and, upon reconsideration, reinstate the claims that
were dismissed by the Order. In addition, since the analysis in the Opinion has some over-lap
with that of the June 24, 2013 ruling granting in part Hamed’s motion for judgment on the
pleadings, United also respectfully asks this Court to reconsider that prior order, pursuant to its
power to revisit any interlocutory order under Rule 54. United respectfully asks that the Court
grant reconsideration and vacate that order, which dismissed United’s claims on statute of
limitations grounds to the extent they rely on an alleged $70,000 conversion by Hamed.

ARGUMENT
I. The Standard for Granting a Rule 59(e) Motion.

United’s motion to reconsider the Court’s September 4, 2014 Opinion and Order
granting Hamed summary judgment on all remaining claims is brought under Fed.R.Civ.P.
59(e). The case law establishes that a Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend may be granted on
the basis of any of the following three grounds: “1) an intervening change in controlling law;
(2) the availability of new evidence; or (3) the need to correct clear error of law or prevent
manifest injustice." Wiest v. Lynch, 710 F.3d 121, 128 (3d Cir. 2013). This test is identical to
that for granting a motion for reconsideration under LRCi 7.3, and Rule 59(e) motions are
treated as motions for reconsideration. See Id. at 127.

In granting a motion under the third ground, the Court has discretion to consider
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arguments and evidence that could have been presented earlier, if doing so will correct a clear

error of law or to avoid manifest injustice. See Gutierrez v. Gonzales, 2005 U.S. App. LEXIS

4502, pp. *29-*30 (3d Cir. 2005) (affirming district court’s grant of motion for reconsideration
“on the basis of evidence “known to [the movant] prior to the entry of the . . . order” and
presented for the first time on reconsideration, because the district court relied on “the need to
prevent manifest injustice” prong of the federal rule); Whitford v. Boglino, 63 F.3d 527, 530
(7th Cir. 1995) (district judge had discretion to reconsider its denial of a summary judgment
motion by allowing a party to file a second one that in the court’s view “presented a new and .
. . more convincing legal argument” than the first motion); Ortiz v. City of Chicago, 2011 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 53206, p. *11 (N.D. IIl. 2011) (denying motion for reconsideration where the
defendant identified “no injustice that would result absent the Court’s consideration of their
new argument”); Ford Motor Credit Company v. Bright, 34 F .3d 322, 324 (5th Cir. 1994) (a
court has discretion to consider “materials . . . that were not presented to the trial court for
consideration” in deciding a Rule 59(¢) motion for reconsideration); U.S. Home Corporation v.
Settlers Crossing, LLC, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 101778, p. *15 (D. Md. 2012) (“[b)ecause it
was within [Magistrate-Judge’s] discretion to consider previously available new evidence in
[granting a motion for reconsideration), the Reconsideration Order cannot be challenged on this
ground”); Church & Dwight Co., Inc. v. Abbott Laboratories, 545 F. Supp. 2d 447, 450 (D.
N.J. 2008) (“the Court does have discretion to consider evidence raised for the first time in the
motion for reconsideration if such evidence may lead to a different decision”).

In addition, courts will be especially inclined to consider evidence or argument on a
motion for reconsideration of an order that might have been presented earlier in situations like

the instant one in which the Plaintiff is asserting judicial estoppel as a ground for
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reconsideration, because that doctrine protects the integrity of the judicial process. See Milton
H. Greene Archives, Inc. v. CMG Worldwide, Inc., 568 F. Supp. 2d 1152, 1163 (C.D. Cal.
2008) (exercising “discretion to consider the newly presented evidence” in support of judicial
estoppel argument because that doctrine “concerns protection of the integrity of the courts and
the judicial process”).4

IL. The Court Should Grant Reconsideration of its Opinion and Order and Vacate the
Order Dismissing All Remaining Claims.

A. The Doctrine of Judicial Estoppel Precludes Any Reliance by Hamed on the
FBI Affidavits and their Assertions that Defendants were Given Unfettered
Access to Documents.

The Third Circuit Court of Appeals explained the doctrine of judicial estopppel
succinctly in Mintze v. American General Financial Services, Inc., 434 F.3d 222 (3d Cir.
2006):

The doctrine of judicial estoppel prevents a party from asserting
inconsistent claims in different legal proceedings. Judicial estoppel is
an equitable doctrine, within the Court’s discretion. The doctrine was
designed to prevent parties from playing fast and loose with the courts.

Id. at 232 (internal quotations and citations omitted). Three requirements must ordinarily be

satisfied before a court may properly apply the doctrine of judicial estoppel:

First, the party to be cstopped must have taken positions that are
irreconcilably inconsistent. Second, judicial estoppel is unwarranted
unless the part changed his or her position in bad faith - i.c., with
intent to play fast and loose with the Court. Finally, a district court
may not cmploy judicial estoppel unless it is tailored to address the
harm identified and no lesser sanction would adequately remedy the

damage done by the litigant’s misconduct.

*The undersigned counsel for United regrets not bringing to the Court’s attention matters raised in this motion that
could have been raised in the prior briefing on this motion. He did not believe that the Court would attach
dispositive significance to affidavits submitted by the U.S. Government in an adversarial criminal procceding
brought against Upited and Hamed (among others). He also regrets not advising the Court of what cfforts he made
to comply with the Court’s April 25, 2014 directive to obtain an affidavit from the U.S. Attorney’s Office
rebutting FBI Apent Petri’s affidavit. The undersigned counsel did in fact discuss with Assistant U.S. Attorney
Ishmael Meyers the prospect of obtaining an affidavit in what is still an ongoing criminal case (among other
things, United has not been sentenced), and concluded on the basis of that conversation that it would be
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Krystal Cadillac Oldsmobile GMC Truck, Inc. v. General Motors Corp, 337 F.3d 314, 319-320

(3d Cir. 2003) (internal quotation marks omitted) (italics in original).

In this case, Hamed quoted extensively from the FBI affidavits submitted in the
Criminal Case, and on the basis of that quoted material made the following representations to
the Court regarding United’s access to the documents that had been seized by the FBI from
Defendants’ homes and the Plaza Extra stores, and obtained by subpoena and otherwise from
third parties:

United Corporation had full, unfettered access to all of these documents
beginning in 2003, as detailed in the Declaration (dated July 8, 2009 of
FBI Special Agent Thomas L. Petri, in US.A. v. Fathi Yusuf,

Mohammed Yusuf, et al . . . (Hamed’s Memorandum in Support of
Motion for Summary Judgment, p. 4).

This unfettered access for United continued over many years, as noted
by FBI Special Agent Christine Zieba. (1d. at 4).

Thus, it is undisputed that Plaintiff had full, unfettered access to the
information it now claims gives rise to this cause of action in 2003 and
thereafter. (1d. at 5).

...[T]wo swom FBI affidavits . . . state that plaintiff and their counsel

absolutely and positively had access to ALL of the documents in

the government’s possession. . .. (Hamed’s Reply Brief at 5)

(emphasis in original).

No material fact exists as to whether plaintiff either had “unfettered

access” to the documents in 2003, or that such access has been

thoroughly exercised since 2003. (Id. at 8).
Hamed concluded from the affidavits in his Motion for Summary Judgment (at paragraph 2)
that “there is no dispute as to the sole operative fact that, contrary to what Plaintiff previously
represented to the Court, it had full and complete access to all of the documents in possession

of the U.S. Government for many years prior to the physical return of the documents . . .”

What Hamed failed to tell the Court was that these affidavits were submitted by the
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Government in response to a motion filed by him and the other defendants in the Criminal Case

on February 5, 2009. In that motion, which was entitled “Motion for Specific Relief Due to the

Government’s Destruction of the Integrity, Organization and Sourcing of Material Evidence,”

Hamed and all the other defendants in the Criminal Case asserted that the Government had

allowed “only limited supervised review of the evidence” and for a two-year or more period did

not permit any visits by defense counsel to the office where documents were kept.  “The

defense team’s last permitted visit to the FBI offices was in 2006,” the Motion asserted, and

from then “until November of 2008, the Government denied the Defendants accgss to their
~

documents despite numerous requests.” See Exhibit A at §19 and 13. The Mohon @sﬂnbed in

detail the various other ways in which Defendants had been denied access to:}mm
L el
—

documents. For example, when defense team visits resumed in November 2008; thglgl ag?nt
at the site “initially denied the team access to the records,” and placed new rqsi,nctmﬂé on the
Defendants’ “access and ability to review and examine the Defendants’ own docume:;’ts.” Id. at
99 14-15. Among these restrictions were that “the Government agents — not defense counsel -
would decide which boxes the team would be permitted to review.” Id. at ] 18.

The Motion also represented that the Government had impaired access to documents in
another way, which was to “reorganize{] and rearrange{] the Decfendants’ documents by
removing some documents from their original boxes and placing them in different boxes
because the revised organization better suited her nceds.” Id. at § 23. This severely
compromised Defendants’ access to their documents because the defense team “relied on the
box numbers” to identify what was contained in them. Id. at §{ 25-27. The defense team then

insisted on being given the opportunity to review boxes of documents in this reshuffled form to

determine the extent of the reshuffling and outright removal of documents from boxes. Id. at
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31, 37, 43. At various points during their review of documents, FBI agent Petri, who submitted
one of the affidavits relied upon by Hamed in this case, told the defense team “that they were
misinformed if they believed the documents seized and maintained by the govemnment
belonged to the defendants,” because in fact they “belonged to the Government, and that he
would do with them as he pleased.” Id. at § 45. The Motion asserted that the defense team
concluded its review of the integrity of the boxes, and “found that some boxes were entirely
missing,” and that “numerous documents” were “now missing from the boxes.” Id. at q 48.3
The denial of access was serious enough that Defendants sought dismissal of the case and a
return to them of all of the hundreds of thousands of pages of Defendants’ documents.

The Government responded to the Motion on February 24, 2009, and Defendants filed
their reply to the Government’s response on March 17, 2009. See Exhibit B, Dkt. No. 1067
Exhibit C, Dkt. No. 1076.° Then, on July 8, 2009, more than 3% months later, and the day
beforc a hearing on the motion, the Government filed its “Response to Defendants” Motion
Reply Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Specific Relief,” which attached as exhibits
the FBI affidavits relied upon by Hamed and by this Court as dispositive of the discovery rule,
claim accrual issues in this case.” See Exhibit D. On July 9, 2009, a hearing on the motion

was held before the Honorable Raymond L. Finch, and on July 16, Judge Finch entered an

The Motion also asserted that rather than copying what it needed and returning original documents to the rightful
owners, as it should have done under its own internal protocols, “the Government deliberately held [Defendants’)
property for more than scven years.” 1d. at §] 70. Further, the Government “never compiled an inventory of the
specific items and documents seized in the October 2001 raid.” Id. at § 69.

¢ The Defendants’ Reply, which was signed by Waheed's attorney, asserted, inter alia, that the Government “does
not dispute the factual allegations [in Defendants’ Motion), and the only controversy is whether the requested
relief is warranted.” Exhibit C, p. 2.

On that same day, July 8, counscl for Walced Hamed filed a motion to strike the Government’s unauthorized brief
and affidavits that were served after the close of business and on the eve of the hearing. Sce Exhibit E, Dkt. No.
1149. This motion and all of the other documents from the Criminal Case cited in this discussion may also be
reviewed on the District Court’s ECF ?Kednﬁ sdsgm.



United Corporation v. Waheed Hamed
Case No.: 2013-CV-101
Page 9

order, which specifically found the Government had provided the Defendants only “limited”
access to their documents, thereby rejecting the “unfettered access” assertions in those
affidavits. He then granted the extraordinary relief of making the Government copy each and
every page of the hundreds of thousands of documents in its possession, at their cost, and then

furnish them to the Defendants:®

The Government never provided the Defendants with a detailed
inventory of the specific documents scized. The Government has
only permitted the Defendants limited review of the evidence under
supervision which often involved oversight by government agents
involved in investigating this case.

¥ k%

Without a complete set of documents for unlimited review, the defense
team cannot determine the extent of hamm, if any, that the
Government’s rearrangement of the documents has caused.
Accordingly, it is hereby

ORDERED that the Govemment serve upon the defense team one
duplicate set of documents seized from the Defendants, as well as all
discoverable documents seized from third parties; that the duplicate set
correspond to the present documents arrangement; and that Defendants
have 60 days from the receipt of such documents to supplement their
Motion for Specific Relief due to the Government’s Destruction of the
Integrity, Organization and Sourcing of Material Evidence. (Emphasis
supplied in part).

Exhibit F.
On August 14, 2009, the Government filed a Motion to Reconsider Judge Finch’s Order
claiming that the Order was clearly erroneous or manifestly unjust and that, among other

things, it imposed a burden of production on the Government that would cost “no less than

®In relying on the FBI affidavits as dispositive of the discovery rule issues in this case, Hamed neglected to advise
this Court not only of the irrcconcilably inconsistent position he took in the Criminal Case on document access,
but also of Judge Finch’s Order, which found that full access had not been provided. VISCR 211.3.3(a)(2)
provides: “A lawyer shall not knowingly: (2) fail to disclose to the tribunal legal authority in the controlling
jurisdiction known to the lawyer to be directly adverse to the position of the client and not disclosed by opposing

counsel.”
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$125,000” and require “3 to 4 months” to satisfy.” See Exhibit G, p. 2 Dkt. No. 1177. A
month later, on September 14, 2009, Judge Finch cntered an Order denying the Government’s
Motion to Reconsider. See Exhibit I, Dkt. No. 1212. Shortly thereafter, the Government
commenced plea negotiations with the defendants, and in an October 19, 2009 motion, jointly
agreed to a stay of Judge Finch’s order during the pendency of the negotiations. Sec Exhibit J,
Dkt. No. 1227, p. 2. Those negotiations resulted in the signing of a plea agreement dated
February 26, 2010 (Dkt. No. 1248) under which United pled guilty to one count, which charged
it with willfully making and subscribing a 2001 U.S. Corporation Income Tax Retum in
violation of 33 V.LC. § 1525(2). Under that plea agreement, all charges against the individual
defendants were dismissed with prejudice.lo The amount of back taxes to be paid by United
(and the other defendants), was left open by the plea agreement (to be resolved by the Court if
necessary), and as to that issue discovery of documents was still potentially important. On
November 30, 2010, some nine months after the plea agreement, Waheed and other defendants
advised the Court by motion that the Government had still failed “to produce complete and
accurate copies of all of its documents to the defense.” See Exhibit K, p. 5, Dkt. No. 1297.
The motion asserted that, to date, “the Government has not complied with [the Judge Finch]
Order,” and “steadfastly refuses to return thosc documents.” Id. at p. 5. Mediation of the back-
tax issues took place on December 14, 2010, and on February 7, 2011, the parties filed an

addendum to the plea agreement setting forth the agreed-upon restitution amounts. See Exhibit

°0On August 20, 2009, Defendants filed their Opposition to the Motion to Reconsider. See Exhibit H, Dkt. No,
1180.

1° The individual defendants were charged, inter alia, with conspiracy to underpay United's gross receipts taxes for
the period 1996 to 2002 and with filing false individual tax returns for (depending on the individual) either the
1996 10 2001 or 1997 to 2000 tax years.
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L, Dkt. No. 1304.

From the above history, it is clear that the three requirements for application of judicial
estoppel to bar Hamed’s reliance on the FBI affidavits are readily met. First a comparison of
Hamed’s brief in this case and the motions and other filings he joined in the Criminal Case
show plainly that the positions Hamed took in the two cases regarding United’s access to the
documents held by the FBI are irreconcilably inconsistent. Secondly, Hamed’s intent to play
fast and loose with the Court is evidenced by his failure to tell this Court that the FBI affidavits
directly contradict positions taken in a motion filed by him seeking dismissal of the criminal
case because of the Government’s deprivation of access to documents - and his equally
remarkable failure to advise this Court that Judge Finch entered an order which addressed the
document access issue and necessarily rejected the very assertion of “unfettered access” set
forth in those affidavits. It is difficult to conclude that the failure to advise the Court of
inconsistent positions was anything other than intentional. Lastly, application of judicial
estoppel to preclude any reliance by Hamed on those affidavits is exactly tailored to address the
harm inflicted on this Court, and no lesser sanction would adequately remedy the damage done
by Hamed’s misconduct.

And even if the doctrine of judicial estoppel did not apply here, Judge Finch’s order in
the Criminal Case compels a finding by this Court that Defendants were deprived of full access
to their documents, and that the FBI affidavits are false insofar as they assert that United and
the other defendants to the Criminal Case had unfettered access to them. Indeed, the motion
that Waheed joined in on November 30, 2010 makes it clear that even at that late date, access
was still being denied. The Court should accordingly grant reconsideration of the Opinion and

vacate the Order dismissing the remaining claims.
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B. Before a Claim Can Accrue Under the Discovery Rule, A Plaintiff Must
First Have a Reasonable Suspicion of Wrongdoing by Another Which
Would Cause Him or Her to Look for and Find Documents Showing the
Wrongdoing.

The Court in this case implicitly accepted Hamed’s unsupported legal argument that
bare access to documents starts the statute of limitations running, even if the plaintiff has no
reasonable suspicion that would trigger a duty to look for and examine documents that might
show wrongdoing by Hamed, including his tax returns. See Hamed’s Brief Support of his
Motion for Summary Judgment at 8. The case law provides otherwise. Thus, even if the
doctrine of judicial estoppel and Judge Finch’s order did not at the very least create genuine
issues of material fact regarding United’s access to its documents, the Court’s ruling would still
be erroneous because it presumes on the basis of access to documents that a plaintiff or
prospective plaintiff has knowledge of every document in its files.

A Seventh Circuit case, Fujisawa Pharmaceutical Company, Ltd. v. Kapoor, 115 F.3d
1332 (7th Cir. 1997) is very clear on this point. There, a drug company, Fujisawsa, purchased a
substantial amount of stock in another drug company, Lyphomed. Fujisawa thereafter brought
a securities fraud suit against Lyphomed’s principal shareholder an executive, Kapoor, alleging
that he had committed fraud by concealing from it material facts regarding Lyphomed’s
troubles with the FDA that had led to a temporary ban on submitting new drug applications to
the Agency. The applicable statute of limitations contained a discovery rule (like that of the
Virgin Islands and many other states) under which the claim accrued when the plaintiff should
have discovered the existence of a claim. It provided that the limitations period began to run
“not when the fraud occurs, and not when the fraud is discovered, but when . . . the plaintiff

learns, or should have learned through the exercise of ordinary diligence . . .enough facts to

enable him by such further investigation as the facts would induce in a reasonable person to suc
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within a year.” 1d. at 1334. Kapoor argued that under the discovery rule, “the statute of
limitations begins to run as soon as the victim has access to the facts that would show the fraud
....” Id. at 1335. This meant, Kapoor said, that the claim accrued no later than “1990, when
Fujisawa acquired Lyphomed and with it custody of copies of all the questionable applications
that the FDA’s investigation later brought to light.” 1d. at 1335,
The Seventh Circuit rejected Kapoor’s argument that “ease of access to the necessary

information” was enough to start the limitations period to begin running;

Kapoor fastens on ease of access to the necessary information. All of it

was in documents that were in the possession of the victim itself,

Fujisawa, as the controlling sharcholder and later sole owner of

Lyphomed. But more than bare access to necessary information is

required to start the statute of limitations running. There must also be a

suspicious circumstance to trigger the duty to exploit the access; an

open door is not by itself a reason to enter a room. We reject the

suggestion that the defrauded purchaser of a company is presumed to

be on notice of everything in the company’s files, so that the statute of
limitation begins to run at the moment of the acquisition.

Id. at 1335.!" See also Pirelli Armstrong Tire Corporation, Retirec Medical Benefits Trust v.
Walgreen Co., 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 77648, *19-*20 (N.D. Ili. 2009) (holding that “Pirelli’s
mere possession of its [own] payment records [showing the alleged fraudulent prescription-
filling practices of Walgreen’s] is not alone sufficient to start the statute of limitations,” and
that “[t}here must also be some suspicious circumstance that would alert Pirelli to Walgreens’
potentially fraudulent conduct”); Thompson v. Butler, 2013 Ohio App. LEXIS 957, *22-*23

(Ohio App. 2013) (“evidence of a suspected breach of duty . . . should not usually be deemed

"Of course, the converse is also true. Once a potential plaintifT suspects that he has a claim against another
person, he must show his due diligence in discovering the existence of a cause of action, in order to defer the
running of the statute of limitations. See Actna Casualty & Surety Company v. Fernandez, 830 F.2d 952, 956 (8th
Cir. 1987) (holding that Actna’s subrogation claim against an individual allegedly involved in a collusive pricing
scheme which caused a loss to the insured was time-barred under the discovery rule because, upon learning that
the individual was a suspect in the scheme, Actna should have undertaken “a review of available documentary
evidence in [the insured’s) records” in order to demonstrate its due diligence in determining whether it had a basis
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‘discovered’ for starting the running of the statute of limitations” if, inter alia, “it is buried in
voluminous documents” or “require[s] a degree in financial economics or accounting to
understand”) (concusring opinion).

In his April 7, 2014 declaration attached to United’s opposition to Hamed’s summary
judgment motion, Fathi Yusuf asserts that Hamed’s tax returns never came into United’s
possession until 2011, when the FBI retumed, via hard drive, a small part of the documents it
had seized or otherwise obtained in connection with the Criminal Case, and Hamed tax returns

were among those documents in that hard drive. Yusuf Declaration, §{ 2 ..& Yusuf did not

suspect Waheed of misappropriation before he reviewed his tax returns that ﬁapp:em;l to be on

e

that hard drive, and he had no reason to ask his criminal attorney to try to obtam.ﬂ'ge retums
beforehand.'> And without having reasonable ground for suspicion, United" a‘nd Y‘usuf cannot
be presumed to have knowledge of these documents, even assuming arggen@ th@Umted had
access to them.

The upshot is that if this Court had any basis for finding that the Government provided |
full and complete access to documents, it was error to impute to United knowledge of any
documents tending to show wrongdoing by Hamed, cven before Mr. Yusuf formed any
suspicion of Hamed’s conversions and breaches of fiduciary duty and thus had any reason to

look for documents to confirm the truth of those suspicions."?

for a lawsuit).

12 A declaration filed by Mr. Yusuf in a case peading before the Honorable Douglas A. Brady, Mohammed Hamed
v. United Corporation, ct al., (casc no. STX-12-CV-370), confirms that he had no suspicion of wrongdoing by any
members of the Hamed family until he reviewed those documents. See Exhibit M, § 8. Mohammed Hamed is
seeking to use this Court's September 2, 2014 ruling to foreclose United’s recovery on claims that are part of its
counterclaim in the case before Judge Brady.

13To resist a motion for summary judgment based on the statute of limitations, a parly who relies on cquitable
tolling nced only “allegfe] acts that, taken as alleged, could persuade a court to activate the doctrine of equitable

tolling.” Meyer v. Riegel Products COE&;ahoFg 0 F.2d 303, 308 (3d Cir. 1983). As this Court observed in its
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III. The June 24, 2013 Opinion and Order Granting Partial Dismissal on the
Pleadings Should Also be Reconsidered.

If the Court grants reconsideration of its Opinion and Order, and vacates that final
order, United requests that it take a second look at the June 24, 2013 Opinion and Order, which
is based, at least in part, on a document access finding that is different from that of the
September 2 Order, but in United’s view equally untenable. If the September 2 Order is
vacated, then the June 24 Order will be restored to the status of an interlocutory order entered
before final judgment and it is well-settled that so long as a “court has jurisdiction over the
case, it possesses inherent power over interlocutory orders, and can reconsider them when it is

consonant with justice to do so.” Anthanassious v. Palmer, 2011 U.S. App. LEXIS 5733, *9

(3d Cir. 2011). This inherent power to reconsider an interlocutory order is governed by a more
lenient standard than the Rule 59(e) standard quoted above, in Section I of this brief. Thus,
when relying on its inherent power to reconsider an interlocutory order, “a trial judge has the
discretion to reconsider an issue and should exercise that discretion whenever it appears that a
previous ruling, even if unambiguous, might lead to an unjust result.” Id. at *9. See also Fye

v. Oklahoma Corporation_Commission, 516 F.3d 1217, 1224, n.2 (10th Cir. 2008) (court

exercising its “general discretionary authority to review and revise interlocutory rulings prior to
entry of final judgment” is “not bound by the strict standards for altering or amending a

judgment encompassed in Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 59(e)”).

Opinion at pages 7-8, the discovery rule and the cquitable tolling doctrines both incorporate a “reasonable
diligence” element. As such, the rule quoted from the Meyer case would also apply to a party who is relying on
the discovery rule to defcat a Rule 56 limitations motion. Here, United has satisfied this burden with respect to
both the discovery rule and the doctrine of equitable tolling. Equitable tolling also applies because the Criminal
Case and the document access denials qualify as “exceptional circumstances” that delayed discovery and
prosecution of the claim. See Oshiver v, Levin, Fishbein, Sedran & Berman, 38 F.3d 1380, 1387 (3d Cir. 1994).
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It is important to recognize that the discovery rule and equitable tolling issues are rarely
resolved at the pleadings stage, especially in light of the “exercise reasonable diligence”
component of both doctrines, which is almost always a fact-intensive issue. See, e.g., Drennen
v. PNC Bank National Association, 622 F.3d 275, 301 (3d Cir. 2010) (“the applicability of
equitable tolling depends on matters outside the pleadings, so it is rarely appropriate to grant a .
.. motion to dismiss (where review is limited to the complaint) if equitable tolling is at issue”)
(citation and internal quotation marks omitted); Permobil, Inc. v. GMRI, Inc., 2010 U.S. Dist.

LEXIS 120316, p. *7 (M.D. Tenn. 2010) (“Given Tennessee’s reasonableness standard for its

discovery rule, the Court concludes that this issue cannot be resolved on a motion for judgment

on the pleadings”); Nichols v. First American Title Insurance Company, 2013 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 30193, p. *6 (D. Az. 2013) (“[t]he discovery rule, like the doctrine of equitable tolling,
often depends on matters outside the pleadings and thus cannot usually be resolved on a
12(b)(6) motion to dismiss”) (citation and internal quotation mark omitted); Ballard v. National
City Mortgage Co., 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1834, p. *2 (E.D. Pa. 2005) (“whether the equitable

tolling doctrine applies cannot be decided on the pleadings,” and whether the “discovery rule

applies” is likewise “a matter for further factual development”); Bearse v. Main Street
Investments, 220 F. Supp. 2d 1338, 1345 (M.D. F1. 2002) (the question of “when the plaintiff,
exercising due diligence, reasonably should have leamed about the facts giving rise to the fraud
claim” is “a question for the jury” that cannot be resolved at the pleading stage); Reed v.
Vickery, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 102151, p. *10 (S.D. Ohio 2009) (“[w]hether the [plaintiffs]

should have discovered this failure to disclose at an carlier date is an issue of fact which cannot

be resolved on a motion to dismiss or for judgment on the pleadings”).
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In its June 24 Opinion dismissing in part United’s claims, the Court departed from the
strong presumption against deciding discovery rule and equitable tolling issues at the pleadings
stage. The Court articulated two grounds for its decision to go against that presumption and
dismiss all claims to the extent they rely on a $70,000 conversion. First, it suggested that
United had “access to its own accounting and other record-keeping files, a review of which
might have revealed Defendant’s alleged conduct.” Court’s 6/24/13 Opinion at 8, n.31. The
Court then went on to say that “[e]ven if the Government had confiscated Plaintiff’s business
records, an objectively reasonable individual would have retained copies, particularly if an
indictment was pending, and have inquired into the wrongdoing suggested by the September 9,
2004 third superseding indictment.” Id. The Court then concluded, “Thus, Plaintiff’s argument
that Plaintiff did not have access to the documents to discover Defendants’ misconduct is
without merit.” Id.

Next, the Court found that the Third Superseding Indictment alleged that Hamed and
others “used cashier’s checks and other methods to conceal illegal money transfers abroad . . .,”
Opinion at 8, and that this “would have at least put a reasonable person in Plaintiff’s position. .
.on notice that Defendant may have engaged in some wrongful activity regarding the use of
cashier’s checks” to steal money from United. Id. at 8.

With respect to the Court’s suggestion that United should, in the exercise of reasonable
diligence, have retained copies of all documents that the FBI seized, this was simply not
possible. The original documents were seized in a raid, without notice, pursuant to the
Government’s ex parte search warrants, and no opportunity was given to the targets of those
warrants to make copies of originals before the FBI seized and removed them.

As for the allegations of the criminal indictment that Waheed and other members of the
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Hamed and Yusuf families were engaged in a conspiracy to underpay gross receipts taxes by,
inter alia, causing cashier’s checks to be issued from unreported cash income of the grocery
store businesses so as to disguise the source of that money, it hardly follows that this tax
evasion activity alleged to have been undertaken collectively by the defendants (including
United and Waheed) would have put United on notice that Waheed might also be using
cashier’s checks to conceal separate unauthorized conversions to his own benefit of cash from
grocery store safes.!* The indictment alleges in Count I a conspiracy by United and Waheed,
among others, to defraud the Virgin Islands government of gross receipts taxes and alleges, in
paragraph 15, that Waheed and three other individual members of the alleged conspiracy
purchased cashier’s checks made payable to third parties in furtherance of that scheme. Why
would an indictment alleging that United, Waheed and others acted in concert to evade
United’s gross receipts taxes put United on notice that Waheed might be stealing from it? The
Court suggests that both the alleged collective acts in furtherance of the underreporting of
United’s gross receipts taxes and United’s allegations in the instant case regarding Waheed’s
unauthorized taking of cash from it share a common method of concealment of the wrongful
act — namely, cashier’s checks written to third parties. But it hardly follows from this shared

element of the two sets of allegations that once the indictment against United and others was

¥gurton v. First Bank of Puerto Rico, 49 V.1 16 (2007), which is cited in the Court's June 24 Opinion at page 3,
footnote 10, is one of those rare cases in which the plaintiff's complaint contained allegations showing when the
plaintiff's claim accrued under the discovery rule, thereby permitting a ruling at the pleadings stage dismissing the
suit on limitations grounds. In Burton, the Plaintiff claimed that her bank failed to credit her account for a deposit
of an insurance check for $18,686 that she allegedly endorsed over to the bank in 1996. The plaintiff admitted in
her complaint that she received a statement from the defendant Bank that she believed to be “incorrect” because it
“did not reflect the large payment that she had made the previous month.” Id. at 22. Thus, in her own pleadings,
plaintiff admitted to receiving writtcn notice of the very act which eight years later became the subjcct of her
negligence and breach of contract lawsuit. The Superior Court held that plaintiff's receipt of the bank statement
put her on notice of a potential claim against the Bank, and ber failure to make diligent inquiry thereafter triggered
the running of the statute of limitations. Herc, of course, United did not allege (and there is no basis for allcging)
in its Complaint that Hamed sent United written notice that he had taken $70,000 in cash from United, and Burton
is therefore readily distinguishable on jis facts
ycistine JA 159-
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brought, United would necessarily be put on notice of its own claims against Waheed for
stealing from it. The argument in this form is a non sequitur, and cannot be a proper ground for

dismissing a complaint on limitations grounds on a motion for judgment on the pleadings.

CONCLUSION AND RELIEF REQUESTED

For all of the foregoing reasons, United Corporation respectfully requests this

Honorable Court to grant its Motion for Reconsideration and to Alter or Amend Judgment.

Respectfully, submitted
DATED: September 29, 2014 By: // M

Niza/A. DeWood, Esq. (V.I. Bar No. 1177)
The DeWood Law Firm

2006 Eastern Suburbs, Suite 101
Christiansted, VI 00830

Telephone: (340) 773-3444

Telefax:  (888) 398-8428

Email: info@dewood-law.com

Attorneys for United Corporation

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 29% day of September, 2014, I caused the foregoing
United’s Brief in Support of Its Rule 59(c) Motion for Reconsideration and to Alter Or
Amend Judgment to be served upon the following via e-mail:

Carl Hartmann, I, Esq.
5000 Estate Coakley Bay, #L-6
Christiansted, VI 00820
Email: carl@carlhartmann.com
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Motion To Alter Or Amend Judgment

Index of Exhibits

Motion for Specific Relief Due to the Government’s Destruction of the
Integrity, Organization and Sources of Material Evidence (Dkt. No. 1038)

Govemnment’s Response to Motion for Specific Relief (Dkt. No. 1067)
Defendant’s Reply (Dkt. No. 1076)

Government’s Response to Defendant’s Motion Reply Memorandum in
Support of Motion for Specific Relief (Dkt. No. 1148)

Defendant’s Motion to Strike Government’s Unauthorized Brief and
Affidavits filed after close of business on the eve of the hearing. (Dkt. No.
1149)

Order of July 16, 2009 (Dkt. No. 1152)

Govemment’s Motion for Reconsideration (Dkt. No. 1177)

Defendant’s Opposition to Motion to Reconsider (Dkt. No. 1180)

Order of September 14, 2009 (Dkt. No. 1212)

October 19, 2009 Motion to Stay Discovery (Dkt. No. 1227)

Defendants’ Motion for Specific Relief in Anticipation of the December
14, 2010, Oral Argument (Dkt. No. 1297)

Addendum to Plea Agreement (Dkt. No. 1304)

Fathi Yusuf Affidavit, August 12, 2014,
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DIVISION OF ST. cmxx
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
)
Plaintiffs, )
)
vs. )
) CRIMINAL NO. 2005-15F/B
FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF ) ,
dke Fathi Yusuf )
l) v
WALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED, ) .
aka Wally Hamed g
WAHEED MOHOMMAD HAMED, )
aka Willi¢ Hamed )
) -
-~ MAHER-FATHI-YUSUF; ) —
vka Miké Yusuf )
)
NEJEH FATHI YUSUF and. g
UNITED CORPORATION, )
dba Plaza Extra )
g
Defendaiits. )

THE DEFENDANTS, by and. through their:respective: counsel, respectfully request that
the Court cater an Order granting rélief to the Defendants for herm caused by the government’s
willful ‘and: knowing destruction and alteration: of the. integrity, organization apd sourcing of
seleoted iinpeachment and exculpatory evidence, :As a.direct conséquence. of the: Govement's

aclions, the organization and control: of certain’ material documents has been severely

TEXHIBIT
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tompromised such that (1) Defendants can no longer: establish the source:and autheniivity q!f the
documents; (2) Defendants can no longer.determine whether-and to what extent any 'exculpﬁtbry
.ot ipeaching documents have been removed or destroyed; and (3) Defendants cannot: trace Or
ideritify individuals who created such documents, had access. o ‘the documents, used the
documcntS. or relicd or should have relied on such documents. In short; the Government,
.through its kilowing and delibetate actions of “its Agents, has created a:cloud of credibility on
certain documerits:in this case, while thosé ‘sa'me Agents: took deliberate aotions to'preserve:and
suaintain the highest level of intégrity and organization for documents it intended to-use at trial.
THE: DEFENDANTS request that the Court, iif its disérefion, (1) @ismiss the Third
. Superseding Tndictment in its entirety; (2) suppress all evidenog'seized end currerilly retsined by
fhe: Governmeiity (3) adopt eppropriate evidentiary nilings: as-fo the suthenticity, sourses, sud
weight of the sdbject documentsy (4) adopt spproptiste jury: instructions cxplaining, the
Govemment's actions and detailing the appropriate factual and evidentiary inferences. thie. jurors
should mako as a.r;;sﬁlt of itie government's actions; (5) order that the Government compensate
the Defendants for all atforneys’ and expert fees incurred as a resilt of the Government's actions;
(6).order the:Government to retur the Defendants” documents and/or (7) grant any additional.or
alieruative reliefthat the'Cout, in its disoretion, deems appropriate:.
IN SUPPORT, THEREOF, the Défendants show unto the Courtas follows:

I Case Baiksround and Clironology of the Government's Seizure an d Reteritlon of the
Defendants’ Properly.

{. ‘This matter.is before thie Court on a 78-courit Third Supetseding Indictmient under Which
the Government charges Defendants with varjous tax-related offerises. Many: of-those
offenses involve allegations of conspiracy and money laundering which. require the

Governurient to profier evidence in the negative (for example, the Government seeks to
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8.

‘5,

estabish that the Defendants concealed information from ofher individuals and:entities).
Thenitial Indictment in this matfer was handed down in Septeiiiber 6f 2003.

In coordiinted r4ids ot the six Deféndants’ various businessex and homes in October of
2001, the Governmant seized substantially all of the Defendaiits! business, ficancial and
personil records. Since.that date, the Government has retained hundreds of boxeS.of

‘Defendants” property foruse-in thisccase.
‘Tii- tho. course: of s subisequent. investigation and case development, the Goyernment

solicitest-ank procured:Diefendants* documents frotn:a vasiety-of dtherthird:party sorocs.

Aozt third garties From whom the Goveinment solicited Dofendants™ dociments

are fhe Defendints™ financial institutions, outside dcsoutiting Fittns, Fimiily micmbers, and
\arious foreign povetnstents. Al told; the Government;procured moro than five hundied
banker boxes of the: Deféndants” documets from these and offier sources: Many of the
docitments ptocimed By the Government are-originals,

Thte Gaverninst orgiized the-volyminous documents afid recorded fhéir various sources

‘by boxes tititicred andibar coded to eottespond. with the vations Jocations from. which

fhio, Agentsaemoved: the-documents. The specificity-of the souico-deserijfion would-vaty;
as fhe: Government would describe sources as specific rooms or offiecs, file cabinets or
desk drawers. THe comesponding box numbers and bar codes wete. atcompanied by a
very general description of ‘the.dociiinents contained thiereifi. The Governnent-did not
ideitify or log eaeh.spetific documents seized.

Since-the xaids-of Qclober 2001, the Governiment has. returtied some-of the boxes of
seized property ‘to i Defendants, but the, remalning relevant documents: have: begn

rétained-inthe FBL offices in St. Thomas, USVL

JA -164-



A —— e

Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB Document #: 1038 Filed: 02/05/09 Page 4 of 25

. Upon iriformation and belief, the Government began the process:of bates riumbering only

ceituin dochnenis within s boxes ~ dotuments it intended to'use in its case in chief at

trial. The bates numbering contained prefixes that were indexed to the numbers and bar

codes on the boxes: Howewr;thé Govemment continiued thix project sporadically and
equedtly, some -of ‘the

eventually ‘ghandoned the ‘eort dife: to lack of funding. Goi

Defendants’ documients, held by:the Government arg bates numbered, but a significant

number.arenot.

7, Tossummatizs, alf of the-désiyments:the government intends, 1o uso at trial are: bates

nunfbered -using ‘the bar €oded Eysteiit aiid the vagt fitinber of remaining dociments,

likely having significant.xelevance to thie defense; aromotbates numbored,

8. ‘Tfic Governmentnever providedithie Bofendafits wiltia detdlled:inventory: of tho gpecifio.

documedis seized., Upon.information and “hélibf, such inventory does pot exist.
Conseguenﬂy, given. the ;large volime, of records -fhe Defendants maintained, the

Defeodants cannot identify ihie specific dooumerits, the Goyernment scized. in October of

2001,

. Tl Govertiticat continues fo hold Deféndants* doxumentary evidence at the FBI offices

on St '[hOmas,_ngnﬁllﬁngtheDofchﬂnms anly liniited supervised review of the.cvidente.

10. During their initial revieve'of shioidocuments at tho EBLoffices in'St. Thomas, the defense

team prepared a general inventory of the_groupings of desuments held in the'boxes, and

#eatined as many-of the pettinent docurments us possible..

11.In the seven years since the Ottober 2001 mids, the Govemment bas periodically

returned boxes bf documeits to their owricri that-it: deemicd: not: pertinent fo the subject:
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case. The Government identificd and logged the boxes xeturtied, and requited the owners

16 tign a docuineiit icknowledging receipt of the documents. .

12: This protocol implies that the Governmet decmied tiie dociumeiits it Ehose to vetsin'to be

-pétiinent ‘to. the issues in thé'case. It:glso illustrates that the: Govenment contirindlly

preserved and idenfified the documents by reference to the Box numbers. It i8.in thé
confextzof such awareness that the Government Agents rearranged the documents.among

the boxgs..

13, The défense team”s Jast permitted. visit: o the FBI offices was in 2006. Frotn it ino:

until Noyember of 12008, the Govémiment deried the Deofendants access to thelr

documents despite numerous requests. In November of 2008, Qovernment coutisel

-agreed 1o sllow the defénse team Yo View the documents. The document. veview wes

scheduled for November 10; 12, 13aud 14, 2008.
i, Defense Team?s Discovery of Spoliation

14, On the dsfense (ean'y Naveniber 10; 2008 discovery Visit o the St, Thomas FBT offices,

FBI Special Agent Chrisfine. Zieba- fiitially denféd thia team aoogss. to the yechrds.
Atcording 1o Ms. Zieba; the defense must now submit e deteiled list: of speciic
review. ‘As the defénse tcam, would.soon leam, -case FBIL Agent Thomas: Pelri; and
testifyitig, IRS: Agent Javicr Béll traveled to the Virgin Ilands from their Usited States
Places of Duly to.monitor {tie doctiments requested and observe the, defense team's

review of the: documents:
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'15. Defénise couisel Ratsdall Andreozzi asked Ms, Zicba to expldin why the defense team
was suddenly béing detiiéd the aceess afid ability to review and examine the Defendants’

own documedits in a manner that was inconsistent with the pricr dxscovery visits,

’ 16. Without explénation, Ms. Zicba advised: that 'prior-protocol would no 1onger be possible,
She directed. the defense team to leaye and return on Wednesday, November 12,2008, to
dxécuss thie maiter: wlﬁLDeparhnent of Justice attorney Lori Hendrickson.

‘ 17, On Novembér 12, 2008,thc defenise tedtn TBtitvd 46 the FBI offices and was proeted by
, severd] Govetiiinent Tepresentatives, including FBl-case Agent Thomeas. Petri, IRS casc
. Agent Javier Bell, and newly-assigned cate Agent Cliristine. Zicba. Department of:

Yustice Counsél:Lofi Hendtickson was:dlso in attendance. :Asithe Court is dware, Agents

- . Bell and Petri wete involved-n fhis cdse it fhe search wattant stage: They adyised that
they will also be workingon: tatrinl nfthie case,

18, Ms, Hendrickson explained.that Agents Petil andl. Béll were detdiled from thieir United

States Places of Difty g0 Hiat tizy could-monitor the defense team's, document revicw.

She-outlined neiv procedures that she. would enforee fof the Deferidarits roview of their

own documents. As part df thitiprocetlure, the defense team would only be permitted to.

- review onie box ait.a. time; only oneperson would be.alfowed to touch the:documents; and

- the Govemment gggﬂtg;‘ - fiot defén‘gg counsel = ‘would -decide which boxes the: team

would be:permitted to review,
- 19. When the defensc teami demgnded #si éxplanation; Ms. Hendrickson stated that she

implemented thess riew: pracedures; 10 eosure “tivei integrity of the documents as the. -
A

' Govemmentmaintained them.
’v‘i

6
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20; With little b;liemativé, the defense team agreed to-proceed. undet thiis protocol so long as it
proved feasible to anteﬁ‘edtii‘rc and cfficient review of the docurents, Defense counsel
Randall Andreozzi staied, however, that the defense. could fiot apree to allow:Agents Petri
and Bell, snd Attrncy Hendrickson, to monitor the feam’s review of the defendants’
documents. As a compromise, the team agreed to; liit-the nuimber of individuals who
would téview the dooumenfs 4t any one time. Ms. ‘Pendricksonisgreed to:this stipulation.

21. The-first box t]:e'-Govgmment.provided for {he defensc feam’s. review was FBI box
fuiiber 131, Upon teview of the ‘contents of Box 131, the defense team inimediately
recognized that the current contents of the box: didshot match the general: summary
dnventory thie defense had.prepared during its previous dooument reviews: Box-131 siow
sontiiitied groups of documents that were notddentified inhe defense’s inventary of Box
131, including, ‘friter alia, documents with-the ‘bates prefix 295. 'lﬁéy reference fo its
symmaryrindex; the defense team confirmed that-these docutiients were originéily sfored
jnrBox 295,

22 Defense: counsel; Andreozzi asked Ms. Zicba why docifitients With butes prefixes 295
were contained in box 131,

23, 1¢ s Mgt hiat Ms. Ziéba informed the defense toam fhat she had reorganized and
rearranged the Defendanits! docurnents by removing some-documents from theie originl
boxes and placing, them in diffcrent boxes:because thie revised orgariization better suited
hexnoeds: She refused to explain the ryvised organizationsl methiod.

24, Mr. Andreozzi explained to Ms. Zicba that the FBI represented to the defense team
during the initial documerit review sessions that the box numbers corresponded 10 the

various sources from which the documents were seized or otherwise procured. Because
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the FBI chosé 16 bales aumber only some of the documents, the only way for the defense
team to track the sources of tho siofi-bates stamped documents cven generally was by box
number. .

25. M, Andreozz asked, “So if we were fo look through Box 200, for example, and refe to
o ihdex, fhiz contents of the box. would not match?” Ms. Zieba confirmed that this was
corect — the: docuthents would 1o longer match either the; Defendants® index or the
Government's original index. She-explained, “T had no idéa the defense relied on -the
gider of thess-docitents o particulag boses, 1 rearmanged.thignr how I was doing them
and-whatmade sense to-me,”

96.Mt. Andreozzi asked Ms. Zicba Af: in light of this development, it -would be possible to:
determine; ())-whether and to what extent documents were:temoved fiom the boxes; {2)
whether dind to- Whit extent documeitts hiave been rearmnged smong the boxes; or (3)
what sources the: spesifie.documents were procured from

27. Ms, Zieba sofiised fo-answet the questions. She repeated that she had no idea the defense
or the FBE rélied on the box numbers as the identifying factor ift indexing.and araniging
the documents, or‘as a.1eférerice as to the sources:of the documients, . She stated;that any
ohier gsgstiors should be tddressed to.Attomey Hendricksor:

28. Atiomey Henidrickson returmed to the office with Agent Petil. Both wero apprised of fhic
29, Agent Petri at first:respanded by accusing the defense team of fisplacingthe dosuinents.
in Box 131. ‘He #isserted ‘that; during: the defense team's initial. review of the boxes, he
and;his colleagues would review: the boxes after cach examination to make sure that the

defense team did not disturb thic integrity of the FBI's organization of the documenfs.
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Agent Petri claimed hat on, snm; occasions he found documents misplaccd and had to
.replace them il cdrrect ofider-ifi-the boxes. He stiited, *This is why'we have to bave za
agent waich-you”
30.Mr. Andreozzi theh posed the ¢uestiony “If tigre’ was integrity o fho order of the
documents: i their respective: boxes, snd’ Agont Zicba just informed us that. she
rearranged the doctiments and boxes; why, ‘will -the FBI not provide us: with the
methodology for her reorganization?” Mr. Petri then fumed and confronted Ms. Zieba:
“You reorganized flie: boxes?1” At that point, Mr: Peiri ‘stated that he. would not'discuss

-the issuc-any further:

JO

! X

31. Mr. Andreozzi -adiised /Attorney . Heandiickson fliat; in ‘order to evaluate the ex&nt

'l
_n

t‘.‘.
‘ham caused, the defnse team wonld need 4o select and :review SPwiﬁl‘c‘ bo % of!

i)

documents, ‘and .could-no Tonget rely: od tha Government’s discréfion: in. sele

\’

‘boxes for review. -Atiomey Hendrickson: tentitively agreed to this, but asked.thagﬁ

o P 5 s C.J
to-continue'itsireview, o

group.adjouisfor linchandaetiin e aRerioon
32, On.the afiempon:pf. November 12; 2008, the: defense team returned to the"FBI offices to
continue fts review:of boxes. ‘The wammw&thepmenceongents Bell:and Petri. Mj‘.
Zicha stated AHat. the: Agenits would not.observe: .;tﬂc'jeam's document review but wonld
33..The team provided Ms; Zieba with. B Hist ofisix numbered baxes to review. Ms. Zicba
produced onebox and two redwell fofders, One redwell was libéled “161.formeily” and
conteined only spproximately ten documients. The- other ‘was labeled. “428” and
contained-only a few manila folders of docvments. Mr. Andredzzi gdvised Ms. Zicba

hat the numbers 161 and 428 had beon #ssociated with actual boxes. He asked why she.
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now produced redwell folders and why one was labeled “161 formerly”. Ms, Zieba
wonld only repest that the documents ate 1o longer-in their original order.

34, Ms. Zicba refused to produce three of the boxes requested, She:stated that, pursuant to-
Attomey Hendrickson's instructions, “For today I.will just keep pulling boxes randonily
because I'don't have thém orga.mzed the way you have théiil ofganized.”

35. Thic:team requested access to thc storage room 1o view the current manper in which, thé
boxes were being maintained. Ms,Zieba refised access.and-directed all questionsto Ms.
Hendrickson..

36.Upoti Ms. Hendrickson's rétum 16 the. office;. Mr.

#i explained the afierncont’s
eveats and-the defense. team’s concems regarding the Jntegrity: of the' documents. Ms..

"Herdfickson résponded by stating, “What*s:done 18 done?"
7.Mr.- Andreozzi insisted- (hat. inlight of the. circumstances, the team be allowed to- review

»

41l of the boxes in numerical.orderto determine the exteiit of the harm, Ms: Hetidrickson.
agrood, but asked that tho defense team leave for. thie.day-to allow ber to “preparc? the
boxes for viewing. She stated thiat, if the team allowed the :prosecution team (o start
wotking now, they could have the first fifty or- 50 boxes “ready” for review by the mext
‘moming, '

38, Mr; Andreozzi again exptessed concern, and asked what Ms. Hendnckson meant by
“prepare” the documents for-review. Ms, Hendrickson; yefused to answer the question
and asked again thaf the.teamleave for the day:

39, The next morning, November 13, 2008, Ms: Hendrickson advised Mr. Andreozzi that'she
hiad Gecasion o work with and téview the docutients.until 8p.m. the prior evening. Sho

confirmed that the FBI Agents did:in fact reorganize and remove documents from the

10
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boxes since the defense team's last rg.vicwof the docun:ents. Ms. Hendrickson:explained
that, as best she can determine, the following-occurred:
a; The Spegial Agents removed: fhe documents they intended to: use at trial and
plicédthein in fridl binders. ‘They used thé:originals, asd tio copies were replaced
in Ihc;originalbpx‘;:s.
b. ‘Mfie:Special Agesits returhod some documéits-1o thi Deferidants at various points
inime. Ms. Hendrickson claims that some items and documents returned were
‘philled frotii boxes and ..te'uimedzwﬁhe;de}éndanfs {(ruther than entite boxes being
-relurped jntavs), but she cannot identify the:specific itemsior documents retarned.
o. As for the boxes of documents that the FBI retained and.did not-place into exhibit
foldecs for trial, the Agents xemoved and reorganized the doouments contained in
- Hiose beies. il Vatiolis: ways, withoitt employing any tiethad to trick the origivial
source:of the documents, For exarople, the Agents may. have grouped all bank
statementéi»tos.dﬁcr so that they: no tloi;ger..m'a’intained the statements in- the
originial boxes bascd.on their sources: As a result, neither the source: nor the
guthenticity of the various documents can be determined. "Nor can one determine
‘whethier or'to-what ¢xtent dqcumcn!s anay have been removed from the boxes:
40, s, Hendrigkson explained this was the best she could do under the circumstanges, and
repeated {hat; “What's done is:done.”
41. Thus, the Government knowingly and willfiilly reorganized the documents, but did so
only:afiet it-mcticulously identified and préserved the integrity'and clinin of tustody of

the:specifio documents they intend.to rely on.at trial,

11
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K

42: The defense team continyed fo review the boxes in numerital order during the time
rémainitig on Novembef 13, and. 14, 2008, to detérimine thie extent of the daninge cdused
) by the Govenment's actions, Offhe boxes the team was able toTeview during that fime,
-the teain confined to discovet misplaced and nilséing docuiments.
43, The defense team: returned 1; he FBI offices an January.26, 2009, and continued fts
doouttient review fhirouph Janvary 29, 2009. Agents Petdd .and Bell retumed to St.
“Thomas from their United:States Blaces of Duty:to monfjer thezeview witl Agent Zicba.
44, Attomey Hendiickson was aigt present. In a felephone conversationt with Randall
Andreozzi, Mr, Andreozzi advised Ms. Hendrickson fhat the defense plaitied to.cofitinue
‘0. review thie boxes invigmetical orderfrom where itleft offin Noyember, He asked Ms,

Hendrickson, whether the Government Agents had reorganized the documetits since the
difénse team's last revibw. Ms; ‘Hendrickson informed Mr Andreozzi that the

Govérnment: had ot weorganized the documents singe:the defense team Tast reviewed

+theii i November2008: Shatefosed t6 coniricnt ot whether{he Agents did anything to
affont the integrity of fhebioxes of doonmentsthe defense teannliad yet4o review.
45, At vax;ous poinits Histisig: the coiitse of the docliment feview, Mr. Petri ihformed the
defénse team ihst they were Tisinformed if they believed thic documents seized and.
myintained by the -governmiént belonged to the défendants. Mr, Petri-stated: that the
dovuments belonged to fhie Govertmtent, and that ke would do wily them,ag he pleased.
He informed the tcam that he and.other Agenits rearranged and removed doc\;ﬁents from.

the boxes-and that the Agents were within theirrights to Ho-so.

12
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46. Mr. Petri also stated that he selécted certain documeiits in the various boxes to be bates
stamped based on whether the Government intended to use them gt trial, This:is how he
determined which documents got bates stamped and which did not.

47.Mr. Andreozzi asked Mr. Petd whether he would retum the documents that the .

Govemimenit did not interid o use at trial, Mr, Petri refused, stafing that:the remaining
documents were nonetheless relovant to the case.

48. The toam concludéd its review of the infegrity of the boxes on Jinuary 29; 2009; and
contimued to:find that some boxes were entirély missing, some:boxes were re-numbered,
and’ nuinerous docunents; (most noi<bates stamped) identified in"the Qefense team's
initial inventory were now missingifrom the boxes. The'tcany also-observed that several

‘boxes siow bote ‘nutnbers ‘that the Government previously, identified us having been
retumnéd to the Defendants i 2006.
I, Consequences of the-Governtent's Actions

49. The Goverment. seized and then held the Defendants! documents for seven years,
Before shuffling and rearranging the documents it held, tlie Government prepared its case
for: tnal. The FBI Ageats bates stamped the documents: the: Governnient intended to use
to. support its casé. They carefully and meticulously removed each and every docuineat
the. prosecufors identified. for use at trial, encased eack dogument;in & plastic binding,
organized it in an evidentiary file, and.identified its sourcé hymsemngF.BI evidence
return documents as placeholders for the original documerits Jin;the source Exhibit boxes.
Through this process, the Govemment endeavored to ensure the ntegrity, sourcing and
authenticity of th¢ documents, thereby protécting its ability to.establish the admissibility

and probative vatue of each document it intends to use at trial o support ts case.

13
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3

50, With respect to the feinaining documents; tostead of returning them to the Defendants;

the Government kept them and wilifully proceeded to reorgenize and shuffle them.

Because most of these:documents are not bates stamped, they cannat be retumed to their

original boxes:
$1. The. Govemineiit ¢iild have returned these documents fo the Defendants, In fact, the

; Government has retumed:some boxes of documents to the Defendants, presuriably on. the:

; prwumpﬁbn;itﬁd‘l;;‘;;ch;dbmmdts were not perfinent: (o the case. Yet, the Government

has affirmatively elscted: fo vetain the remaining documents and then to ghuffle and

52, The: Defendants and-the Court may never know &l of the doouments that may have been

lost or destryed by the Govemment’s conduct. ‘However; some aspects of the harm

caused-can'be arficilated anid evaluated:with samespecificity:

a.

The defenise carrno longer establish or contest the authenticity of {lic nonsbates

The defense can 110 fonger establish or contest. the source of the' non-bates

stamped documents.

. ‘The Deféndints-Have been comiplétely deprived of their ability to cross-examing

fhe government’s witnesses at trial with respect-to any of the non-bates stamped.
dooumicnts, thus set{pusly impaising their Sixth Amendment rights.

Defendants’ can 5 longer: establish or«contest whether any partioular individual
had ageess to . particular non-bates stamped document, chalfengo & Witacsses®
kuiowledize of the conitetits of ‘or existetiwe of a partieular document, oF question;

{heir roliance on a pastioular documents. The resulting harm i rifinite.

14,
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o. The Defendants can. no longer establish or contest whether all documents
pertinent to this case.are accounted for. Therefore; adinission of eny siiigle item
of evidence toay violats therule of completeness.

f, Defendants can no :lohge't deterimine whether certain. documents may have been
procured by fhe Govemment solély Yhrough ‘iinproper means (see, for cxample,
Deferidints’ motion regarding foreigh bunk rezoidis) or whether such documents
may have been procured fronx othersproper sources or means. Further, now that
tlie source of the «documents.is undetorniinable, the Defendants may Jose the
ability to invoke the protection of the attorrey-licaf privilege with respect to
pnvxlegedcommmcahdnssmmdﬁ‘om theiroffices. .

53, These issucs represent orily some of fhe potential harm caused by the Govemmment's
actions:

V. Aigumentanid- GroundsYorRelief

‘4, THe eveits recitéd above illiistrate thit the:Governtiienit iritesitionally seized possession-of
e Defendsnts” property and painstakingly freserved the infogrity-of select portions of
that property that it intended ta-use at trial to support:its case. Instead .of retuthing the
rest of the Defendants” property o them, i keptit, and ‘then knowingly and willfully
manipulated the organization of these doguments. I fhis manner; the Government
jerepatably compromised the integrity of-docutents it knew (0 be relevant to the case but’
1ot favorable to its cas in chief, Since maost.of these documents are not bates stamped,
ihe daniape. caused by the ‘Governiiient ca'hnbt:be; remedied by any reasonably avsilable

b

means.,

15
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55. These actions are simply a continuation of the consistent and methodical bad faith
exhibitéd ‘by thc Govemment throughout this case as illustrated {0 the Coutt in the
various pending and resolved motions, all of which the Defendaiits incotporate herein by
reference. r—

56. Government counscl and Agents acknowlédge what has occuiréd, and respond onily with
the statement, *What's done is done.”

57, As enumerated herein, the Government’s actions severcly impair the Defendants® ability
to-defend:ogainst the Indictment, thereby deptiving the Defendants-of iéir Canstitntional
right o due process.of law.

58.In. United Medical Supply Company, Inc, v. United States, 77Fed. CL. 257 (1997), the
Court of Claims. stressed the iinpoitance of préserving the integrify “of documentary
evidenca:

Agide: pethaps from perjury, fio act serves:to threatet flie integtity of the
-judiéial:protess more than {he: spoliation. of ' evidenice: ‘Qur-adversatial
‘process, is. designed 1o tolerate lmnian failings ~ ering judges can- be
reversed, uncooperative counsel can ‘be shepherded, -and’ recalcitrant
witnesses compellcd to testify. But, when. critical docurnénits go missing,
judges and’litiganits alike. descend int6 o world. of a-liozety. and. half
tieasures — and our.civil justice system suffers.... To guard against this,
each party in litigation is solemnly bound to preserve po ly releyant
evidence.

59, In criminal shatters, the Governmientihas & duty under the Due Process clause:to'preserve
exculpatory evidence the admissibility:and probative value of which:cennot be replicated
by otlier reasonably-availible:means. Californiia v. Trombetta, 467U.S. 479:(1984)). If
the Government, in bad faithi, fails,inthis r.qéard,_.it has violated the Defendant’s
constitutional.dua process rights. Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51 (1988). See alsy

16
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Griffin v, Spratt, 969 F.2d 16'(3d Cir. 1992); accord Bradyv. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83
(1963).
60.In civil cascs, aii ifidapenidént duty to preserve evideoce: arises when the party in

possession of the cvidence: knowsthat litigation By the party. seeking:the evidence is
pendiip or probable 4nd the:party in possession of the evidence:can foresee the hari or
prejudice that would be:caused to the party secking the evidence if the evidence were to
be disearded. See.Joe:Harnd Promotions v. Sports Page Café, 940 F, Supp, 102,104 n13
@:NJ.1996); see also Baliotis v. McNeil, 870 F. Supp. 1285, 1250 (M.D.Pa. 1994). Itis:
well recognized fhiat tax ;evasion cases arc:-inherently civil in nature. The. prosecition.
must:prove willful violation of the civil statute. before & defendant can be held eriminally
tiable:fot tax evasion= :See Sansone v; United:States 380 1S, 343 (1985). Cotisequently,
{he: Government in such. a -case ‘hais the duty to follow. both the civil and. criminal
standards of evidence prescrvation.

161 Federal ‘courts: bave resogized that 2 constititional mandate against suppression .of
evidence ifmposes.a duty upon prosécutors to instruct agenciesto preserve cvidence. Sec,
eig, United:Statesv; Henriquez; 731 F.2d 131, 137-38(2d Cir. 1984):

f The govemment has Jong been oa notice, ofith;d'ﬁt‘y,to.pmerye

, disetverable ovidence.utid hias been repeatedly wamed of the jeopardyin

whith it placesiits prosecutions when.it disregards this obligation....
Whare, as:fiers, destouction is delibetate, sanctions will:xomally follow,

irrespectivo of thie peipetritor's motivation, unless'the.Govemnmenit.“can
bedrthe hcavy‘burg;pjfil;emonshnhngflhntno prejudice:resulted to:the-
defendaitt

&ci_t.ingmdﬁquq ing, fnter alia, United States v. Grammatikos; 633 F.24 1013,
B c 1080

62. In Uliited Siates v, Yevakpor, 419 F. Supp. 2 242 (DN, 2006), the District Court for
a
the Northern District of New ‘York held the Government's destrucfion of evidence must

17
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. -«be;?emad_ied by the exclasion of ihe evideace, and: subsequently dismissed the;case. The.
Court ‘admonishied the prosecutor: for’ mlmg to meet its affimmative duty to prescrve
evidence.

63. The Goverment's. duty "covers not-only: exculpatory, material, but also information that
could bo.uséd to finpeach & key. gavoriment withess," United States v. Coppa, 267 .38
132,135 (24 Cif, 2001) (¢iting Gigliv; Unifed States, 405°U:8, 150, 154, (1972))..

64. T the,instanit cse, the Govemmentisdizeilithe exonlpatory evidenos from.the Defendants”
possession. In doing 50, the Govement tock o a duty:to preserve the evidance in its
custody: The que‘sﬁon\bfimtﬂet{sliqﬁnﬁggtaﬁd%:rem&vii;_gzdocumenﬁ from the boxes
would prejudioe the Defentatits-wasiot within the Govehment's. authority fo evaloate.
The scizire wertants merely gave dhic -Govemment. aufbority to vetain - temporary
possession, of the evidence, t gurcly did not shift title ‘and' did not authofize the
destruction of the:organization, iitegrity:and sourcing of the evidence.

65, At a:minimum the: Govemnmenf s &sduty to follow its owi proceditres- for preserving
cvidence. G California v; Troribelid, 467 U.S, 479 (1984)) (holding no bad faifh where
the Govemment’s actions were in accord.with its normal practice and proceduces): Such
is:not the casehere:

Investigation Mannal scts forth the following

66. "The Infernal’Revenue Service’s Crirninal
procedure to employ:in impletentiiig sedrch warfants:
LR.M. 9.4.9.3.6 Post:Operatioi Search Watrant Procedures
1. Foflowing the excoution of the sctrch warrat, the:spicoial agont,
‘pugsuant to Fed. R Gttt Pi R 41, will teturit ths xearch warrant, with
an invenfory oftho items:seized; to the issuing magistrate, This return
mist be done within, 10-days:of exeeuting the search watrant.

2. The spesial agent (m@_dcr)wmﬂxoépmpwme Post Enforcement
Operation Sumihary Fort, (Exhibit: 9.4, 3); for-each search warrant
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site;-a8.600n 84 possible, 1 ‘thix form isgmandatory for afl Clsedich "
warants; ot Jst tax; omxsﬁ&wd wqgehwm&

3., Celmitm] Tax Connselwill b provifisiw with;o.conyitis Stvgntiry o
conduet a post search wartant fo:: sllligearch warants
Mn&dﬂnﬁﬂe%mﬂmmﬁtﬁ’ﬁ A g uons.r(klminnl
Tax (] w:llmt condnutm-inmﬁofyﬁvin orswéhvmmmns

" Z"“‘ e toento e Toos] ATC

‘ mf o the' 10 ensyro that
gaited 1: y{nveatoted on G Ass AGSet
Forfeatum 'haclcmg and Refrioyal System (AFTRAK).
LRM.94.93.6:1 Preserving the cham of Ciistody

1. Jworder topreserve, in'its oﬁmﬂ eonﬂ:ﬂon. pll evldenawmnterlﬂ
thatmaybe-offered: intowidencg,
recordings, videotapes, documen ;mimqumm&m
tracked 66 thio: mstodyatidoo aﬁﬂmmi woe casi bedovuitited -
ut all times.... = h

'67; The-referenced Manual. provisioris wdinotiih Specisl Agetits:40 aintdi tht, mﬁ;é
S 1]

gustody-and - infegrity: ‘of “documents; procured : wia search-watrants, Agenoy;pal_fp‘g
anaindates that Aperis return seized items as-guickly as. passrb?e it seciite receilﬁ'x forglﬁ
Tetummediitems, & @

68 Inthie: context of exlaining the protocolfor the defense: team?s review-of the ac;c{lmcnts,

the FBI Agents. and prosecylor: Hendfickson: expressed :Uitic understanding’ of thie
«itnportatice.of taititaining the organizational initegrity of the:doctiments.scized.

'69:The Agent’snever*oompiled aninventory: of the specific items anddocunents seized in
various numbered boxes: Tliey then desfroyed the -integrity of even fhis system by
shuffling and rearranging documents.

70; Rither than promptly copying and refitming the docutnents o the. Fighithil ownets; the.
Govemment deliberatcly held the property, for more: than seven years. It should, have
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‘returned the documents to the rightfull owners as mandated by its intemal pratocol; but
chase notto, It elected 10 refain the documments, and then procgeded to shuffle and
rearrange them so es to destroy their integrity, organiZation and sourcing.

71. Thie Govetament Agents and Counsel soloctively followed this protoéo] when it suited
their purpose; and ignored it when it did fiot. This demoristrates tho goveinment
knowingly and déh'b&;itcly violated its duty topreserve the subject evidence

7):.Durmg the November docuttent review, the Government presemted the boxes of
doamemsto the defense team without revealing thal the FBI Agenis rearranged then.
The- FBI Agent did not -reveal that she rearvengéd: the documents until the: team
recogriized the fact.ayid vorftonted her with regard to the issue. Thus, had the defense
team ot discovered'ilie problem, the Governiment vould have:led the. defense: to believe
that-the documents-were never rearranged among the:boxes. Since:the box nunibers fie
the: Court s 10, the sourees. of the-vearranged documents. This.is crucial.since many of
the:government’s allegations in-this case involve concealment of information on the pars
of the Defendants.

73+ Speolficdlly, the: Government: charges Defendants with conspiracy, moncy laiiitdeting,
and mail fraud based oh allegatioris that they deliberately concealed unlleged financial
dciivity nd transactions from. others. Notwithstending any other hams, the

Goyernment’s condyét fiow prevents the Defendints from effectively estiblishifig: the

source of docnments, the: ihdiﬁﬁuals=w99gmay*hgyg'had acgess to them, and whether any:

w

such “cancealment™ ever ocourred.
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74. FBI Agents Zicba and Petri concede that they deéliberately destroyed the organization of
the, seized documents because they wete not-ordered in o way-that sulted their needs.
Regardless of the Apents’ purported motivation; sanctions aro appropriate since. the
actions prejudiced the:Defendants.

" 95. The source aiid aiithéiiticity of the particulsr dscuments are-critlcal to defense of the case.
Consequently, the Defendants are prejudiced by the Agents® déliberate. actions.
Accordingly, sanctions are warranted. Accord Kronishv. United: States, 15Q F3d 112;

ﬁi 126 (24 Cir. 1998); West v: Goadyw Tyre & Rubber Go;, 167 F23d776:(2d Cir. 1999)
(“1t-has-long beeir therulb tht gpolistorsishould=sol; benefit from their vrongdoing, as

" illustrated by *that favorite maxim of the law, ousing presumuntor contra:spolitorem.™).
- 76. 'The appropiisitetiess and extent of sanctions-depends upon:a;case:by-case: assessment of
(1) the Government’s cilpabitity for-the:lpss; (2).a realistic appraisak 8£'its significance

when viewed inlight of its nat;tre, (3)its bearing npon critical dssues.in the case, and (4)

the strength of the Government’s untamtedproofUnitedt?tatesv, Grammatikos, 633

F.2d. 1013, 101920 (2d Cir. 1980). Tlic Second Circuit is not alone in applying: 2

balancing test to detenmine appropriafe sanctions, See United States v. Doty, 714 F.2d

761, 764 (8" Cir. 1983); United Siates v. Baca, 687 F.2d 1356, 1359 (10" Cir. 1982);
. Uniited States v Traylor, 656 F.24 1326, 1334 (9™ Git, 1981); United States v. Picariello,
568 F.2d 222, 227 (1* Cir. 1978); Lovern v. Unlied Siates; 689 F. Supp. 569, 585

(E.D.Va. 1988); United States v. Beall, 581 F:Supp. 1457, 1467.(D.Md. 1984).

! 77, Sanctions can range from exclusion or suppression of'thie siibject matter; grantinga new
teial, or dismissal of the indictment or the. direction of a judgment-or acquittal. Urited
States v. Mirmda, 526 F.2d.1319, 1324 n4 (2d Cir. 1978). In:Califoriila:v. Trombetta,
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451 US. 479, 487 (1984), the Court wrote, “But when evidence has been destioyed in
-wiolation of the Consfitution, the Couxt must ehoose betwesn bafiiiig furtliée prosecution
or suppress(ion).”

78.In United States vi Heath, 147 F.Supp, 877 (D, Haw. 1957), the defendant wis 'ihx.ﬁ;t
on:charpés: of tax evasipn; ‘Defendant filed two motions requesting that fie'beiallowed ta:

o

‘ingpect uoamnta;y evidencehiethad turned overto th Ftéral' Revenus Servise: While:
tary exidence had begn fost or-
destroyed, Irrlight of the fict that the documentssieére nevessary to-defentlthiy case; tho

icithe harids of the Tntiimal Revenue Service, the docume

vttt praiited defetidant’s mdtion to-disniiss the indictiment onduciprocess. grounds.
79, Considering the naturc of the instent case and the st initbex of docurients at issue, the:

siiteriality ofhose docuttients is obvious. “The Govemment infringes npon Befendant:
dus, provess Hghts throngh its: willful fallire to preserve. or' fétum: thosc: dacumenth

Wécsidingly, severe sanctions:are warranteds

WHERBEORE, Déferidsiits respectfully request dhat e Courtinits discretiont

{1) Dismiss the Thicd'Superseding Indictment in its entirety;

(3) Suppress all eyidence scized and curreatly retained by:thie Government;

(3 Adopt apptopriafe evidentiary nilings. o5 to- the suthentioity; sources, and weight of the;
stibject documents;

(4) Adept sppropristis cutative; jury instuclions explaining: the gavemment's actions -and
detalfing fhe appropriste factual and cvidenitiary ihferérices i jurors éhould meke as a result

of the government!s actions;

22

JA -183-



v P ma G-

Gt 1:05-6r-00015-RLF-GWB  Docuinent #: 1038 Filed:02/05/09 Page28 oi26

o Orderthat flio Government compensats: the Defvadatts:for ol attomeys” and expert foes
incurred as a m:uu of the Goverament's hétions;

(6) Order the government to revin the Defendants’ documents and/or

{7y Grait: gy adBiviondl o6 altecnntive relief that the Conit, i #ts disd@tion, deem

a

appropriate.

DETERs Fbruary:§, 2009
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS,

Plaintiffs,
v,

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF,
aka Fathi Yusuf,

WALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED,
aka Wally Hamed,

WAHEED MOHAMMED HAMED,
aka Willie Hamed,

MAHER FATHI YUSUF,
aka Mike Yusuf,

ISAM MOHAMAD YOUSUEF,
aka Sam Yousuf,

NEJEH FATHI YUSUF, and

UNITED CORPORATION
d/b/a Plaza Extra,

Defendants.

CRIMINAL NO. 2005-015

GOVERNMENT’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR SPECIFIC RELIEF

The United States of America and the Government of the Virgin Islands, by and through

undersigned counsel, hereby responds to defendant’s Motion for Specific Relief (#1038).

DISCUSSION

Defendant presents numerous spurious, false, and unsupported accusations in his motion.

The motion is one in a series filed by the defendant and his co-defendants that are designed not to

redress legitimate grievances but to present false allegations to smear the government before the

Court. The defendant’s failure to identify any harm purportedly suffered or to attach an affidavit or
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other evidence to substantiate the claims of misconduct shows that the pleading has been filed
merely to grandstand rather than to rectify any error.
L The Defendant Has Not Suffered Any Harm

The defendant argues that he has been harmed by the alleged reorganization of evidence.
That is, he claims that the index of documents created by his defense counsel no longer comports
with the evidence as it is maintained by the government. Such an argument is false.

First, it should be noted that the motion does not concern spoliation or destruction of
evidence as claimed by the defendant. The defendant cannot identify a single document or even
categories of documents that no longer exist or have been destroyed.! Ignoring the hyperbole and
breathless narration of the motion, and, instead, reviewing the pleading with a clear eye, it is clear
that the defendant claims that harm has been suffered because his index does not marry perfectly

with the organization of the evidence.? The claim is inherently unreliable because it presurnes that

‘I Defense counsel was in government office space reviewing documents during the week
of January 26, 2009. The government repeatedly offered to locate any document that the defense
purportedly could not find. Defense counsel never provided a description of any records that
they allege were missing or could not locate. To this day they still have not done so.

The government repeats its offer to locate specific documents if the defense provides a
written request for such assistance. As is customary, the government will provide the seized
location and inventory number for any evidence the government seeks to introduce at trial.
Lastly, the government is aware of its obligations under Brady v. Maryland and Giglio v. United
States and will continue to comply with them.

2 The defendant may have been confused by the organization of boxes at the government
office space. As the evidence is voluminous and government space is finite, it had been stored
throughout the building, not necessarily in ascending or descending numerical order.
Recognizing that the organization of the evidence might cause the agents some time to locate an
individual box, the government made the reasonable request that defense counsel, prior to their
arrival at the government office space, identify boxes that they wished to review so that they
could be pulled and readied for inspection. Either the defendants were not organized and had not
identified what they wished to review, or they were organized and blithely ignored the
government's request. The result was the same: defense counsel arrived at the government
officc space and asked to review boxes of evidence in numerical order . As the government

2
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the defcndant’s index was true and accurate at the time it was made.®> Neither the government nor
this Court have any reason to believe that the error does not lie with the defendant. To that end, the
government has asked the defendant to provide his index so that the government can compare it to
the evidence as it is stored. See Exhibit A. The defendant has refused. As such, the government is
at a loss to respond to the defendant’s allegations.

. The Lack of Good faith is Evidenced by the Failure to Supply an Affidavit or to
Identify an Affiant

The defendant's lack of good faith in bringing the motion is betrayed by the refusal to
provide the government with evidence of either the harm purportedly suffered by the defendant or
of misconduct allegedly committed by the government. For example, the pleading contains a
significant number of allegations rcgarding acts purportedly taken and statements purportedly made
by law enforcement agents. The governmeant, by letter of February 10, 2009, informed the
defendant of its difficulty in responding to the motion given the unsourced allegations. The
government asked the defendant to provide an affidavit and/or statement, to identify the
individual(s) who would testify under oath, or indicate whether no individual would provide an
affidavit, statement or testimony. The defendant refused saying that it would only do so at a

hearing.

agents had to search the office for each individual box, the requests of defense counsel were not
accommodated as quickly as counsel would have preferred. In an attempt to facilitate the
defendants’ review of evidence, the agents reorganized the boxes to place them in numerical
order.

3 There is no evidence or reason to believe that the defendant has reviewed every box of
evidence at the government office space. Until such a statement is made and sworn to, they have

no good faith basis to argue that documents have been lost or destroyed.
3
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III. The Defendants Have Not Been Denied Access to Material Obtained by the
Government

The government has not denied the defendant’s requests to review evidence. Indeed, the
government has expended great efforts to accommodate the defendants, going so far as to offer to
have agents to stay later than their normal working hours in order to permit defense counsel to
review documents. As no good deed goes unpunished, defendant now claims, without a scintilla of
evidence, that the government has denied “numerous requests” to review certain materials seized in
the course of the execution of a search warrant. See Motion, ] 13.

In its February 10, 2009 letter, the government informed the defendant that a review of the
government’s files indicated that no requests had been denied. In tum, the government requested
that the defendant provide all correspondence and/or sworn statements that evidenced the
government’s refusal to accommodate a request to review evidence. See Exhibit B. Given the
government’s statement that it had no evidence of such conduct, it was reasonable to ask the
defendant to support a claim of misconduct made in a public filing.

The defendant refused to provide any such support. See Exhibit C. The government again
requested proof that the defendant provide evidentiary support for the claim stated in | 13 of the
motion, or — at the very least, to provide dates when requests to review evidence were made by the
defendant and refused by the government. Even the most basic information, such as dates, would
assist the government in determining whether the defendant’s claims have any validity. The
defendant failed to respond. Had such misconduct occurred, it is reasonable to believe that the

defendant would produce that to the government in order to permit the government to respond.
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the government is unable to respond to defendant’s motion
with particularity. The government respectfully requests that the Court dismiss the motion. In so
doing, the government respectfully requests that the Court order the defendant to meet and confer

with the government before filing any motion similar to the instant one.

Respectfully Submitted,

PAUL A. MURPHY
ACTING UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

/st MARK F. DALY
MARK F. DALY

LORI A. HENDRICKSON
Trial Attorneys

U.S. Department of Justice
P.O. Box 972

Washington, D.C. 20044

ALPHONSO ANDREWS
NELSON JONES
Assistant U.S. Attorneys

Dated: February 24, 2009
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Mark F. Daly, certify that on this the 24th day of February, 2009 the foregoing pleading,
the GOVERNMENT’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR SPECIFIC RELIEF, was
filed and served on the parties through the Court’s ECF system.

/s/ Mark F. Daly
Mark F. Daly
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O, ent of Justice

Tax Division

.-:-‘_'\‘3"'_(7;-\

Y
A

P.0. Box 972, Ben Franklin Station (202) 514-2174
Washington, D.C. 20044 Telefax: (202} 616-1786

JAD:BMS:MFDaly
5-90-327

February 11, 2009
By Fax & First Class Mail

Randall P. Andreozzi, Esq.
Andreozzi Fickess LLP
9145 Main Street

Clarence, New York 14031

Re:  United States v. Yusuf,
Crim No. 05-15 (D.V.L)

Dear Mr. Andreozzi,

We write in regard to the pleading styled “Defendant’s Motion for Specific Relief Due to
the Government's Destruction of the Integrity, Organization and Sourcing of Material Evidence”
(#1038 — Feb. S, 2009). In the pleading it is stated that in 2004 “[d]uring their initial review of
the documents at the FBI offices in St. Thomas, the defense team prepared a general inventory of
the groupings of documents held in the boxes, and scanncd as many of the pertinent documents
as possible.” Motion, §10. The motion alleges that the evidence as stored does not comport with
the index created by the defense team in 2004, Id., Ji4. Although the motion does not identify a
single document that was either lost or destroyed, it does claim that the defendants have suffered
unspecified albeit “infinite” harm. Id., §52.

Given that the motion is based on the purported variance between the state of the
evidence and the defendant’s index, we request that you provide the government with copies of
the original discovery index prepared by the defense team in 2004 and all revisions made to the
document since that time. Failure to do so will deprive the govemment of the ability to either
verify the claims set forth in the motion or to quantify any harm purportedly suffered.

Sincerely,

fMese O

Mark F. Daly
Trial Attorney

JA -192-



Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB Documentﬁkogéga rtf:'i‘lggt: g l2‘s4tli09 Page 1lof1
) 8 ce

Tax Division
P.O. Box 972, Ben Franklin Station (202) 514-2174
Washington, D.C. 20044 Telefax: (202) 616-1786
JAD:BMS:MFDaly
5-90-327
February 10, 2009
By Fax & First Class Mail
Randall P. Andreozzi, Esq.
Andreozzi Fickess LLP
9145 Main Street

Clarence, New York 1403}

Re: ited States v. Yusuf,
Crim No. 05-15 (D.V.1)

Dear Mr. Andreozzi,

We write in regard to the pleading styled “Defendant’s Motion for Specific Relief Due to
the Government’s Destruction of the Integrity, Organization and Sourcing of Material Evidence”
(#1038 — Feb. 5, 2009). The pleading contains a significant number of allegations regarding acts
purportedly taken and statements purportedly made by law enforcement agents. We note that the
motion does not reference an affidavit or other swom statement to substantiate the allegations.
As it is difficult to respond to the motion without knowing their source, we ask that you either
provide us with such affidavits and/or statement, identify the individual(s) who will testify under
oath, or indicate whether no individual will provide an affidavit, statement or testimony.

We are particularly troubled by the atlegation in §13 wherein it is stated that from 2006
through November 2008 the defense made numerous requests to review documents in the
possession of the government and that the government denied all such requests. We have
reviewed our files and can find no outright rejection of any request to review evidence made by
the defendants. Given the seriousness of such a charge, we request that you provide us with all
correspondence and/or swomn statements that evidence the government’s refusal to accommodate
a request to review evidence.

Sincerely,

P e D J\
M. Daly O
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ANDREOZZI FICKESS | LLP

Edward D. Fickess, Partner
Randall P, Andreozzl, Pastner

February 16, 2009

FA & U.S.

Mark F. Daly, Bsq.

US DOJ¥/Tax Division/N.Criminal Section
601 D. Streot NW, Room 7814
Washington, DC 20004-2904

Re: Vnited States of America, and Government of the Virgin Islands v,
. Fathi Yusuf, Mchamad Yusuf ¢t al.

Dear Mr, Daly:

We are in reccipt of your letters dated February 10, 2009 and February 11, 2009,
We agree with you that the government's actions are serious and we appreciate your
expressed desire to quantify the harm caused by such actions, Please be advised that the
defense will request & hearing on this matter and, to tho extent that the government
disputes amy of the allegations set forth in the motion, the defense intends to present all
appropriate testimony, affidavits, and/or documentary cvidence,

As you acknowledge in your February 10 cocrespondence, the hamm was caused by
the acts of Federal law enforcement agents. In this context and within the scope of this
case all agents, past or present, have acted under the authority and dircotion of your
office.

It is noteworthy that ncither the FBI agents nor Ms. Hendrickson informed the
defense that the subject acts that were committed. Instead, they attempted to limit our
access 1o the evidence, first by requiring the defense to identify specific documents we
wished to review, and then by limiting our review to random boxes selected by the
Agents, Despite theso constraints, the team quickly discovered that documentary
cvidence had been rémoved from boxes. It was only when FBI agent Zieba was
confronted with the defense team’s findings that she admitted to reorganizing the
documents, However, neither agent Zieba or Ms. Hendrickson would provide any
explanation of the manner or extent to which the agents altered the evidence. Such
conduct has forced the defensc to investigate and attempt to discem the precise extent of
the harms caused to the defendants’ ability to mount an cffective defenss under the
constraints or specific directions imposed by your office. -

9145 Main Street, Clarence, New York 14031
tel: 71615685 1100 fax: 716 | 565 1920
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Now, faced with having to explain this conduct to the Court and to address the
allegations sct forth in the defendants’ motion, you request that the defense provide you
with all proof gathered and work product generated in its efforts to detormine the extent
of the harms federal Agents have caused. You ask that we provide this information
before you submit your respomsive pleading to the Court. Your February 11
correspondence states that the defense’s alleged “failure™ to provide you with the specific
harms it has been able to determine to date will “deprive” the government of the ability to
verify the claims or quantify the harm. Wo view your position as improper,
disingenuous, and patently self-serving. . .

The prosecutor’s office and its federal agents are the only persons who possess
personal direct knowledge and ovidence of the acts committed by federal agents, and the
harms. caused. Contrary to the assertions in your letter, it appears the only thing your
office is “deprived of” is cvidence of the extent io which the defense has ascertained the
claims or quantified already identified harms. ¥ the government intends to deny such
conduot and or otherwise quantify the harms causcd, then justice requires that your office
do so with particularity within its court pleading documents. This entire situation has lefi
the defense with no alternative other than requesting that the Court require your office to
completcly and truthfully explain the conduct of all government agents to both the
defendants and the Court. Once the nature and scope of all government actions or
alterations to the evidence have been identificd, it may or may not bo possible to
cooperatively review all evidence of such actions as the government may provide in order
to accurately evaluato the extent of the harms caused. It also may result that dismissal
with prejudice is the only viable remedy regarding these serlous actions and their impact
on the evidence in this case.

The same holds true in your reference to Paragraph 13 of the Motion, We agrec that
your refusal to allow access to the subject records for more than two years is a serious
issue. What is more troublesome is your current response implying that the government
did nor deny’ defendants access to their documents during that time. We note that you
qualify your statement by asserting that you can find in your files no “outright rejection”
of any request to review evidence made by the defendants. Please state whether you will
represent to the Court that your office did not affinmatively deny Defendants access to
their documents during this period, as your intention to make any such representations to
the Court comprises yet another issue in the case that the parties must be prepared to
address in a hearing before the Court.
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Please contact me to further discuss these important matters.
Very truly yours

Randall P. Andrcozzl

cc:  Gordon C. Rhea, Esq.
Thomas Alkon, Esq.
Henry Smock, Bsq,
Derck M. Hodgo, Bsa,
Pamela Lynn Colon, Esq.
John K. Dema, Bsq.
Bruce Cole, Esq,
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Tax Division

C:

P.O. Box 972, Ben Franklin Station (202) 514-5150
Washington, D.C. 20044 Telefax: (202) 616-1786
JAD:BMS:MFDaly
5-90-327
February 20, 2009
By Fax & First Class Mail
Randall P. Andreozzi, Esq.
Andreozzi Fickess LLP
9145 Main Street

Clarence, New York 14031

Re:  United States v. Yusuf,
Crim No. 05-15 (D.V.L)

Dear Mr. Andreozzi,

We write in regard to your February 16, 2009 reply to our letter of February 11, 2009. As
you know, in our letter we asked you to substantiate the claim in { 13 of “Defendant’s Motion for
Specific Relief Due to the Government’s Destruction of the Integrity, Organization and Sourcing
of Material Evidence” (#1038 ~ Feb. 5, 2009) that from 2006 through November 2008 the
defense made numerous requests to review documents in the possession of the government and
that the government denied all such requests. Apparently overwhelmed by the task of
chronicling the many concessions and admissions in our letter, your reply failed to respond to our
request for support for your allegation.

Let me restate it here. We have reviewed our records and can find no evidence that
during the time period referenced in your motion the government refused any defense request to
review evidence that was obtained during the course of executing the search warrants in 2001,
Do you have any evidence that such a request was made and refused? If so, please provide it to
us. If you won’t produce the evidence, pleasc do us the courtesy of identifying when you made
the request and when it was refused. If your intended response is to thank us for admitting
something, please spare us. We are not interested in games of semanties and it will benefit
everyone, the court included, as it will reduce your next pleading by one exhibit.

Sincerely,

s (_C_
Mark F, Daly
Trial Attorney

cc: Counsel of Record (by facsimile)
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IN THE.DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

'UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN JSLANDS

Plaintiffs,

Crimingl No. 2005-015F/B

FATHL YOSUF MOHAMAD YUSUR
afaFathi Yysuf,

WALESD MOHAMMAD HAMED,
-akn, Welly Hamed,

‘MAHER BATH] YUSUF,
aka Mike Yusuf,

ISAMMOHAMAD YOUISEF,
aka. Sam Yousuf;

NEJBH FATHI YUSUF, and

UNITED:CORPORATION
bt Plaza Bxtra

Defentants.

'COME NOW, Deféndarits, by and throughs their respective copnsel, i zeply totite

Governmient’s Resporise to Daferidants® Mation for Specifio Relief as:foflows:

On Fébruary 5, 2009, Defendants filed'their Motion for Specifity RETEF Due o the

‘Governmen’s Bestrugtion of the Integrity, Organization and Sourcing of Material

EXHIBIT

c
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Biidence (Dkf. No. J038). The Govemment responded to Defendants’ Motion on
Pebruary 24, 2009 (Dki. No. 1067);

The. Government's 3-page Response fiills fo admit or.deny the detailed nondbered
factual allegations set forth in.Defendant’s Motion, ‘Instead, it offers a vague statement
that “numerons”™ allegations dra “sputious" and *falsé”. ‘Because:the.allegations describe
actions und. sttemenss madory two Governtiert edsk:apents: (FBI Agents Thomas Retrl
and Clgdsﬁhe Zieba) and ane Government widurey of recand, (Departitient: of Jstice
Attomey Loci Hendriokson).in this matter, the Governntedt passesses direct knowlédpe

sufliéiznt to admit, opdeny each allegation in.theymotion. 1t chiose not o, “The dlear
inference: is tha the govemttent Hoes nob-dispiite the factual dllegdtions, and the ohly
issue In.controversy Is whgther the requestet] rellefSs warranted. %
‘On the issue of’relief; the Goverament:asgnes in its 4-page respanse that. _(J)‘d%
Deferdant fiiled to ideatify harm:caused by the: Govermment's actions, and {2) ﬁl&t’ihg?
Défentant :fdiled to uttach, an :affidavit or other evidence to substantiate the hag:i'n_

Defendants address each: of these stputmians Sn tuw. @
1 The Goverument’s ActionsHarmed the Defendants..

The Government.opens it argwoment on o haray gased; with what dppears 16 be
d Gitegorical denial ofiallof the Defendan™ allsgatins; (bihen imtediately rephrases
the derl@ to-inply et 6y the Defendants” chiffm, of hurm is false, The response is
vague, and the Governnseotavoids-the spesifio. factsrelevarit to whether its Agents fn fact
shuffled, reorganized, anl destuayed llig-sourcing of dieDefendatts® doouments.  Instead
of proffering, facts to weliher refute ov affiva the' speoific slfegativons set forth in the

Defendants’ Motion, the Govérnment trivializes the .allegations. in this: manner; the

JA -199-
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Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB Document #: 1076 Filed: 03/17/09 Page 3 of 12,

Govemment, avoids the pertingat. issues and -fails to address the precise. harms identified
in the Défendants” Motion. As @ consequence,. the Governnienfs Response léaves
undisputed fhe fact that the: FBT Agents knowingly and willfully rearcanped and shyffied
the Pefendants’ documsents i theif custody so as 1o ‘severely .compromise: the
Defendarits® ability either o utilize or rely on thiose docunients in theirdefense.

Thie Government asserts at page 2 of its Response: itiat the Rafetdants canhot
idertify all specific documents dhat may have been distroyed orvoampromised. From
this, the Gpvemment draws e itifetenco that.the Defendants* olafm far reljef is without
merit, The assertion is.corredt; the ififéeeice is false.

The fallacy of the Govemment's irférciwe is best' understood through: the

Government’s own actions: When fhe Ghvernment seized g piginal docunients. fFoin

‘e Defendauts’ homes sind businesses, it-chose to Bates stamp: oulysome of the selzed

‘documents and nof othiers: 'The Govéiiment: then retumed some of: the: non-Bates
stamped documents to the Deferidants.that it destued: fo-be ihconsequential 10 the case,
b, iexained, ‘thovsands of other non-Bates stamped- Socumients: at its: FBI Office.
Pefendants requested thie retum of the remaining documents hiefd by the FBL. but flie
Govemment refused, The seized - documents, therefore, fall Into:three.categories: (1)
Bates. stamped documents retdined by the Goveptimetit;: (2 Non-Bates. stamped
documents retaincd by the Governmeat; 2and (3) Dogutitets retihied -t Deféndants,
Goverrittient Agerits and Govetnmerit Coupsel then ‘argatiized gach Bates stamped
dociiment they intend to-use-at trial in plastic binders. Each document is cross referenced
to its ‘Bates inventory number and bar-coded seatch watrant evidence: boxes so as fo

préservé the source and authenticlty of each and every document. Zhe Government did
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aot employ: these controls with the now-Bates numbered- documents it returned 16 the
Defendants arwith the.non-Bates.numbered dicuments it retainsalthe KBI Qffiée:

Noty, ia the epifome of self-serying: statements; and as if‘to somshow reassare the
Difendants and this Gourt, the Govgrament states:  “A's is custoriaty, the goverifiant
Wil pravide the seized Jocation and.inventory wimber for- any evidéiice the: governmient
sedks o' #5E o tridl? (Dkt. No. 1067, at 2:nl). The :Government's statement
nequivoeslly proves thak the Goveintent understands its obligation to ‘presetve the
that ‘the -integrity of evidence is preserved. T ‘Goveroment's “AESutANGS™ dlso
deniofistiates that the Government Tollowed i3 protocol-with respect-to the evidense it
‘hferids to- usesat:tiidl to-prove its case; but that it violated the protocal ‘with respect to'the
restof the documentary evidence, jncluding the.ion-Bates stamped documenits held.at the
FBLOffice.

1t:43 ithese documents that the FBJ; Agents; shaifled and searganized; destroying
Wy ehaiee oF establishing the. “customary” inventory numbering:preserved. by the
Guvertgnt WitH s -evidlence. The ‘statement sthus -confirms: that the Government
understands the peed to, follow established protaca) 1o ensiice the- iitegtity of seized
prapetty. The . Governmient’s: selective applicition -of such profogol’ and ity willful
réorganization and shulfling of the. documents is direct evidence: of iis bad faith: and.
willful disreprd of the deferidants™ dife: piicess tights.

The Government's next argument on thic issuc of harm & degply troubiling, as it,
cotifirms one. of the grave consequences expressed in. Defendavts’ Motion. The-

Govertiment states! “The (Defendants' éldim is inherently unreliiible because:i presumes
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“that the defendant’s index Wes tud and acdurate at the time It was made.” (Dkt. 1067 at

2:3). The Government, without ever having seen. Deféndants’ -index, dismisses it as
ititrerently unrdliablei for purposes of this Motion, and-would. no. doubit dorthe same at
ttial. T, it Is undispured that the:government shiffled and'venrganized the-deferidants’
Hocunenls knowihg that there Is no “rellable” indexing.in place that would provide:the
“cuslomary” assurange of the vrgatizationat Jnrggri'tqux‘:iied by the Court:for evidence
proffered by-a.party foradmission-atttial.

16 ¥ibw: o this; the;Defendants cannot idenfify and. quanfify each and every-harm
vausetl) hur can the Dbférdlants Jdentify. every speéifia document that may have beew, or
-even in.fact has been:destroyed or niisplaced by-the Govermitnerit:' Fad-the Govemnment
followed.dis intornal ;profocel, and. propetly Bates stimiped, itventoried and sepanized
gvery -document it seized, the defense may have ‘becn. abile to accargplish suich
identification.. To the Defendants’ direct. and: imeversible. detriment, the. Govemmernt.
‘made: the ‘deliberate chimixes nufie do s, This very inability 'to-identify the speoific:
‘resulting harm ‘illystrates- fhe: gravity of ilie prejudice catsed. by: the Qoverntent's
actions.

To déemonstiaty the 'Govemnment critidizes the Defendants’ inability to “provide a,
~description of arly ‘tecords” that e tnissing; and. touts “repeated” offers to locate “any
document® that the defense cantiot fintl (Dkt. No, 1067 202 nl). The fallady undexlying:
such bogus-“pffers” is:thati (1ythe Government-meinfained.no index of the specific riof-

‘bate.stamped docuiments, and.{2) it challegges any index created by the dafense; team as

! mi§ii'ﬁﬁhilliy fo I”déﬁﬁly Hio tnie extent:ofthe:harm was among the issucs:rafsed by the. Defendantsin
their mofion.
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“inherently unreligble,” Obvigusly, withions & detajled’ inventory of Bates statnped
docirierits, the Defendants cannot identify specific documents thaf thay be missing,

The Govemment continuey its sléjght of hand in dts footnote 2. In-an apparent.
effort to: explain away the Agents? cunvession that they rearrumpsd. the. Deferidints®
documents; the government cancacts: ascenmo under ‘which it suggesis fhaf that:the
Agents: dettnlly rearranged the numbered and;bar-coded boxes purportedly to facilitate
the defense tgam’s feview: “In. @h dttempt to facilitate; the: defendants’ review of
evidence; the mpenls ceorgdnized’ Boxes: 1o plare them in Himhericll orden¥ (Dkt: No.
1067 at3 g2). This iz nokthe “reurggization” Bissaeinthe:Motion,

The: defense team demanded numiefitdl review: of e boxes qffer-it.discovered
that Agent Zicba had shuffied and' rearranged documents. amoog the‘boxes. When
confionited by the:defense teatn, Agenit Zieba sonfessed thit-she:recrganized and shuffled.
the Hocunjents, 1t was afier: Ageril' Zigba's admission thatethé Government agreed to the
-defense's numerlcal review of the boxes, Attormey Hendricksom tequired, 5y a condifion
“to, such Kitisrieal teview, that the Governmeiit review eachibox before the defense team
was granted acess: ket dt:be:¢leat Apent Zieba reatranged documents, not boxes. She
did so. 70t o assist the defersedin ity weview: Rather shi did so.foF her oM reasons—
teasohs Government counsél has mfusedvtofgl.lm‘ﬂieﬁgqﬁ;f;o revedl {o the Defense.
The Governmently assertion' at fooinote 2. is. false; und: the defense: calls wpon the
GOSRHETIE to. Sorieet thie. stitemerit or beiprepared Yo addriiss fit'at i hearing through the
appropridle govemment witnesses.

As jis finalargumen{ gn harm, the:Goyernment—in:ihe face-of its earlicr assertion

that 8RY documeril index prepared by the defense is “inherently uriréliable™—complains
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that it cannot deterniine the extent of thd haing its attitns. caused the dofeiise withou!
having access to the -defense": document [ndex: The Govemment has the burden.-of,
maintainiig the: integrity of dfl evidence, .1t {s the Government that should have Bates-
stamped alf the dogainients and vecorded its awh complele inventory of ail the documents,
The Gavernment.has no basis: 16 now request at require a Defendant’s general inventory-

to determine the ogganizational ‘integrity af, the documeants: it holds. The Qoverment

Goyernment 45 now Taced with tho fact that it cannot. ensure the integrity of the
dovurents & its custatly, 1o the words of AttoraeyHendrdkson, »What's done is done
In.any event, the Government’s agenfs and attarneys.fiave flll knowledps of What'
was done:with the documents. Thus, whilg'they cannot reconstruct, the organization of’
Ahpbsands bftunBues stariped documerits, they can respond to Deféndanits’ allegations
by explélning fo ks Court.precisely whiatttiey did with.the documents. They choose.not:
to. Instead ;(as"mighﬁt: any wrangdoer) the Govemnment seeks to ascertaint the extent of'the
harm their victim figured out before admitting what its agents and aftoragys have' done.
{He result s a blenket denial that the government agents must now: defend. at an
evidentinty hicaring,
1ir. view of the above, the Govemnmed(’s argumetits -an theissue of hatm, actually
reinforce the Defendants™ pogition that the Government's shuffling and rearangement of
i Defendants* properly unfaitly and unconstitutionally. préjidices. Defendants! ability
‘to, inter difa; (1)-establish or contest the authenticity of documents; (2} establish or
contest the source -of documents; (3) crosszexamine. the Government's Wwitnesses. with.

respect to dacuments; (4) establish or contest wheiher. a particular individual had access
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t6 or knowledge of documents; (5) establish whether all -of the :séized documerits are.
properly -accdunted for;, and (6) contest-whether particular documents were obtained by
improper tiicans and/or whetliet taterials are privileged. These and other issues were
expressly .identified and addressed in Deféndaiits’ Motion, yet the Government jgnores
them in its response. The Defeandants cin only assurie thiit the Govemment understaod

thie gnd tesiilt of its willful imalfeasance, and fiilly intends:to regp. fhe-benefits at teial,

IL  Defendants Bring this:Motiow itk Gaod Faith.

Instend of'iddressing the specific detgiled allegatibng set forth in the Defendant's
Motion, the Government riezelyigtiores them and argues that reciting facts inr the motion
rather than: through an affidayit shows bad fiith in bringing the Motion. The Government-

‘fails to cite: mny-case law ar. oltier-aufhority 10°supportilis atgptient. The Govemnment-
-cotild have: raised this argument ;ard addressedthie specific:ilegations. It.shose not to,
. Pefendants tespectfully submit that it is the Government’s actions that illustrate bad faith.

Thie Govemnment cag verifythe, truth of the Defendant’s allegations through its
.own agents and attorneys irg this; case; for itis they wiro.acrively participated in-or-were
privy to the subject acts and communications, The absurdify of the Government's.
position, &5 Uhusteated n fts:argument that a significant inumber of allepafions pertain to
actions taken. by law eriforcemen(, aad that it is difficult-to respond-to the. Defendants’
Motion “given. the unsourced alfegdtions;” ‘Given the: Gaverment's refiisal to confirm
the allegations through the indjviduals: charged. with the; statements or acts (namely’ case.
Agents Zigba dnd Petri, and case Attorney Hendrickson), and its refusal to provide

stafemerits from any. of those Individuals, the Defendants attach. hereto as, xhlbits.éf!i.{ .
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statements of ‘coritact from: members of the. defense feam supporting the allegations set
forth in the Defendan{s’ Motion.

Thus, the Government’s clalm. that it is unabile 16 tespond to Defentarts” Motion
with patticularity is without merlt. It is-télling, morgover, that the- Government has not
submiited jts own affidavits from Assistant :Attommey General Hendcickson or--Agenis
Zeiba, Petd, and Petri+—or for that. ritattet-avetred iany facts-whatsoever—disputing the
allegations made in Defendants’ Motiom,

NI TheDefeiidants Have Been Denfed Access to Viewand Inspect Thelr
Documents from November 2004 Uitil Rovember 2008.

‘The-Government deniés that it has forbidden the Defendants access to' FBI Offices
"to inspect: their docurments from Novenibier 2004 thidugli Wovember 2008.. 1t atthoks this
single ellegition, raised -at-paragraph 13 of Defendants”™ 79-paragaph Motiab, 48 if it
were the jonly allegation: upon which the clalnr for sellel'ds. based, Presnmably, the
Govertment asserts this: singuler donial on 2 présumption’ by the Government that there.is
no dacumentary evidence: memorjalizing the: Govemmeniisrefusal to allow-Defendants
access during this perigd. ‘Defendants challenge: the Govermument'sdetidl 4s Talse.
Dutiing; this Yific period, defense counsel reqyested—tiofh telephonically-and:ih writing—
access to the. FB] Office to inspect the Defendants* documents, Following eacls request,
Goyernment counsel denied, the requestéd access .and. instead. imposed a rale that if:
defense counsel wished to review a patticuler documient, thoy should identify the
décument-to:Government Counsel and he:orshe would: delermine whethier 1o provide that

document to the defense: for review.* Government Counsél musi concede these acls.

é"m@nhsufdity of this “nﬁe." ls'tréhsp.amt ‘Flist, the Govemments “fulg" would require flic Defendants
*to kmow and be able to identify every docyment in the:Gavernineri's possestions Second; the nile wauld

9
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BeFinse; coursel dands yendy Ao offér piosf of SIots a8tiors @t an'evidentiary heading. aii:
drirmmer, (Rag DL No-1057.464),

WHERBRORE; io'WIHAT (oo Foregofii; Dofendants respectfully:sequestithat thix
m;

o, @hant Defeadnnts’ Mofion fof Spevifity Helinf Dua. o The
Gbvernimient’s Destruction of the IntopriTy Crzanization s Sowsing
off Mujerial Evidence;

@&, Disniiss the case 4i1its eafiteigywilh: prefuite] aud

o) Grantsuch ofher reliof as requested i s Miftin o2 st Gamecin s

diseretion decms appropriate.

5 6L
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=
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DATED: March 17, 789,

6cd

"Reqpediily. subinfited,

8¢
SANVTISI NIDHIA

/3 Gordon G Rhea, Es
Gordon C. Rhea, Esq '
RICHARDSON, PATRICK WESTBRODK &
BRICKMAN, LLC
1037 Chuck Dawley Blyd., Bldg. A
M Pligisant, SC 29464
(843) 727-6656
(843) 216-5509; (Facsiniile)

teqire the DeTNS o ideitily cach dosument thek th dofenss deems periinent lothis case beldre
fbgaccesstodl; Thus, (he “ruie” Is not only:impossible but violajes:thie.Defeititnts dite piracess rights,

o
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sl
Henry'C. Smock, Esq.
PO Box 1498

1B, Thomas; USVIDOR04

Jsl
Pamela Colon, Esq. ’
27 &28:King Gross Stroat, 1" Floor
Chufstiansted] ‘St. Croix, USVI 00820

Joha K. Dema, Esq.
1236 Strand Stxeet; Suite 103
Christiansted, St, Groix, USVI 60820

Is/

“Thomas Alkon, Bsq.
2115 Queen St
Christiansted, St. Croix, USVI 00820

el
Randall P, Andreozz, Esq.
9145 MainiSt:

Clarence, NY 14031

I—fﬂ-{y’:':.f i -
Dergk M. Hodge; Bsq.
P.0. Box 303678

St, Thomas, USVI 00804

1
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Py 2 rrd

1 HEREBY CERTIFY that on this 17 day of March, 2009, I electionically filed
the foregolng with the Clerk of the Court using CM/ECF systerh wHich will seivd a notice
of electronic filing (NEF) to.all counsel of record.

s

“Gordon C. Rhea, Esq.

12
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MEMORANDUM
‘UNITED STATES V. YUSUF, ET AL,

R T R RS

TO: “ALL DEFENSE COUNSEL
FROM: RANDALL ANDREOZZI, RONALD WISE, JOSE MARRERO, HOWARD FPSIEIN, THERESA
MAINS; TRACY MARIEN :

SUDSECT: NARRATIVE OF EVENTS AT ST, 'THOMAS FBI OFFICES ON MONDAY, NOVEMBER 10, 2008
DATE: NOVEMBER 10,2008
cc

R N P L IR a Y T 4 . R T o L I R S RN NN L I
= — Y XS L

=T P~

The. following persons travelled: fo the EBI Offices in St: Thomas to review client

docoments; .Randall Andreczzi, Roniald Wise, Jasé Matrero; Howird Epsteiti, Theresa

‘Mains, and Tracy Marien. ’

‘Whien the group. arrived at the FBI offices, we were: greeted by a staff person-wlhio told us

Shecial -Agent Christine Zgiba was wailing. for us. at the-lower office. Randy Andrezzi ,
asked the-swoman if the documents were moved down. to: that office. The-woman;assured
us that.Speoial Agent Zeibs had:everything we needed. We walked to the office and

were ‘greetiid: thete by Spécial Agent Zeiba, She asked to. spesk with Mr. Andreozzi

privately, '

I a private conversation, Specisl Agent Zeiba advised Mr. Andreozzi that she wag under
the impression thit 1. group of oply: two or three: people would Bé at the offico, and that
tho group. wonld idenlify specific docutments they wighed'to see'and that she would bring
the documentsfo them. She:advised that:she ‘was by herself diid ¢ould not useomitiodate
‘such a large group: Special Agent Zeiba stated that she was infStined by FBL Apesit Petri
that the defense had been, provided with copies of all ducutiicnts in the case, and that-this
visit was to-view only specific @ocuments. She asked why-we had not given ber a list.of
{fie:documents. we wanted to see 50 that: she could pull them for us ahead.of time, M.
Andreozzi Tiformied her-that:this was not the understanding, and that tho-defense had not
it fadt bech provided with capics of all documents, Mt. Andreozzi reniinded, ber that, in
their discussions on the' previous Saturday, he advised her of the size of the group
-aftending and -had forwarded his email correspondence with Me, Daly confirming their

1)

review for fhE weeks Special Agont Zeiba expiésséd codtern that she had not been
praperly Informed of the scope of the week’s document review. After corférfibg with
co-connsel .Gordon Rhea, Mr, Andreozzi advised that -the; group would retirn on
Wednesday, -afler Agent Zeiba bad the oppottunity to, confer with DOJ Coutisel on the
matter. [Mr. Andreozzi altests to this paragraph).

Upon thisit. teturn to the: group, Special, Agent Zeiba told Randy Andreozzl that DOJ
aftomney Hendticksod and Special Agent Petri would be present when we retumned to
revitw docurfients on ' Wednesday, Whereupon the defénse tcam departed from. the FBI
offices.
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I liave reviewed the foregoing narrative and confirm to-the bust of my recollection that it
5 a true and accurate summary of the events described.

' Ronéld Wise-

Theresa.Mains

Howard Bpstoin. _ ~
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1 have reviewed the foregoing narmifive end cinfitm to the best of sy recollection that it
is g true nndaccumtexummynfthemamibea.

josc Maftcro |

Rondlf Wike

[
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i have reviewed the foregoiiig narmtive and confirm to the best of my recollection that it
is a tiue and adtutite siimmaky of the evenis described.

TowmTn
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"MEMORANDUM
‘UNITED STATBS V. YUSUR, ET AL.

TO: ALL DEFENSE COUNSEL

FROM:  RANDALLANDREGZZLRONALD WISE;JOSE MARRERO, HOWARD ENSTEIN, THERESA,
MATNS, ARACY MARIEN, BUGERIE BENTON

SUBJECT: NARRAITVE OR EVENTS ATST. THOMAS FB] OFFICES ON WEDNESDAY, NOVEMRER 12,
2008

DATE: NOVEMBER 12, 208

The*following persons tmvelled to the FBI Offices in St. Thomas to review clicat documents;
Randall Andreozzi, Ronald Wise, José Mineto, Howard Bpstein, Eugene:Benton, Thetesa Mains,
sod Teecy Marign.

Present for the Government Lofi Hendrickson (DOJ); Thomas Petii (FBI), Javier Bell (IRS),
Chistiné Zeiba.(FBI), and various FBI staff. '

‘Upon the team's arrivil at FBI offices, -we eitooyitered coment case gent Chastine Zelba, DOJ
counsel Laugie Hend#ickson, FB Special Agent Thamas Peir, and IRS Special Agent Javier Bell
Ms. Henfltickson advised that these agents would b present to:mionitor out-document teview. She .
explained that we xeauld be, sllowsd to! view otie box ag o tinse; thay daly. one person would be.
illowed to-tonch the documents at u times zud that the-govethrhetit dgents = not:the-defensa team —.
would select-arid_produce tath box that se would: be allowed to:reviewn Randy Andreozai stated
that this protocsl was entieely itcondliteatwith the protocol of the: defense’s carlier:teview sessions.
He requested that My, ‘Headrickstn. explsin why this protocol wus jin place; Ms. Hendrickson
oxplained that such protocol wns necessary to emsare that the dacuments were oot teatranged int the
‘boxes and o mainitein the infegrify of the:clidin ofcustady of the documents.

IRS Agent Javier Bell was not iatroduced 60 the group-upon our actival. Mr. Marrerro recoguized
M. Bell and greates] him: Upon Inguity; we leaned that Mr. Bell was relocated by the IRS to
Denvet; Colorado.

Ms. Heqdridkson advised that our review:would he monitored by beryelf, Messts, Peted and Bell, and
Ms, Zeiba. Mr: Andreoza asked why 8 Denyet-based IRS Agent atid 4 Flotlda-based FBI Agent:
were required to moaitor docamiént réview it St Thomas FBI Office, "Ms, Hendrickson advised
that we wece not entitled. to, kriow the, teasong for théir preseace-at.the St Thomias FBI'offices. Mr.
Andreozziadvised Ms. Hendtickson thatsuch protocol was nat.acceptibile fo the defénse team.

After negotiations between. Ma. Hendrickson and Mr. Andreozzi, it was dgreed that the defense
would limit the number of people in the:sevigw ag given tifnes, and: that Ms. Hendtickson and
Messrs, et and Béll would notbe allgwedl to ofitetve or otherwise monitor. the review, Ms, Zieba
would moniior the review, along with other members of her office as needed. ‘Ms. Zicba would
btingout boxes-in groupy of five, and the tcam would review one box at a time,

&
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Upon review of the Brst box produced (Box 131), the team found that it conteined documents that
had not been in Box 131 at the- time of the: defense tearn”s cadlier document review. (The defense
team had peepared a gencral simmary index of documents contained in.cach box on their pror visits
to the FBY offices in 2004, and beought the Index with them to this visit) The defense team was
able to discern the dis cy by (1) referencing its docutpent index ¢reated dudag the previous
visif, and (2) noting that he: butes stamp on these doclimchts began with 295 gather. than 131 (the
government’s organization of the docusmétits uses n prefix afthe bates nurdber that matches the box
number in which it stéied cach documént). The prefixes ﬁ‘}' tie'bates stimped docurnents sio longer
miutched the biox nismber, We then verdfied that the subject dorutnesits mttchied the bates numbety
of the defense’s index. of some of the documents in'Bok 295; thus confifming that the subject
‘documents were in fact orginally catalopued Eom & different biox. |

Raady Andrcozii asked Christine Zciba why. this docament was Jocated.in box 131,

Tt was then that, Chidétitie Zelbg informed us that she.rcorganized the documents and bozes: Randy
Addrepp] explaiiied to Special Agent Zeiba that the defense’s indexing of the documents was based
on the boxes In which they were otiginally maintained by the FBL Mri. Andreozal fuxtier explained.
that the RBI represented to the defonse teap disiing Mg/ indtisl domment feviewdt that the box.
numbers corresponded with the vations; locations. and ‘foams within each location:from which the
‘doqurngnts were: seized. Becavee the HBI clected to bates number odly some of thé. documents:
selzed, the only.way for the defeénse to thack the documents was by box‘number. Ranly Andreozzi
asked why she rearmnged the documents and whethicr shy employed - ceridini methoddlogy in
rearsanging the documents. Special Agent. Zaiba. stated she could nat discuss hee method of
orgariization with us. Special Agent Zclba stated shejust changed the boxes and reacranged the
dogurmeats to fit with hee organizational method.

Randy Andreozzi repeated the ‘question: “So if wewere totlook through, say, Box 200,.and refer to
our index, -the contents of the box would not match?”  Clisistinic Zeba confiried: thit; this was
coerect; the documents would no longetmiateh t6 tits defene’sdrideR . Shic explalned, “Thad np idea
1he defense relied ion the-order oF these docurenits: tw‘pa:&mﬂn: bokes; Isearranged how I was
doing. thiem ind what tnade sense to me. -Iiwas't')ﬁxilitng;xou;mﬂd giveime a st of the documents
you ware siiissing of-wanted to look at and.I-could gxil‘{hcm because. I know whete théy ate. [did
‘not know you wold be Jooking through oll the boxes.™

Randy Andreozzi stated that this development puts the defense at square onc.  The integrity,
orgadization, and custody éhisin of the boxes, the bates stamped documents, and the non-bates
shmped documents have all been compromised.- Hemsked:Ms: Zedba how, inlight-of this; could the
defense (1) determine what documents ‘were tremoved. frém. the various ‘files; (2) detetmine what
documents the defense does not bmve, (3) detercinig whink Sosenments Haye-been semoved or ate
ralgsing: feony the-boxey () detaanios Whdt dotuueds Bavelipnkeatiutiged among the boxes; and
(5} deteemiiie yohisk obiis, stores; homes, orindividugls §pecliic documeriti were seized from. Ms.
Zisdha (id nut answes the guestion. Special Age’nt'Zc‘ib‘megteﬂiaBe bad 1o ides the defense or the
FBI cdlied on the box numbers as the idendiying factos ih iidexing and asrariging the documesits, or
g5:a.reference as Yo the locations from which the FBI procured te doguuseots. Specil Apent Zéiba,
repeated she ruly thought that we were-to provide lier vAth o Jit.of, dacnisenits to pull, Mi. Zélba
then stated she. needed to speak with attomey Hendfickson and Specidl Agent Petri. At this palnt,
Hendsickson, Perti and Bell retutned to the FiL office. 'When attorney Hendrickson. and Peurd
entered, Randy Andteozzl informed them of the Issue. '
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-

Special Agent Petii claimed that after the defense team looked through documents from the boxes
diiting ii% initial document teview, the FBI Agents fouod many misplaced documents. and had to
teplace them in their correct boxes. Thus, clilined Petd, it was peoEibly the deféase tedin. that
misplaced ttie documentin Box 131. Rundy Andteazzi challenged thix dssection by asking how the
FBI Ageats wauld know whether the documents were: mlsplaced: i€ .they were not relying: on. a
spedfic nrgurizationdl method based on box: numbes in the first plice; Petr sepeated his ullegation.
:fd ;Hmeﬁ!, “;T}'hin is why we-have to have an ageat watch you to insure the intepety of the:oxder of
i&:documeants.’

Randy Asdreozal then repeated his question:  If there. is integity to the order of the docuinexits in.
thels respective boxes, and Christing Zefba just infotmed us’ that she rearrahged the documents and
boxes, why will the FBI not provide-is with the:methodology (f any), for her scorganization? Petd
then confrginted Special Agent Zeiba, “You tcotganized the boxes?™ Ms. Zeiba now claiined shejust
reattanged the boxes. M. Petri replied he did not:want to discuss the issue anymote. '

After HenddEkson, Petrd and Béll leR: the office; Special :Agent Zeiba advised the defense: team that
she did not redlize-the documents were: organized by box tumber. Special Apest Zeiba stated that.
she did potundesstand the issue when we first exphained it to her but now she undesstands, Special
Agent Ziedba, stated that this explains why Randy Andreozzi t51d hiee that thie defense conld'go
ahcugle-dfl of the boxes relutively expeditionsly, and, with respect: 1 bome of tife boxes, wéwonli
need only ghnce theough thems.  Ms, Zeiba stated that she zeognized the documents smongthe
boxes because she'did aot like hiow they were atiginally organized.  Mb. Zéiba cortinued. to make.
comments segarding the boxes and what she had injtially perceived would be theorder of -events .
When the glefiose. team amived for the: document teview: Ms. Zeiba repeatedly attempted: to
persuade. Randy Andreozzi.to .adopt a proceduse. by wwhich thie deferse would tell ber what
dotuments we aeeded and she could tetrive thegpediic dacuments. Kandy Andreozzi stated it:was
nof that “We'need specific documents,” But that we heeded to revicw all of the docuauents. as they
ate maintsiged:in the boxes and under-the RBIs document controls. Mk, Andreozzi explained

that, et the defense conducted (s initial document review, 1t-attempted to rereate. it phe oy
sllowed as detafléd a general Inventoty summarizing documents ot groups of documents diat:wEis in
rach box bused on box number ps passible. Sadie dociments wete bated surbered; but most were
not. Mr: Andreozsi: pointed out 'that: even the documents that were bates stamped were jdentified
based -ont e, box number. Teacy Marien observed further that the FBI placed bar codes on dio
specific boxes that matched the box numibers and bates prefixes.

At this point Ma. Zeiba asked the team to break forilunch.

After the funch break, Special Ageat Zelba had the defense team wait in. the-waiting room. When the
team entercl ‘the FBI office; Apents Bell and Pét came into the office. Randy Andreozal maked
Spacial Ageat Zéfbg why Bell and Petd were present. Randy Andrcozz reitcrated hls agreement with
attnmey Hendrickson-that they would not beiptesent during our revicw. However, Agents Bellnd
Betll wera now in the storage raom whege the Usited documents were atored. Special Agent Zeiba
toid us that she had msked Bell and Petd ze-sheles the boxes we wete finished teviewing nnd bring
out new bioxes. Ratidy Andecozyi asked Ms. Zeiba whether Petri and Bell were reviewing ot further
rearnaping ot yem@iisg documents, Ms. Zelba stated ‘they were not.  Special .Agent Petri then
Mi&&n&?ﬁ the. storage mom carrying focuments and asked Special Ageant Zeiba to instruct Him
% 1 thethoxes: she wanted him' to, the Bocoments in. Zeiba pocup figm thie tabile and went ingg fhe
storage tooi with Petd and Bell. Zejlinmrated to. thew, “L fist Bailshed xﬂ{ln%ﬂxcm yoi tesé tiot
locking wtidocuments”” If-was clear to the;team {hat Petti and Bell were wking farther unknown
actions with:zespect to the clients’ documents. "
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Upon review: of the contents of box 468, José Marrero noted that the documents wete niot bate
stamped. Consequently; we would not know what to look: for oc ask: for with respect to any
documents that might be moved or missing. Randy Andrcozd explaified sgain that the defense’s
general indexing surnmarizes the documents ih each box, assuming that the defense team would be
ablé to come back and go back to-cach box as needed, with the understandlng that the dntegrity of
cach bar coded box would be malntalned. ‘Many documents were not bates stamped so the
ideatifying location -and integrity of the cvidénce was agsiimed to be with the box nurndbiers the FBI
utilized. Christine Zelba, responded, *I don’t hive them: organized the way you hive them
Dtg!n' 'Iz‘ed.u

Randy Andreozzi then esked, “When you.did your aew system, did you bite stamp the documents?”

Chtistine Zeiba .rapoudéd. “I am pat sute what you sheatr. Ifyou feel you are milssing soniething
anB cunnot atliculofe the dbcument; we would have 6. recopy: everything?  Chdstifie Zieiba
repeatedly stated ghe astarned the defénse was giveti copies of 100% of the documents and she did

aot-undecstand why the FBI had not given us alfof the documents.

Rondy Andreorzi gave Ms, Zeiba a list of wix boxes we wanted to review. Special Agent Zeiba
retrieved three of the.mquested:itecs. Qne way 2 bankee’s box nnd two were redwells. One.redwrell
was labeled “161:formerly” and contained oply dbont: 8-10 documients, The othier sedwell was.
labeled “428” and copined a Few snasilla-foldets of docutments. Randy Andeeczyl infofned Ms.
Zeiba thae 161 gnd 428, based oft ouriindex; usedito be full boxes of documents, He asked why the
tedwell was labeled “161-formeidy.”” Ms. Zéitsz would only pestate. that:the documerits.are no longer
in their originnl ordex: '

‘Randy Andreozzi askedl For the other 3 boses hie zequeated, Ma. Zeiba stated ithat she was nat going
to'provide them to.u$ today. Spedial Agent Zeiba stited; “For today I will just keep pulling boxes
randomly because I don'’t have them organized the way youthave them organized™ Rondy Andreozzi
.expressed his conceen that it appears that Speciil Agents Zeiba, Bl and Petri-were prepatitig; boxes
of documests and providing them w the teasms at-theiediscretion. M. Andreozzi explained that such
actions are entitely unaccephble. Me Atrdreosyl siked why Special Agent Zelba ‘could not tettieve
specific numibered boxes ~when requested o 'Why the Speciil Ageat Zelba could-niot produce the
boxes in tumerical arder; as-they were arranged st the FBI office: during: the defease’s eacller visits.
Ms, Zeiba “simply: stated that she could 'nof do dils, and then told Mr. Andicozzi that Ms.
Hendri¢kson. specifically indtructed hes tb just pull modom boxes for the déefense: M. Andreozzi
usked Ms: Zciba for perdlision to view the boxes to détermine how thiey were arranged in the
storage room: Ms. Zélbia tehised, Special Bgeab Zelba then stated {bat at this tine she wanted to
defét atiy Ragthetquesfions or-discussions to:Laurle Hendrickson and Thomas Petri. Ms. Zeiba called
for M, Flendrickson and met with:her In the walllng.coom for.an extended discussion. .

Laurle Hendrickson then arrived and asked.Randy Andreozzi.to mect with her in the waiting arca.
The two weut outside 1o discriss thedmattes privaely.

Randy Andreozzi exphined the sinfation-fiod bi§ caticems to. Ms. Hendrcksgi. Ms, Heddrckson
ackiiowleidged what occurred but cadld say only; “WiiaPs done is done” Mr. Andreozad stafed dhat
he would disauss the mafter with his co-counxel 50, that they. may evaluafe the gravity and effect of
the, events and any possible temedies. He stated that it was now-ruare important. than cver for the
team to review all boxes of client documents held at the FBI office In numericil ordet’so that the
team-could propeily evaluste dig- gxtent of thiéhasin, Ms.: Henddckson agreed to-this-ptocedure. She
stated that sbe would work that cvening towaedi that ¢id, and hoped that she would have at least the



Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB Document #; 1076-2 Filed: 03/17/09 Page 5 of 7

first-fifty boxes tudy for ceview:the following:motning. Mr. Andreozzi again expressed congern, and

asked why they needed the evenlng to' “prepare” the boges, He stited that, based onhis fumilmity
‘with the boxes, if it was p.eoatte: oF orgatiizing the boxes in numetical odet, he conld.assist the feim.
erid thigy ¢ould Have the bioids organized in Jess than an hour, Ms, Heuddt:kson secuild aot HABFWEE
iequéstion, Bhe asked that we leave fot now and reiurn ih the moming, [RandyAagieczzi atteats
ta his pacegeaph]

Randy Andreazzi tetumed & e conference room, and, the'teai departed from. the FBY office for
the sestolthe day.

JL1nve reviewed the foregoing nacmtive and-confien to the besmﬂmy mollecuon thiatjt
5t tind accurate summary of the eveits deseribeéd.
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PR ot :ﬂiém‘:' : Ml'. ﬂ ’ - . edoo ,a.nd
% i “‘“rslehgboxes Hestated. _bas{ ed onhis familiarity
ihiEiboes in numeriéal order, be could assist the team
i8&ssikian-an hour, Ms, Beni on would oot answer

Wand retumn in the moming, [Randy Andreoszi attests

Ranidy Andreozzi returned to the conference room and the team depasted. from.the FBI office for
the rést of the day. ‘

I have reviewed the foregoing narrative and-confirm to the best of my.recollection that it
is a truo'and acourate summary of the gvents described:

ol
LAY A Ra T Pe st

RaoGall P Avdreozzi

;
Ko
YA

HowardBpstein

Tingy Marien:

Engenc Benton
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ﬁm&ﬁﬂg\bnxcs stady fot seview the following totning. Mo, Atidstorsi ugain expressed concern, and
asked why they needed Mhie evenlnig to “prepare” the hoxes, Els stited that, buked otliis' familiai
willi the boxes, iFit was'a matter oFbtganlzng the boges it herlcal orde he could dusist the téaes
and they could. have the baxes otgiaized in Jess thaty ati hour. Ma, Hendrickson would fiot atswer
the queston. She asked tHat we leave fut now andseetuen In the moming. [Randy Anlreozzi aftests
to this:peengraph]

Ready Andreozzl retutned to the canfescuce: toom and; the: teanii depurted: fom. the FBI office for
the rest of the day:

11iave reviewed the foregoing nartative and confirt to the best of my recollection that it
is a truc nnd accuratc summary of the.cvenis desaribed.

Jose-Marrero

Rondld' Wise

Eugene Betiton,
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MEMORANDUM
UNITED STATES V, YUSUF, ET AL.
A eSSt D
TO: ALL DEFENSE COUNSEL . )
FROM:  RANDALYL ANDREOZZI, RONALD WISE, JOSE MARRERO, HOWARD EPSTREIN, THERESA
MAINS, TRACY MARIEN

SUBJECT: WARRA'(TVE OF EVENTS AT $1. THOMAS FB8I OFFICHS ON THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 13, 2008
‘DATE: NOVIIMBER 13, 2008

The fo]]owmg pecsons travelled to the FBI Offices in St. TBomis 16, teview dieat documents:
Randill Andreozzd, José Mutrero, Howird Bpstein, dnd Theress Malas. Ron Wiac jolned the group
during theafternoon session.

Present for the Govemment: Lord Heandrickson- (DO)); Thormas Petri (FBI), Javier Bell: (IRS),
‘Christine Zgjba (FBI),

MORNING #

Upon the:gronp’s artival, Lodi Hendsickson asked (o speak privately with:Randy: Andreozzi,

In e pnvatc discussion, Ms. Hendtickson advised Mr, Andreozzi ihdt she reviewed the documents
antil 8 §.m: the previous night. ‘Ms: Hendrickson's explanstion is. that the FBI Special Ageuty did b

fact reorganize and remove documents slace the defense teapn’s kst visle Ms, Heidiickson
explained.that; as best she can detecmine, the:follgiving occarteds

1, The Spedial Agents removed some. docoments. and:put them id thial folders. They used.the
‘origiinals, and oo copics wese seplaced in the oﬁgim] boxes.

2. The Special Agents returned some ‘documents to the defendants at vatious points in time.
Ms. Hetiddckson claims that some itetus and document sétushigd wete pulled feori boxes
and retumed to the defendants (rather than cntice: bokes béagmmmw intact), but she.
cannot identify the specificitetns or documents retugned. "M/ Andreazzi advised that he
secalls & docurtedy terurh in 2006 thit was box' by box, atid n6t o retum of specilically
rldenu&cd documents o items.

3 As fof the boxes that.the FBI has retdined, the Spedﬁl Sgents reorpanized the:documents
cortained in those bowes. i vatious ways. For s ithé | Agents may have
grouped all basile-statemnzary togsthersd that they no Jobger maininihed the statements In the
oiigjial boxes based op theiksource. Defense counsel 1. oow nnable to determine wirers the
‘varions documents wete procuted ot whomay have had access to them.

Ms, Hmdncksoa stamd that this. was the best she cotild-do-on the matter, and repeated that, “What's
dogc i5 done.” Ms. Hendrickson fucthee: asserted that she falled 6 undetstand why there was an
dssue since we had access to the docurrients ésefiét. Mk, Andreozl explained d:at, for the same:
reasons the government was compelled to maintain the integdty. of the system while wo reviewed the
docuraents.today, the:defénse:needs to vedfy whether tht.same integeity bins been mrmmtm.ﬂ dutiop
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the yeats in vihich the cvidence was in the govemment's hands. Mr, Andteozzi asked whether Ms.
Hendrickson coilld now ever make any represcafations as to the integrity of the chain of custady of-
the ddcuments based on what has occutred: Ms: Hendrickson sefused to answer. the” question,
[Randy Andreozzi altests to this prvate discussion), '

The defense team identificd a.aumber of docuracnts that they waated to scan, Ms. Zeiba noted that
we should. tig-all docuntents for scanning aild dftée inch she would. provide them to us. The team
tapped 3 dociinents. thatwete in a binder that was in one.of the boxes.

At this point Ms., Zeiba sequested that the defense team leave the offices for the lunch break.

P ,.'.. B .

Ron Wise jointed the group for this portion of the seview. After retrning from: lufich, Ms, Zeiba
produced; for. the defense team the contents of the aforementioned binder (greviously box 35). Two
tagged documents: {inclinding a cover shect of “Search Watrant Rétuen” which xeflected location and
descriptibn of seized items) were now missing from the:bifider. When asked whera the documents
to'be scanpedf wex, Spreédial Ageat Zeiba-stted that those documeiits were the, propeity of the FBI
aifd we could ot &6t these ‘documents, We egiin noted the box. -cantained Gross Receifits -tx
retitns.  Hbwever; the box no. longer coatainell Scdtin-Baok informsition, althaugh we did find
chedks written on’ the Scotla Bank nccount. i

As the. review: of documeats' procecded, the defense team noted numerous instances in, which
documents tist were.otiginally noted (pet their inde) ps beog in. certalil boxey wee dd Idhger
contained-In tHe boxes, JAtditionally, as the boxes weze nowbeing bronght-out:in numetical arder,
thiéce wetd aiumbet of hoxes misving that wereddesitified in. the earlferindix; as available béfors,

At one point, Rooald Wise handed a documentto Theresn:Mains and ssled her 1o scan dt-for our
files. An unfdendfied BBI Spedial Agent-who had been muonitaring onepctivities-from one end o
table immediately- stood, feigticd as if sueechip, and casually wilked to.the sitle oF the table whaee
Ms, Msing .way workifig. Thiere he stopped, leaned cagually sgaindt a file bingt, chd begin to,
obisexvo the COIINER acceen that: would. reflect the document ™s. Mains was. aftemptlhg to scan.
M. Wise immediately adviscd-this agent-to move back o %ii# original positian-at the end.of the table,
This FBI Special Agesit did notimove, and-asked viliy lie shovld have to miove, Mz Wise expliined
that it-was unsceepfable for Him to observe Ms..Maing' computer sceeen which. would enable:bim' to
detetmine docyiients «deemed pertinent by the defense team. After o biie€ pause, this FBI Special
Agent retuzned to the end of the. table, shaking his head to demonstmte he did nat uodenstaad or
disagreed-with Mr. Wise's request.

I have reviewed the facegoing narrative and confirm to the best of iy recollection that it
is:a true and accirate summary of the-events:desctibed.

"A

Jose Miitero.
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the yeacs in which the evidence was in the, goverament’s hands. -Mr Andreozzi asked whetier Ms.

Hendrickson could now ever make any wepresetititions as to the ﬁagityzof‘d’ce <hain of custody of*
the documents: based on ‘what has octurced, Ms. Hendrickson refiised 0 answes the quéstion.

{Randy Andreozzi antests to this private discussion).

The defense team identified a number of documents that they wanted to scan. Ms. Zeiba.noted thar
we should tag all documents for scanning and after lunch she would provide them 104, The team

ngeed 3 documenis: that were in a binder that was:in one of:the boxes.

At this.pomt Ms. Zeiba caquested that.the defénse team leave the offices for-tie lunch break:,

Ron Wise joined the geoup for this portion of the review, Aftet ttuming form: Junch, Ms. Zeiba
produced for the defense team the contents of the aforemeatiared bindee (previously box 35). Tiwo
tagged documents (including a cover:shiest of “Seacch WarmntRetura® which reflected location -and
descriplion of seized itéms) wets AOW gissing frorn the binder, When asked where e documents
1 be Seenined \were, Special Agent Zetba sfated that those documents were 'the property of the FBI
tnd we, coutd 1ot scan - those documents. We: again noted-the box contdined Gross Recgipts tax
retums. Howevér, the box no longer: confiied -Scotia Bank infdouation, alihough we did find
checks sritten ot the ScotiaBank account.

45 the review of documents proceeded, Hie defenise: tetiny Hbtet humieEows dnstances in which
documents dhat were originglly nowed (pec thefe index) a8 being In. ecttih boxes weee no fonger
contained in-the boxes. Additionally, as the boxes it now beigg btought out in numerical order,
there were'a number.of boxes missing that/weee identified i the eadie¥ indéx, g3 available before.

Ar one point, Ronald Wise handed a document to Thecesa Mains and asked bec to scan it for que
files. An unidentified FBI Special Agent who had béen monitordng our activifies feom ene e?d of the
wable immediacely. stood, (eigned as iF'swerching, and casuslly walkies ‘&aﬂ&mﬁe m%e fevohece
josk @il rabiter, sspd:

Ms. Mains was wotking: Thew le stopped, leaned casually 5 i 0 to
observe. the-computer screen that would reflect the document Hfi Masswaeatemptiogsisean.
Mz Wisc imitediztely advised this-agent ro move back 1o hjs ariginal position atthe.end 0fthe wble.

Tiis FBE Specin Agent did oot move, and asked why he should have to njove. Mz, Wise. axplained
that it was: unacceptable for him to observe. Ms: Mains® computer screen which-would enghle him to
deterniine dorumients deemed pectinent by the defense team. After 4 brief pailsé,. dii§ FBI Special
Apent cetuimed, ta the end of the table, shaking his head o demonsteate He did tiot undersind oc
disagreed with Mr. Wise's.request. '

I have reviewed the Toregoing tarrative and canfiim fo:the best-of my recollection:that it
is.a true and accbrate: summary-of the events described.

Randsll 8, Andreozzi

JA -224-
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Dote: January 26, 2009.
Time: 9:00 AM £0-5:00 PM (Approximately)
Loostion:  FBIOffices, St, Thomas USVI
Proscnti Randall Andreozd, Attorney

José L Mamerp, Consultant

{Renald E. Wise, Consultant:

Howand Bp'sizln,‘CPA

Thomas:Petri; Special Agent, FBI
Christine:Zelba, Special Agoat, FBL
Javier Bell, Spetial Agent, IRS L

SUBIECT: 'NARRATIVE OF BVENTS AT 8T. THOMAS FBIOFFICES ON-MONDAY,
JANUAKY 26, 2009 ;

» i & &

On this date, Randsll ‘Andreozzl; Joss Marrero, Howard Epstein; end Ranfld 'Wise arfived ot the FBI
QIficasiin §6: THOmES mms.ﬁﬁ@méummemmummmmm 2008,

Peéstiit ol Givernmant-wire §pocial. Agent Thomas.Potri (FBL), Special Agerit Tavier Bell (IRB), and
Special Agent Christine Zslba.(EBD).

Tho sessiofi Began atapproximately 9:15 a:m. witti thedofease tcam continuing its rovisw of tho baxes of
clignt documents 1o defosminy the extent of the ke caused by the Agents’ roorganization of documeats.
Spectfically; tho tean bogan fis roview-witly Box 255 and cositinued in numerical pragression.

¢

To fucilitite the team's evaliativn of the harm, Randy Andreozzi requested that the FBI provide the
search wareant returns ideatifying thie spedific docameats ¢é2cd’ and their rospective sources. Spocial
Agant Petd] stated ho-would not provida thio dofense'team with coples-of tho searclr warzant returns:and
inventory, s b Waiied fily riformation had: alrady Goen Provided, The search watrant retins 40 the
possessicit oftha dofense woitain.only gencraladdisficn vagua reflerences ta fha documents soized. In
many instances, o descrigtion of U documen seized is listed as “Docunteats™ or “Boxos of
Bocoments™ (Gonsequéntly, ‘o significant nomber of the search: warrant returns produced by tho FBI —
particulacly thaso. refating to un-hdtss dtarfiped documents — ard-of nio xide in identifying the specific
dacuments sdlzd. -
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Ageat Pétri- further sttessed thatalf of the documeots obtained by the.Us 8. Govemmeat during the raid
arid mibissquent Investigition. were “his” and nof e delendants’, According th,Apent Petd, o could and
did orgeniizo them as be dcemed spproptdte. Yo résponse to questions from Rardy Andreoz, SA Potii
stafed he Kad In fact alteadly réviowed fho contenits contiined in the boxesof seized cvideten.and moved
documents to different boxes as appropriate.

Thio:toam €oritivked itszovicwdf ths dogiineiits and fribtnatid s reiicwatapproximately 5:00 frad.

I havo réviewed the r%mwo atid corifirin 10, thé bestiof:my:récotlectlon that it I & trus and
accurate summery of the cycits described, £y

*
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Ronald:B: Wiss, Consultant: y
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v OR:; X.OF A
Time: 79i00 AM'to 5:10 PM (Approximatdly)
Location: FBI Offices, St, Thomas USVI
Present: Randall Andreozzi, Attormey )

José 1, Marrero, Consultant
Ronald B, Wiso, Consultant

Howard Epstein, CPA

Thomss Petrl, Spocial Ageat, FBI

Chistine Zeiba, Special Agent, FBI

Javier Bell, Special Agent, IRS -

SURYEOT: NARRATIVEOFEVENTS AT ST. THOMAS FBI OFFICES ON TUESDAY,
JANUARY 27, 2009.

On this date, Randall Andreozzi, José Marrero, Howard Epstem. and Ronald Wise: arrived at the FBI
Offices i St. Thoras fo feview élidatdocuments maintained by the Goverarued:

Present for the Govemmont werm Special Agent Thomas Petri (FBD, Special Ageit Javiee Bell (IRS), and
Speoidl Agent Christine Zeibsa (FBI).

Tho sessido began at. approximatély 9:15 e.m. with the defeuse: team picking up wihtere it left off un
January-26, 2009 In }té review of the boxes of clicdt documents to determine. the extent of ihe harm-
catsed by the, Agents’ reorganization of documetild. During the initial portion 6f thy séseion, SA Javier

“Bell wasntipireseAt. DUGAE Ui ceilg fitsetings, SA Potsi.spoke:with Randy Auficeozzl, stating thet

“discovery™ was OK, but he woild not allow the dfense, team to. review €videncs for the:; pitipose of
developiog anothiers mafidn. Ho added 1hiat Mt: Aidreozzi should simply take the case to trial. Mr:
Andmommd the:purpose-of the defense-toam's pregence was to boammwdg;umfsmdm Basess
any potential” haeoy resulting: froni the-réqirangement of documents by the Governinent. SA Petri,
mspondpd'thab ifthet was true; Ms. Hezidriskson thad Jicdito him (Petr), parcitly suggosting thst bo
was tinder w milstaken, improssion ny-to the prpese oftio dofeinse teanl®h visit: SA Petd then asked usto
Teave tho:arca. whllche a,ﬁmlp!cd to telephone: DOJ Attomey. Lauris Hendnakgan

-A-fow minutes later, SA Petri allowed us to roturn to tho-area, saying “Come dn and:Twill exglnln\vha! i

left of your charsdo.” ‘He :suggested Mr.. Andreozzi should bring & photocopier fo the premises to copy
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documents, as tho. defonso team may not bo allowed to retorn gain. Mr.:Andreozzi repeated that the
jrirpasa of the defeilse team’s prescace wis to'bothl review Qocuieats and 10 85558 any potential harm
resulting from Afio. cearrangement: of ‘documents. by tho ‘Governinent. SA Peiri eald tha the enly
movemeat of docuiieits:was tho stiovemicat of the:66xes from orte flocation tor anofher, and the chalnof
custody had been preserved, He then added, “E probatity have-daken documeats from oo bax, and at'my
discretion moved thiém to-another box.™ Shuitly: theeufter, e dgiled hinving said that heé had moved
documents from.one box to another, cxplainiag -thét he bad provivusly said, “J 1 had moved
docunents....” He thien addéd, *Even ('L sald thérc was stuff thit was moved ffom-cae box to analher, 1
don’t care, 1f 1 move evidence fromcno box to andthes, it does not matter as long as you have soen all the

evidence, 1do niot havo to tell yéis how L eatslogus ty évidence.”

Mr. Andreozzi asked that Agent'Petii also prodece any.docunicnts the Govemninent proeurcd in-the matter
through subpocnas, Spocial Agont Peisi oxplalacd that tho oaly subpocnwicd documents ho would allow
the defense 1o pevicy would bo those that we specifically request, Ho advised Mr. Andeeozzi (o request
specific documels.as opposed to.all subpocnaod records, and that ho would deteomine which docunients
werorolovant. Mr. Andreozzi cxpleioed to.the Agent that this profocol was ot logically feasible, SA
Petrd disagreed, and the defense tcam contiaucd reviow of tho scizod documents.

Tho defenss toom loft the preniises around 11:45 AM and retemad aiound ):15 PM to continue ts roviow.
During the.aftémoon ‘session, SA Petri and Mr. Andreozzl contifined to discuss documents neoded for
review by thio dofenseteam. Mr. Andreoxzi explained to 8A Petri that fhie FBI's identification of specifio
documcats and the organization pfithy documents busod on The: soicn froat Whick tisy woro prooured
doritgitiie scarch 18 ai lospoetaint fséiss, SA Pt stitd, 71t doesa't winfter how wa:sloro our evidenoo.™
He added: A docusient is a:dacurnest, 1 a document™ Mr, Aritreozzd continned toinquire.as to whether
tho FBI ediployed:a certain. methodology-in rearrenging tho scized documents within the storage boxes.
SA Petrd declined 1o provido'answers to hisxquestions; stating ho consideted thoso questions ehly for their
*pure entertainiment vilto.”

Near (ki end of ihe afternoon session, Aggat Peiritstated that he would require o list of additional ftoms
the defense would like to roview the noxt day. The defenso toam: lofttho premises xt approximately 5:00
FM to preperd . list; for Agent Petrl, M#. Andfeteai and. Mr, Macrero retorited-to the FBI fadility at
approxisiately 5:05. PM to provide the list-and confer with SA Petii rogarding tocuments o boreviewed
on the followingday. Tho fist inaluded forelm baik:deroudtdifonitation, ssized computor analyses, tax
retiirn fireparer files (already. being supplied), and afl documents yrocured by fho Agents from third'partics
through the curvant date, either-thirough subpocnas or-othariso., BA. Pelri révicwed the list; siated, “T
know whera you avsgdiiig with thig? eiid’demanded that Mossrs. Andreozzi and Marrero léavp the office.
[This pacagraph.is sfesiod to by MrzAndenzzTiand B, Marroro, only:]

ta.
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1 havo reviowed lie firogoliig nerrative and ooofirm to tho bost of my recoflection thiat it is @ true uad
accurate summary of fho ovents doseribed, "

“Yosé 1. Marisitn, Congultant

(LB oA

Howard Epstéin, CPA
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Date: January 28, 2009
Time: 9:00 AM'to-S:00 PM (Approximatoly)

Locatlon;'  FBIOffices, St Thomas, USVL
Present: Randall Andreozzi, Attorney-
José L Mantera, Cotisultant
Ronsd . Wise, Consullant
Howeard Bpstein, CPA
Tiioymag Rétri, Special Agexit, FBL
Chiistine Zeiba; Speciil Ageot, FBI
Jayier Bell, Special Agent; IRS

SUBYECT; NARRATIVEOF EVENTS AT ST. THOMAS FBLOFFICES ON WEDNESDAT,
JANUARY 28, 2009

On: {6 dite, Randill Antcoozzl, Joss Marrero, Haward Epstein, and Ronald Wise. arrived &t the FBI
Olfces in St. Thomas o continue ticlr docusiteat soviow.

Presont- foc the Govemmsnt: were Special Ageat. Javier Bell (IRS) and Spociel Agéist. Chiristine Zsibe
(FBD). AgentPetri wasnot present.

Tho "dofease -fham gontimed to roviéw documeats in the: possession. of ‘the Governinent dioring the
morning scssion before:bredking for lunch ecoundnooi. '
Duiing the affemovniof January 28; 2009, the defensctcam iconoluded $ts:rovicw of the seized docutitits
(wilh b oxoeption of boxds 194 trough #54). Spodial Agent Javier Bell thea begad production.of
gt Hemeridentified by tits Gofiuss Yeam (ho provious day. Ho produced n box: contalaipig egpandabile
folders: beating:natatiotis “CABH1Y GAB-#2, eto, These folders contained various: documeants; some
ideptilied -with document numbers, and -others vnmarked. Oité of thid folders cantiined documints
1dénliied by muniBors begianing with the prefix™S4.” Altliough the.majority of thoso docuiants wero in
Freisch, st of thiem nppearsd 1o consist of or relate to bank reconds from St Martin. Ouno un-numbered
documoat conslating of multiple pages appeared to set forth banking regulations.

Spesial Agout Zofba thon produced fromi her offioe an expandablo file folder contalrilng what appeaced 1o
bo:requests for biadk fevords by tigU, 8. Goveriment and variows respending documents Tram fite French
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b

sovemment, Referuces wore miadév thidiighout thiose doduments o “Afghanltan,” “Talibas,” and

* “Térorlst™ Mr. Andreozzi. noted’ that the défensc team had ot previdisly been provided theso

documests nnd: aske Spccid) Agent:Hall 10 provils coples. At approxipitely 4:30'PM, Special Agent
Bl conferred with Christiie Zaibnregneding tho roquest. Agent Zefba refised to provido the requosted
coples. Mir. Andtcozzi ddvised tha bE;kequired epiles of iese dociuiieats.befort tha'team departed for
the cvening and suggested that the-Aggrits:contacl Allomey ‘Headrickson immedistdly, She returned »
fow minutes Latér and stited Ms. Hoddriekitn adviscd hor wo had hed ample tlme to-copy documents, dnd
that:be Government, would npt copy any: documents for the dafense team today. Sho stated that tho
defens fean should obtain a photocapier enid fefurh. to mke, coglol Xoe cuibdlves. Upon furtlier
questioning, Special Agent Zelba said that evea though she hed aald - the government would not provido
copies of the requested documients “oday,? sterddaatbaliovs fho goyermmott woild provide coples ata
Iafer-date, oithor, She sald Mg.sﬁgndnggf told her: thess documents wero the subjoct of an ongoing
motion, and thersfor wauld ot be pded ¢ th-deferss taim,

The dsfense team reminded: Special Ageit Zaiba: fhiat the Goverimert did not produsse copios of-
Susplcious Axtivity Repards (SAR?6)-snd Currency Transaction' Reports (CTR’s).. Sbe advisod that tho
defense tan would.nik bd provided with ary of thess dociiments, "No eXplanation was given. Spooial’
Ageat Bell was: aléio-romindsd that ‘wo had requested @ cofiy-of ‘the “Keports of Analysis of Selzed
Computers™ that:had Betan sllsgadlyrpirggiansd by Special Agent Mike Andetson of the IRS as noted on the
refirn of inventory/chain of custody £B1 JormFD:192.. Special Agent Boll stated the goverroent was in
the process of gathering the information. - .

Based on thic defease team’s roviow of il seized property, the defense hag determined the following:

1, Numerous.exhibit boxes or:scdwells sre missing and-cannot bo accqunted. for-as retumed to the
defendants.. The boxes conlained both:bate-gtampcd and non-bate-stamped documents:

2. Some boxes or redwells appear tothavebesn consolidated into-other boxes, but the consolidations
. can only-be'confirmiod with respect to tho bito stampod docunieats.

3, - Nunieroiis boxes are now-missipg documents that wece. in the boxes: during the defense team's

earlier visits in 2004: .

4. Many boxes now contain thiore: dostinients than’ were accounted o1 duging the defense team'’s
carlier visits in 2004, .

S. Thoro wers a oumber of Instances i whicl old-boxes ware: missing and ‘appeared o bave been
putiin requmbered boxas.

6. .Numerous boxes:(tioth numbered and unnurabered) were provided fo-the defenso team that were
ot produced for lrispection: during the carlier visits.in 2004, Many of these docutdcats wero
< glored in.the Special Agents® offices.

JA -232-



- PP (e tassems

P o~

a7 an

Al

Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RUF-GWB Document#: 1076-6 Filed: 03/17/09 Page:3of 3

‘This momorandum was prepared on January 29, 2009 from notes mado during the meeting with SA Zefba
and othrer menbers of the prosecution team. )

-

o

I Jigvo-roviewed the foregolng namative and confirm to the badt of soyredBllisclin ¥k it Is a-tose snd
accurale summary of tho cvents déseribed.

o
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS,
" Plaintiff,
v.

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF,
aka Fathi Yusuf,
. WALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED, AL NO., 2005-015
aka Wally Hamed,
WAHEED MOHAMMED HAMED,
aka Willie Hamed,
MAHER FATHI YUSUF,
aka Mike Yusuf,
ISAM MOHAMAD YOUSUF,
aka Sam Yousuf,
NEJEH FATHI YUSUF, and
UNITED CORPORATION
d/b/a Plaza Exfra,
Defendants.

GOVERNMENT’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION REPLY

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF THE MOTION FOR SPECIFIC RELIEF

The United States of Amerlica and the Territory of the Virgin Islands, by and through its
undersigned cqunsel, respectfully submits this response to Defendants’ Reply to the
Government’s Response to Defendants’ Motion for Specific Relief (No. 1076 — Mar. 17, 2009).

DISCUSSION

Defendants present numerous false allegations in their reply memorandum in support of
their moiion to dismiss. The government submits the attached declarations in support of its
opposition to the motion.

The Third Circuit has adapted two Supreme Court cases to adopt a three-part test to

4419718.1

EXHIBIT

tebbles®
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analyze allegations of spoliation of evidence against the Government. See United States v.

Jackman, 72 Fed. Appx. 862, 866 (3d Cir. 2003). The three threshold questions are: (1) did the

government “act[] in bad faith when it destroyed the evidence,” (2) did the evidence “possess[]
an apparent exculpatory value” at the time of loss or destruction, and (3) is the evidence “to some
extent irreplaceable.” Id. (internal quotations omitted). The defendant has the burden to
demonstrate to the court that all three questions are answered in the affirmative to successfully
assert an evidence spoliation claim against the government. See Id. Defendants have not done so
in their motion.

The first prong is taken from the Supreme Court’s holding in Arizona v, Youngblood,
488 U.S. 51 (1988). The Court stated that “unless a criminal defendant can show bad faith on the
part of the police, failure to preserve potentially useful evidence does not constitute a denial of
due process of law.” d. at 58. The remaining two prongs were set out prior to Youngblood, in
California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479 (1984). The Court, in Trombetta, held that for evidence
destruction to rise to the level of a constitutional deficiency, the evidence in question must have
“an exculpatory value that was apparent before the evidence was destroyed, and be of such a
nature that the defendant would be unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably
available means. Id. at 489. This inquiry turns heavily on the actual knowledge of the law
enforcement officials, as to the exculpatory value of the evidence in question, prior to its loss or
destruction.

Defendants have not shown that the government acted in bad faith. The government has
made every effort to maintain and preserve the evidence. Indeed, any misplaced evidence may be

the product of defendants’ review rather than government conduct.

2 4419718.1
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Defendants also cannot show that evidence was destroyed, that it was exculpatory, or that

it cannot be replaced. Instead, they claim to be aggrieved by the organization of the evidence.

They provide no authority for granting any relief on the grounds that the government altered the

manner in which eviderice was stored.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the government respectfully requests the Court deny

defendant’s motion in its entirety.

Dated: July 8, 2009

JA -236-

Respectfully Submitted,
PAUL A. MURPHY
ACTING UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

/s/
ALPHONSO ANDREWS
Assistant U.S, Attorney
MARK F. DALY
LORI A. HENDRICKSON
Trial Attorneys
U.S. Department of Justice
601 D Street, N.W. - Room 7814
Washington, D.C. 20004
Tel: (202) 616-2245
Fax: (202) 616-1786
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CERTIFICATE OF SE
I, Mark F. Daly, certify that on this the 8th day of July, 2009 the foregoing pleading, the
GOVERNMENT’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT’S REPLY MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT
OF THE MOTION FOR SPECIFIC RELIEF, was served on the counsel of record by filing the
same through the ECF system.

Is/
S ewng Mark F. Daly

4 4419718.1
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DECLARATION OF SPECIAL AGENT THOMAS L. PETRI

I, Thomas L. Petri, make this declaration in support of the Government’s Response to
Defendants® Reply Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Specific Relief.

1 I am employed as a Special Agent of the Federal Bureau of Investigation. I have served
in that capacity for 20 years. Iam assigned to the Miami Field Office.

2 I was assigned to the St. Thomas office of the Federal Bureau of Investigation from 2000
through 2006. While stationed on St. Thomas, I was the lead case agent of the
investigation of United Corporation, Fathi Yusuf, Maher Yusuf, Nejeh Yusuf, Waleed
Hamed, Waheed Hamed, and Isam Yousuf.

3 In the course of that investigation, the government obtained and executed search warrants.
Those searches were conducted at numerous locations throughout the islands, including
the Plaza Extra stores and the homes of the defendants.

4 Evidence seized during he course of those searches was placed in boxes, Numbers were
placed on the boxes to maintain an order.

b The seized evidence, as well as evidence obtained either consensually or through grand
jury subpoenas, was stored at the upper building of the FBI office in St. Thomas.

6 During.ihe course of the investigation, FBI agents maintained control over the evidence.
It was stored in a conference room in the office. No other materials but the documents
pertinent to the investigation were stored in that room.

7 In 2003, subsequent to the return of the indictment, counsel for defendants was afforded
complete access to seized evidence. Attorney Robert King, the attorney then representing
defendants, reviewed the discovery at the FBI office on St. Thomas. He and a team of
approximately four or five individuals reviewed evidence for several weeks. They
brought with them a copier and made many copies of documents.

8 In 2004, a different set of attorneys presently representing the defendants reviewed the
evidence seized in the course of the execution of the search warrants, By my estimation,
document review team included up to ten people at any one time. The defense team spent
several weeks reviewing the evidence. They had with them at least one copier and one
scanner with which they made numerous copies and images of the evidence.

9 During the 2004 review, the defense team was afforded unfettered access to discovery.
They were permitted to review any box of documents at any time, including evidence
seized during the searches, foreign bank records, documents obtained either consensually
or by grand jury subpoena, and FBI Forms 302. The defense team pulled numerous boxes
at one time with many different people reviewing different documents from different
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boxes.

10  Immediately following the defense team’s departure from the FBI premises , [ had
occasion to obtain documents from boxes that had been reviewed by the defense team. 1
discovered that documents that originally had been placed in one box had been placed in
a different box. I returned the documents to their original boxes. I cannot be certain that
I was able to identify each instance where documents had been misfiled by the defense
team.

11 During the document review in January 2009, Randall Andreozzi requested to review all
documents obtained via subpoena. I explained to him that I could not produce all
evidence at once. That evidence comprises approximately 40 boxes. [ asked him fora
specific list of documents, or category of documents that he wished to review. He
declined to identify the records that he wished to review and did not pursue the matter.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.
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Declaration of Special Agent Christine Zieba

I, Christine Zieba, make this Declaration in support of the Government’s Response to
Defendants’ Reply Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Specific Relief.

1

10

I am employed as a Special Agent of the Federal Bureau of Investigation. 1have served
in that capacity for approximately 5 years.

I am a case agent who is assigned to the St. Thomas office of the FBI. I have been
assigned to assist the prosecution in United States v. Yusuf, 05-15 (D.V.L).

I have been present at the review of documents conducted by counsel for defendants in
the Yusuf matter.

The FBI office is comprised of two buildings, an upper building and a lower building.
The two building are secured facilities. As part of their duties, the agents and support
staff housed in the lower building possess classified and secret national security -
information.

The evidence obtained in the course of the investigation and prosecution of the
defendants is stored in the lower building. The evidence is secured either in a locked
storage room or in locked file cabinets in the secured work space.

By necessity, the defendants® document review has taken place at a long conference table
in middle of the central work space. The desks of one agent and analyst are freely
accessible from that central work space . The special agent and the analyst possess and
utilize classified, secret, and grand jury information in their work spaces.

Given that FBI special agents and employees maintain classified, secret, and grand jury
information in the lower building, it is not feasible to provide the defendants unfettered
access to that space.

I memorialized my conversations with defense counsel as well as the events that
transpited during the document review from November 8, 2008 through January 29,
2009. Those memoranda are attached to this declaration and incorporated as if fully set
forth herein. :

A process was put in place in order to ensure that evidence was not lost, misplaced or
destroyed during the review process by defense counsel. Defense counsel were atllowed
to review one box at a time, and were allowed to handle the documents.

Despite this procedure, the defense team misplaced evidence, For example, the defense

team reviewed a box of evidence and scanned documents contained within it. They then
replaced the documents in the box and asked to review a different box of evidence.

4420755.1
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Subsequent to the shelving of the original of the first box, it was discovered that the
defense team had left a document on the scanner and had not returned it to the original
box. The document was taken from one of the defense team and returned to the box from

which it had been taken.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.
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Datc of trenscription 1 008

8A Christine Zieba was informed by United States
Department of Justice (DOJ) Tax Division Attorneys, Mark Daly and
Lori Hendrickson that defense attorney's, representing defendants,
in the captioned case needed to review specific items of evidence
at some point during the week of November 10, 2008. Attorney
Randall Andreozzi was to contact SA Zieba to set up a schedule,
describe specifically what items of evidence needed to be reviewed,
dates of arrival, length of time needed for review and other travel
details.

By November 6, 2008, SA Zieba had not heard rom the _
attoineys and.sent an email to Randalc__. A1 'Jen}ﬁ

be reviewed, dates of arrival, length of time needed for review and
other travel details. On November 7, 2008, Andreozzi responded via
email to SA Zieba, “We will be arrlving on Monday morning around
9:00 AM.- We plan on spending Monday, Wednesday, Thursday and
Friday at the office. We plan to go through the exhibit boxes with
attorneys and forensic accountants. We anticipate 5-6 people." At
this point SA 2ieba contacted Hendrickson and SA Thomas Petri
(former case agent) to ask for assistance to clarify Andreozzi's
request, Hendrickson and Petri left Andreozzi a message for further
clarification, neither received a return telephone call. SA Zieba
also left Andreozzi a message on his voicemail and provided a
cellular telephone number which he could call at anytime. No
facsimile, letter or further details were provided by Andreozzi.

On Saturday, November 08, 2008, at approximately 9:30 AM,
attorney Andreozzi, called SA Zleba's cellular telephone. -
Andreozzi explalned that he had planned. to come to St. Thomas to
review all of the evidence in the captioned case. SA Zieba
explained that she had expected to hear from him to confirm details
and had never received a letter specifying the items that needed to
be reviewed or the exact dates requested. SA Zieba told Andreozzi
that since the defense had copied all of the evidence in the case
that Andreozzi needed to supply a letter specifying the items that
needed to be reviewed, in order to facilitate a quick review of the
evidence. At this point Andreozzi stated that the defense did not

Investigation on 11/08/2008 a« St. Thomas, VI (telephonically)
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have copies of all of the evidence and that during the time that
the defense had to copy all of the evidence that they chose not to
Ccopy every item. SA Zieba explained that she was not aware that
this was the procedure the attorneys chose. SA Zieba had been
informed that discovery in the matter was complete and that the
defense had copies of all of the evidence. Both parties discussed
ways to review the documents and to make sure the defense had
everything that they needed. During the conversation Andreozzi
stated that some of his exerts were new. At this point SA Zieba
suggested that Andreozzi postpone his trip until they were able to
figure -out which items they believed they needed to copy, in order
to make the trip more productive, since new experts would not be
able to resolve the issue without having already reviewed the
voluminous evidence copies that the defense already had. SA Zieba
also stated that if Andreozzi could not figure out what he was
migsing that he may need to recopy all of the evidence but
Andreozzl said he did not think that was necessary, since he had
copied a majority of the evidence.

SA Zieba -further explained that the FBI would not be able
to accommodate 5-6 people in the FBI JTTF office space in order to
review evidence and that evidence would need to be reviewed item by
item. Andreozzi expressed concern for such a- procedure and
explained that he had been able to review the evidence in a
different manner prior to November 08, 2008. SA Zieba explained
that based on the circumstances provided that an expert and an
attorney would be allowed to review the evidence. Andreozzi again
expressed concern for the protocol described and explained that he
also needed someone to scan items. SA Zieba agreed that three
people could come into the office space to review and copy

- evidence. Andreozzi explained that he would still bring the group
out but he would stagger their visits at the office. SA Zieba
asked Andreozzi to call Hendrickson and Petri to further discuss
ideas for the most efficient protocol to finish copying the
evidence on November 10, 2008, SA Zieba told Andreozzi that the
procedure may be able to change on November, 12, 2008, since Petri
and Hendrickson would be present. Andreozzi was reminded that,
Tuesday, November 11, 2008, was a federal holiday, Andreozzi
acknowledged that no review on Tuesday was expected. SA Zieba
repeated that although the defense was entitled to all of the
evidence if they chose not to copy it then their time reviewing
items needed to be limited as FBI space was not the proper place to
discuss evidence with his experts. SA.Zieba reminded Andreozzi,
that if he had all of the evidence copied he could consult with
experts openly and in his own space. At this point, Andreozzi

JA -243-



: Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB Document #: 1148-2 Filed: 07/08/09 Page S of 20
- FD-302a (Rev, 10-695) :

3158-8SJ~-38281

Continuation of FD-3020of _ Qonversation with Randal) Andreozzi  .0n 11/08/2008 .Page_ 3

suggested that all of the evidence could be returned to the
defendant and SA Zieba explained that would not be possible. Both

parties ended the conversation and agreed to meet on Monday,
November 10, 2008, at 9:00 AM in'the FBI JTTF office in St, Thomas,

United States Virgin Islands (VI).
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. On Monday, November 10, 2008 at_a--roxlmatell 10:15 AM,
attorney, Randall_?. Andreo ; T R B

B Jose Ismael Marrero

-m

arrlved at the FBI JTTF offlce in St. Thomas

SA Christine Zieba allowed Andreozzi into the office and
asked the other individuals to remain in the lobby area. SA Zieba
reminded Andreozzi that they had agreed that only three people
would be rev1ewing evidence and they could only review one box of
evidence at a time. Andreozzi was upset with the reviewing
procedure deéeascribed. SA Zieba asked if Andreozzi had called SA
Thomas Petri or DOJ Tax Division attorney Lori Hendrickson to
discuss an alternative procedures as SA Zieba had suggested,
Andreozzi said he had not. SA Zieba further explained that the
schedule would be 9:00 AM until 11:00 AM and 1:00 PM until 5:00 PM.
At this point Andreozzi went to the lobby area and decided since it
was already 10:45AM that his group would just return after lunch at
1:00PM.

At approximately 12:30 PM, Andreozzi called and stated
the he decided that he was not going to return to review evidence,
he did not want to "put SA Zieba on the spot" and that he would
straighten things out on Wednesday when Hendrickson arrived. SA
Zieba explained that there was no problem and he could come to

- review the evidence as described, however, Andreozzl decided not to
return. SA Zieba explained that she would accommodate Andreozzi by
staying later on Wednesday, Thursday or Friday, if requested in
advance, in order to account for hours missed on Monday. SA Zieba
further explained that Andreozzi should contact Hendrickson or
Petri to discuss alternative evidence reviewing procedures, so as

Investigation on  ~ 11/20 / 2008 st St. Thomas, VI
31585-5J-38281 N/A
File 8 Date dictaled

by SA Christine Zieba
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to not delay his review of the evidence on November 12, 2008, 8A
Zieba also explained that since more people would be present on
Monday, more evidence may be accessible and more people may be
allowed in the FBI JTTF office to review evidence. Both parties-
ended the conversation and agreed to meet on Wednesday, November
12, 2008, at 9:00 AM, in the FBI JTTF office in St. Thomas, United
States Virgin Islands (VI).
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On Wednesday, November 12, 2008, at approximately 9:00
AM, attorney, Randall P. Andreozzi  Attorne sl e

Jose Ismael -Marrero, NS

B Tracy L. Marien.

a '. Bﬁ;éﬂe-Ber.;me _Benton '..t

B Theresa Lillian Robert Mains,

| [l Ronald Eugene Wise, B

" : ' BREME arrived at the FB F office in St. Thdmas,
WI. Andreozzi spoke with DOJ Tax Division attorney Lori
Hendrickson. At approximately 10:20 AM the individuals listed
above began to review evidence. Boxes of evidence were pulled in
random order since the defense attorneys had never provided a
specific list of which items needed to be reviewed. The scanner
that Andreozzi brought was damaged on the airplane and could not
scan' items, Andreozzi asked to put aside certain items to scan
later, this request was accommodated and certain items were put
aside. At approximately 11:45 AM the individuals took a lunch
break, and agreed to return at 1:15 PM.

The individuals returned at approximately 1:30PM, with a
new scammer, At one point, Andreozzi specifically asked for five
items to review, SA Zieba tried to accommodate but since SA Zieba
was the sole person pulling and monitoring evidence. SA Zieba
explained to Andreozzi that unless provided with a list ahead of
time, as requested, random boxes would be pulled. SA Zieba
reminded Andreozzi that he had requested to see all items in
evidence and decided not to provide a list ahead of time,
Andreozzi also specifically requested that SA Thomas Petri (FBI),
SA Javier Bell (IRS) and Hendrickson not assist in evidenceé review.

Investigation on ‘11/12/2008 a St. Thomas, vl
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Several times during the review Andreozzi asked questions
on the way evidence was being provided. SA Zieba explained that
the items were being randomly pulled based on his request to review
all of the evidence and agreements made with Hendrickson. At one
point Andreozzl asked if items have been moved by SA Zieba, SA
Zieba explained that she had moved boxes around. Andreozzi aleo
asked if SA Zieba could provide him with specific evidence and SA
Zieba explained that if he requested evidence ahead of time that it
could be' reviewed. SA Zieba explained that this was the procedure
that was anticipated until SA Zieba was told on November 8, 2008
that the defense planned to review all of the evidence. On another
-occasion Andreozzi became upset that Petri and Bell were in the
evidence room.

Both parties agreed to meet on Thursday, Novembexr 13,
2008, at 9:00 AM, 1in the FBI JITF office in St. Thomas, United
States Virgin Islands (VI).
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Oon Thursday, Novewber 13, 2008, approximately’ 9:25 AM,

attorne Randall __ AndreozzAt:torne _ S
e S Jose Ismael Marrero, _ :
Howa d B Epsteln,

nald '

at

.....

_ SR arrlved at the FBI JTTF office in St Thomas, VI
to review eVidence. Andreorzi asked to break at 12:30 PM instead
of 11:00AM and wanted to come back at 2:00PM, this request was
accomodated.

At approximatel< 2:40 .PM, Marrero, Bpstein, Theresa

the oIfice to continue reviewing evidence. The
1nd1viduals requested to return at 10:00AM, Friday, November 14,
2008.

Investigation on 11/13/2008 & St Thomas, VI

Filc # 3158-SJ-38281 Date dictated N/A

by SA Christine Zieba

This document contains neither recommendations nor conclyifys o£ PG 1t is the property of the FBI and is loaned to your ageacy;
It and its contents are not to be distributed outside your ageney.



Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB Document #: 1148-2 Filed: 07/08/09 Page 11 of 20
FD-302 (Rev. 10-6-95)

L

FEDERAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION

Date of kranserlption  11/24/2008

2008, at approximatel 10:30 AM,

on Frlday, N0vember 14

s ry “psteln'arr'ved at 10:00 AM and waited for the othere £Q"
_arrive), Theresa Lillian Robert_Malns,,u- : : '

f::m"f a'- Eug:ne Wise' I .
R o g arrived

omas, VI, to review and copy

evidence.

At 11:30 AM the individuals took a lunch break and agreed
to inform what time they were returning since they were not sure
who would be able t come. R ndall P Andre0221, : s ; '

- Marrero,”Malns'an- 18€
1 v ithout calling. An addition person was
present to scan however, the scanner was not utilized.

Investigaticn on 11/14/2008 st St. Thomas, VI
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On Monday, January 26, : I---rpﬁimatei_ 9:20 AM,

_'l; P._t-- eozz;

. Jbae Ismael Marrero,'Q. .
Howard B. Epste 0, Ll Q;. o
- and Ronald Eugene Wise,

R arrived at the FBI JTTF office'in‘st 'Thomas:-

.......

FBI SA Christine Zieba, SA Thomas Petri and IRS SA Javier
Bell were present at various times during the day.

Andreozzi immediately questioned why Petri and Bell were
present. SA Petri responded that both were involved in the
investigation and trial preparation of the case. SA Petri further
stated that himself and SA Bell will likely be associated with the
case through trial.

Andreozzi stated that he was going outside to call the
other attorneys. Andreozzi stated that he was unable to get a hold
of thé other attorneys and eventually began reviewing eyidence.

SA Zieba asked the individuals where they wanted to
start, SA Zieba was told that they left off at box 254.

Individuals left at approximately 12:00 PM and agreed to

return at 1:30 PM. At approximately 1:45 PM, the individuals
returned. '

SA Petri also explained that they could see any piece of
evidence if they asked for it and he also asked if they started
reviewing evidence where they had. left off the last time.

Andreozzi left at approximately 4:00 PM and the other
individuals left at approximately 5:00 PM. The individuals agreed
to meet at 9:00 AM on Tuesday, January 27, 2009,

Thvestigation on 01/26/2009 a 8t. Thomas, VI
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Agent note: The individuals were scheduled to review evidence From
January 26th-January 29th. Agents had agreed to stay after normal
business hours if requested in advance, the individuals never

requested to stay later than 5:30 PM. Individuals did not have a
scanner or copier machine.
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On Tuesday, January 27, 2009, at approximately 9:15 AM,
attorney, Randall P. Andreozzi. JSEEEEEEREEEEENRERIEEEENEN

g Jose Ismael Marrero, [N

R Howard B; Epstein, ;L';__,.ﬁ,x o e

arrived at the FBI JTTF office in St. Thomas,

FBI SA Christine Zieba, SA Thomas Petri and IRS SA Javier
Bell were present at various times during the day. The. individuals
continued reviewing evidence.

At one point during their review of documents, Epstein
commented that "this is too much to write down,® he then ignored a
number of the documents and continued to another box. There were
numerous occasions during the review that individuals were observed
going through boxes and "red wells" at a rate they were obviously
not able to identify the documents being reviewed. At one point,

.BA Petri commented to the individuals, specifically Epstein

regarding the teams ability to actually inventory and review,
Epstein simply smiled and continued.

Individuals left at approximately 11:40 PM. At
approximately 1:15 PM, the individuals returned.

Individuals continued reviewing evidence. During their
review SA Zieba was asked what the last box number was and about
how many boxes from the number they were on until the last box
number. At this point Andreozzi stated that they wanted to look at
additional items after they finished. SA Zieba and Petri explained
that they were told Andreozzi was only reviewing boxes of evidence
collected from the search warrants. 8A Zieba then asked Andreozzi
to come up with a list of any additional items that they planned on
reviewing.

Investigation on 01/27/2009 ot St. Thomas, VI
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The individuals list of documents that they wanted to
review prior to their departure, included
All documents secured from Jordan entities
. All documents secured from St. Martin entities.
All documents secured from CPA or tax preparer.
All other documents secured through Grand Jury or
goveérnment subpoena.
. All documents secured from third parties through
contacts or communications other than subpoena.
CTR and SAR Reports.
Report of analysis of seized computers.

N ;o

SA Petri again asked if the defense was comfortable that
they reviewed all of the search warrant evidence and reminded them
that he thought they may have missed boxes.

The individuals agreed to meet at 9:00 AM on Wednesday,
January 28, 2009. Individuals left at approximately 5:00 M, =

=
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Agent note: The individuals were scheduled to review evideﬁbe'ﬁﬁbm
January 26th-Januvary 29th. Agents had agreed to stay aftercnormal
business hours if requested in advance, the individuals nev& «
requested to stay later than 5:30 PM. Individuals did not have a
scanner or copier machine. .
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On Wednesday, January 28, 2009, at approximately 9:15 AM,
attorney, Randall ?,_Andreozg._ B N N

I

;a]'fjoge Ismael_Méfte;o- f "-“i: ﬂf;;,[-

v,

arrived at the FBI JTTF office in St. Thomas.

FBI SA Christine Zieba and IRS SA Javier Bell were
present at various times during the day. : S

After the individuals arrived they spent approximately 30
minutes reviewing lists and going through their computers before
they addressed reviewing evidence and started their review.

In response to their list, CPA/tax preparer evidence was
brought for the defense to review.

The individuals also asked to go back and review '
additional search warrant locations items that they missed, because
they had trouble figuring out where they left off f£rom their lists.

Individuals left at approximately 11:30 PM. At
approximately 1:30 PM, the individuals returned.

The individuals later began reviewing foreign records,
during their review Andreozzi told SA Bell that he needed to copy a
document for the defense immediately and that he was not leaving
without it. SA Zieba and SA Bell explained that they would not be
making any copies for the individuals and reminded them that they
were free to bring a scanner/printer along with them but chose not
to. .
At that point Andreozzi demanded that DOJ Tax Division
‘Attorney Lori Hendrickson be called. Agents assisted Andreozzi in

Investlgation on 01/28/2009 g¢ St. Thomas, VI
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contacting Hendrickson to resolve that issue and the other
questions asked during the day.

During the review Andreozzi asked if the records had been
tLranslated, SA Zieba told Andreozzi that he should speak to DOJ Tax
Attorney Lori Hendrickson if he had questions. On another occasion
Andreozzi asked if certain markings on the documents were from the
bank or the government, again SA Zieba asked Andreozzi to direct
all questions to Hendrickson. Andreozzi wanted to get in contact
with Hendrickson, who was on leave and SA Zieba asked that he get
several question together before disturbing Hendrickson.

. Individuals later specifically requested coples of
various documents, including: .

100 page Banking Commission Report
12 page document dated May 14, 2003
Bank records in the name of Sami Al-Yousef

. The individuals agreed to meet at 9:00 AM on Thursday,
January 29, 2009. Epstein left at approximately 4:30 PM and the
other individuals left at approximately 4:45 PM.

Agent note: The individuals were scheduled to review evidence from
January 26th-January 29th. Agents had agreed to stay after normal
business hours if requested in advance, the individuals never
requested to stay later than 5:30 PM. Individuals did not have a
scanner or copier machine.
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on Thursday, January 29,2009 at approximately 10:40 AM,
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S Howard B. Epstein R R

At approximately 10:15 AM SA Bell arrived at the JTTF
office and stated that he ran into the individuals at the Marriott
Hotel around 9:25 AM and that they told him they would see him
later at the JTTF office. SA Zieba was about to leave the office
after waiting all morning, when the individuals finally arrived at
approximately 10:40 AM. Andreozzi had SA Zieba's contact telephone
number and cellular telephone number. SA Zieba never received any
calls, messages or emails from Andreozzi.

Andreozzi explained that he was to get copies of all of
the foreign bank records. SA Zieba explained that Hendrickson had
said that they could review the documents but the FBI was not
photocopying materials for the individuals. Andreozzi immediately
demanded to speak to Lori Hendrickson, and SA Zieba said that she
was still on leave and could be contacted later after Andreozzi put
all of his questions together. Andreozzi again demanded that
Hendrickson be called or an emergency motion needed to be filed, SA
Zieba explained that since the individuals wanted to continue
reviewing evidence that he could call her later when he had all of
his questions together, rather than repeatedly calling Hendrickson
while on her leave. At this point Andreozzi explained that someone
elge (not reviewing evidence) would be drafting an emergency
motion, SA Zieba explained that she misunderstood Andreozzi .about
the urgency of his request since he was staying to review evidence
and then got Andreozzi in contact with Hendrickson. Andreozzi
insisted that the FBI should copy several documents for Andreozzi
and that it would only take a few minutes to copy the documents.
After both parties spoke to Hendrickson, SA Zieba reiterated that

Investigation on 01/29/2009 o St, Thomas, VI

File ¥ 3158-8J-38281 . Date dictated N/A

by SA Christine Zieba:cz

This document contalns neither secommendations nor conclu‘A onBBiFTe Kt is the property of the FBI and is foaned to your agency;
it and its contents are not to be distributed outside your agency.



Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB Document #: 1148-2 Filed: 07/08/09 Page 19 of 20
FD-3022 (Rev. 10-6-95)

3158-8J-38281"

Continuation of FD-302 of Ev:fdence Review ,On 01/29/2009 ,Page 2

the individuals could review any of thé documents but the FBI would
not be copying the documents for Andreozzi at that time.

The other individuals then explained that they had given
the wrong number that they wanted to start reviewing on Monday and
that they now wanted to go back and review additional search
warrant location evidence. At this point they asked to start with
box 185 and go up to 254, SA Zieba reminded them that the should
look at .where they left off on November 14, 2008. The individuals
went back to their lists and at 11:20 AM they asked to see evidence
that was in boxes 136-142, then asked for 145, SA Zieba repeated
the suggestion that they start where they left off on November 14,
2008 and go up to 254, they repeated that after 136-142 that they
wanted: 145-184,... SA Zieba asked -if.they,were:.certain.that.thoae...
were the numbers that they wanted to review and they confirmed that
those were the numbers they wanted to review. During the time they
were trying to determine a start location the individuals referred
to several different lists. The individuals also brought a list
which they later took back that had several additiomal numbers on
it. .

At 11:50 AM, SA Zieba asked if they wanted to see the
foreign documents again and they declined.

The individuals left at approximately 12:00 PM. At
approximately 1:30PM _Andreozzi, Marrero, Epstein, Wise and ali
Andreozzi Coo e D T T R

Y

I

Tl e I T - & R é?rivééﬁgt'ﬁhe
FBI JITF ofLllce in St. Thomas. The individuals brought a
scanner/copier.

SA Zieba pulled some evidence for the individuals, as
they requested. The individuals continued reviewing evidence while
setting up the printer. At approximately 2:15 PM, Andreozzi asked

- SBA Zieba to get. the foreign records out to copy. B8A Zieba started
to collect the evidence that was being reviewed, Andreozzi then
insisted that the different evidence be copied and reviewed at the
gsame time.. BA Zieba explained that they could either copy one set
or review the other set. Andreozzi chose to copy the foreign
records, but demanded to speak to Hendrickson again (who was out of
the office on leave). SA Zieba explained that he could call
Hendrickson any time he wanted, but SA Zieba was not going to
disturb Hendrickson again. Andreozzi also told SA Zieba that she
could use SA Bell's assistance so they could pull multiple items.
During this time SA Bell was in an office on a conference telephone
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call. At 2:25 PM they began photocopying the foreign records. The
items that the individuals were.copying were the same items that
Andreozzi told Hendrickson would take Agents three minutes to copy
for him. The individuals copied and scanned the records until they
departed. :

The individuals scanned/copied the 100 page Banking
Commission Report, 12 page document date May 14, 2003 (these
documents were requested on January 28, 2009 to be copied) and
additional documents. They did not scan/copy the bank records in
the name Sami Al-Yousef.

Epstein depérted at approximately 3:00 PM. The other
individuals departed at approximately 5:40 PM, A R,

Agent note: The individuals were scheduled to review evidence from
January 26th-January 29th. Agents had agreed to stay after normal
buginess hours if requested in advance, the individuals never
requested in advance to stay later than 5:30 PM.
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,

v, Criminal No. 2005-015

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMMED YUSUF,
a/k/a Fathi Yusuf,

WALEED MOHAMMED HAMED,
a/k/a Willic Hamed,

WAHEED MOHAMMED HAMED,
a/l/a Wally Hamed,

MAHER FATHI YUSUF,
a/k/a Mike Yusuf,

ISAM MOHAMAD YOUSUF,
a/k/a Sam Yousuf,

NEJEH FATHI YUSUF, and

UNITED CORPORATION,
dba Plaza Extra Supermarkets,

N N Nt St St St Sttt st ) st ) att “wtt et et st att st st

Defendants.

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO STRIKE

COMES NOW the Defendant Walecd Hamed, by and through his attorney,
Gordon C. Rhea, Esquire in this criminal matter and reqffests the Court strike the
Government’s Response to Defendant’s Motion Reply Memorandum in Support of the
Motion for Specific Relief (docket #1148).

Defendants filed their Motion for Specific Relief (docket # 1076) on March 17,
2009. The Govemment did not request any extensions of time or seck any leave from the

Court; therefore, its filing is untimely. Further, this filing was presented to the Court and

EXHIBIT

JA -260-
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served upon the Defendants after the close of business on the eve of the hearing on this
very matter. This leaves the Defendants no time to adequately prepare for cross
examination and/or subpoena witnesses to appear in Court. If the Government’s
Response is accepted, Defendants’ due process rights will be violated. Therefore, it is
respectfully requested that the Court strike the Government’s Response to Defendant’s
Motion Reply Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Specific Relief.

Wherefore, Defendant requests the Court strike the Government’s Response to

Defendant’s Motion Reply Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Specific Relief.

Dated: July 8, 2009 Respectfully submitted.

/s
Gordon C. Rhea, Esquire
RICHARDSON, PATRICK, WESTBROOK &
BRICKMAN, LLC
1037 Chuck Dawley Blvd., Bldg. A
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
(843) 727-6656
(843) 216-6509 (fax)
Attorney for the Defendant

JA -261-
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVIC
I hereby certify that on the 8% day of July, 2009, I electronically filed the

foregoing Defendant’s Motion to Strike with the Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF
system, which will send a notification of such filing (NEF) to all counsel of record.

By: __/s/_Gordon C. Rhea, Esq.___
Gordon C. Rhea, Esq.
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN
ISLANDS,

)

)

)

)

Plaintiffs, )

v. )

)

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMMED YUSUF, ) CRIM NO. 2005-0015
WALEED MOHAMMED HAMED, )
WAHEED MOHAMMED HAMED, )
MAHER FATHI YUSUF, ISAM )
MOHAMAD YOUSUF, and UNITED )
CORPORATION, dba Plaza Extra )
Supermarkets, )
)
)
)

Defendants.

ORDER

THIS MATTER comes bﬁfore the Court on Defendants’ Motion for Specific Relief due
to the Government’s Destruction of the Integrity, Organization and Sourcing of Material
Evidence. A hearing was held on such motion on July 9, 2009.

In raids on the six Defendants’ various businesses and homes in October of 2001, the
Government seized Defendants® business, financial and personal records, Since that date, the
Government has retained hundreds of boxes of such records for its use in this case. The
Govemment also obtained additional documents from third-party sources.

The Government organized the voluminous documents and recorded their various sources
by boxes numbered and bar coded to correspond with the various locations from which the
Government had removed the documents. Rather than identify or log each specific document

seized, the Government prepared an index with a general description of the documents contained

"EXHIBIT

F
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in each box.

Since 2001, the Government has returned some of the boxes of seized document. The
remaining documents have been retained in the FBI offices in St. Thomas, Virgin Islands.

The Government used 2 bates numbering system for certain documents within certain
boxes. The bates numbering contained prefixes that were indexed to the numbers and bar codes
on the boxes. Many of Defendants® documents were not given bates number. However, all of
the documents the Government intends to use at trial do have bates numbers,

ﬁéé@bvcmment:deVetrpmvideﬂﬁe"Défe‘uﬂants with a detailed inventory of the specific
docuients seized. The Government has.only permitted-the Defendants litnited review of-the
evidence under supervision which 6ften involves:oversiglitiby Government agents involved in
investigating this case,

Several years ago the defense team prepared a genemal inventory of the groupings of
documents and scanned pertinent documents. During their November 2008 document review,
the defense team realized that the documents were not in the same order that they had been
initially. The Government had reorganized and rearranged the Defendants’ documents by
removing some documents from the initial original boxes and placing them in different boxes to
suit the Government’s needs.

The new system of organization is not apparent to the Defendants, The Govemnment has
not provided Defendants with any means of tracing the unnumbered documents to the locations
from which they were seized within their businesses and homes.

Without a complete set of documents for their unlimited review, the defense team cannot

determine the extent of harm. if any, that the Government’s rcarrangement of the documents has

JA -264-
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caused. Accordingly, it is hereby
ORDERED that the Government serve upon the defense team one duplicate set of
documents seized from the Defendants, as well as all discoverable documents seized from
third parties; that the duplicate set correspond to the present document arrangement; and
that Defendants have 60 days from the receipt of such doctuments to supplement their
Motion for Specific Relief due to the Government’s Destruction of the Integrity,

Organization and Sourcing of Material Evidence.

ENTER:

DATE: July 16, 2009 /s/
RAYMOND L. FINCH

SENIOR DISTRICT JUDGE

JA -265-
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS,
Plaintiff,
V.

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF,
aka Fathi Yusuf,
WALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED,
aka Wally Hamed,
WAHEED MOHAMMED HAMED,
aka Willie Hamed,
MAHER FATHI YUSUF,
aka Mike Yusuf,
ISAM MOHAMAD YOUSUF,
aka Sam Yousuf,
NEJEH FATHI YUSUF, and -
UNITED CORPORATION
d/b/a Plaza Extra,
Defendants.

CRIMINAL NO. 2005-015

GOVERNMENT’S MOTION TO RECONSIDER ORDER GRANTING
DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR SPECIFIC RELIEF

The Government respectfully requests that the Court reconsider its order dated

July 16, 2009 (docket no. 1152, hereafter, the “July 16 Order”) granting Defendant’s

motion for specific relief. Specifically, the Government asks (i) that Defendants be

ordered to provide an index or other substantiation of the documents claimed to be

missing and that the Government only be ordered to reproduce those documents; or (i¥) in

the alternative, that Defendants bear the reproduction costs to be incurred under the

July 16 Order. In support of this motion, the Government states the following:

1. The Government has begun the process of complying with this Court’s

order to provide a duplicate set of all seized documents and all discoverable documents

JA -266-
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obtained in the investigation from third parties. After coordinating with the
Govemnment’s contracting staff, who in turn have consulted outside vendors, the
Government cstimates that the cost to duplicate, image, and produce the documents will
be no less than $125,000. The Government has been advised that the cost could be
substantially higher, depending on the number of documents that are of non-standard
size. The timeframe for completion of this effort is expected to be approximately three to
four months. The Government believes that the burden imposed by the July 16 Order
meets the standard of clear error or manifest injustice under LRCi 7.3(3).

2. The Government respectfully submits that the July 16 Order was premised
in part upon certain incorrect findings. First, the Govemment has not afforded
Defendants only limited review of the discovery in this case. [July 16 Order, p. 2, 3rd
full ] To the contrary, during 2003 and 2004, the Government made full discovery in
this case. [Declaration of Thomas L. Petri, 1§ 7-9 (docket no. 1148-2, hereafter, “Petri
Declaration™)] Second, the Government has not failed to provide an index to Defendants.
[July 16 Order, p. 2, 3rd full ] In 2004, the Government provided an index of
approximately 26,000 documents, which previously had been produced to Defendants in
clectronic form and identified by the Government as particularly relevant to the
investigation. [Exhibit A, Letter dated April 20, 2004 to Gordon C. Rhea, Esquire]

3. In late 2008 and early 2009, defense counsel requested additional review
of the discovery in this case, and the Government complied with the request, as it had on
certain other occasions between 2004 and late 2008, Although the Government believed
that Defendants had all of the relevant documents in their possession, given that defense

counse] had brought reproduction equipment with them to the initial document review

2 4512749.1
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[Petri Declaration, Y] 7-8), the Govemment made the discovery available, subject to
reasonable notice in light of the Jogistics of providing such voluminous discovery.
During the review in late 2008 and early 2009, FBI agents specifically told defense
counsel that they could review any document, as long as they made a request.
[Declaration of Christine Zieba (docket no. 1148-3, hereafter, “Zieba Declaration™),
Attachments, pp. 9, 12 (memoranda dated November 20, 2008 and February 2, 2009)]

4. During defense counsel’s review in late 2008 and early 2009, counsel
claimed to not be able to locate documents described in an index that they previously
created. Defendants have noi alleged the loss or destruction of any particular document.
Nor have defense counsel supplied the Court or the Government with any evidence of
bad faith. In fact, defense counsel themselves may be partially responsible for the
reorganization of the documents, based on observations of the FBI agents during the
initial review in 2003 and 2004. [Petri Declaration, § 9-10; Zieba Declaration, { 10]

5. The Government has repeatedly asked Defendants to describe what
documents they are unable to locate or to provide a copy of its index (or excerpt thereof)
to the Government so that any documents requested by Defendants can be retrieved.
Defendants have refused to do so and have declined to cooperate in any effort to identify
the decuments that they claim are missing. [Government’s Response to Defendant’s
Motion for Specific Relief, p. 3 (docket no. 1067)] The Government submits that it
should only have to reproduce those documents that Defendants cannot identify.

6. Fed. R. Crim. P. 16 does not require the Government to perform a
defendant’s copying or to incur a defendant’s copying costs. Rule 16(a)(1)(E)

(Government must “permit the defendant to inspect and to copy or photograph” the

3 4512749.1
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categories of documents subject to the rule). Although the Court has the authority to
order copies, such authority is limited by a rule of reasonableness. United States v
Freedman, 688 F.2d 1364, 1366-67 (11th Cir. 1982) (Rule 16 discovery “should be read
and applied with a limitation of reasonableness . . . (w]here the defendant has in no way
been prohibited from inspecting the particular documents and cannot demonstrate an
unduc hardship from this availability, he should not be permitted to transfer the cost of
his discovery request to the govemment especially where, as in the instant case, the
defendants are not indigent”; noting Fed. R. Crim. P. 2, which provides that the rules
should be interpreted “to eliminate unjustifiable expense and delay™).

7. If the Court does not limit the reproduction of documents to those that
Defendants claim to be missing, the Government asks that Defendants bear the
reproduction costs to be incurred by the July 16 Order, particularly in light of their rcfusal
to cooperate in identifying the documents claimed to be missing. There is no indication

that Defendants are unable to bear such costs.

4 451249,
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WHEREFORE, the Government respectfully requests that the Court reconsider
the July 16 Order. Specifically, the Government asks (i) that Defendants be ordered to
provide an index or other substantiation of the documents claimed to be missing and that
the Government only be ordered to reproduce such documents; or (ii) in the altemative,
that Defendants bear the reproduction costs to be incurred by the July 16 order.

Respectfully submitted,

PAUL A. MURPHY
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

/s/Kevin C. Lombardi
ALPHONSO ANDREWS
Assistant U.S. Attomey
MARK F. DALY
LORI A. HENDRICKSON
KEVIN C. LOMBARDI
Trial Attomeys
U.S. Department of Justice
601 D Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20004
Tel: (202) 514-5150
Fax: (202) 616-1786

Dated: August 14, 2009

5 4512749.1
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Kevin C, Lombardi, certify that on August 14, 2009 the foregoing
GOVERNMENT’S MOTION TO RECONSIDER ORDER GRANTING
DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR SPECIFIC RELIEF was served upon counsel of record
by filing the same through the ECF system.

/s/ Kevin C. Lombardi
Kevin C. Lombardi

6 4512749.1
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U.S, Departutent of Justice
United States Attorney

District of the Virgin Islands

April 20, 2004

VIA FACSIMILE

Gordon C. Rhea, Esquire

Richardson, Patrick, Westhrook & Brickman, LLC
1037 Check Dawley Blvd., Suite 200

Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29464

Re:  Dnited States V. Fathi Y et al o, 2003-147
Dear Counsel:

This letter responds to your request for an index of the matevials on the CD-ROMs, labeled
Discovery Discs 1-12, made available by the govermment on October 17, 2003 and March 24,
2004. The discs currently contain an index providing for cach document (1) the bates range; (2)
the date; and (3) the type of record. You have inquired whether the government has a detailed
index providing a description of each document. : ’ -

In connection with this case, the government prepared a description of each of the
documents in the database (“the index™). T order to expedite the disposition of this case, the
government will makeo the index available to your client urider the following conditions.! First,
your clicnt may use neither the index nor any information;from the index in any way in amy
proceeding in which the government js a party, such. es at-tial end during any pre-trial matter,
including but not limited to using the index as evidence ér an exhibit, or displaying or describing
the index to a witness, the judge, or jury for any purpose. Second, production of the index inno

_ way constitutes a waiver of the work product doctrine with respect to 1he index or any other
materials, and your client may not rely on the production of this index as a basis upon which to
claim that a watver has occurred or to seek additional materials ar information from the
govermment. Third, upon request of the govemmeat, your client will retwn all or a portion of the
index, including any copies of the index. Fourth, the index may not be shared with amy other third
party wuless the third party agrees in writing to all terms in this letter, which writing is provided to
the government before the materials arc shared. Fifth, the descriptions on the index do not i any
way bind the government with respect to the description of those items in any proceeding in this
matter, and the index may not be used in any way to challenge the government’s description: of mm

Y As used in this letter, “your clieat” includes the individuals and entities you represent as
w